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Dear shareholders,

I am proud to present to you the Reports of the Discount Bank Group for the year 2019, which indicate the continuing positive
momentum in which the Group finds itself in recent years. This momentum is reflected in the consistent improvement of all business
parameters - in net profit, which grew by 13.1% to a record high of approx. NIS 1.7 billion, in the return on equity reaching 9.4%
compared to 9.3% in the preceding year, and in the efficiency ratio, which continued to improve to a level of 65.2%, compared to 68.2%
at the end of 2018.

The outstanding financial results were obtained by the significant activity in all tracts of operation. In the Digital tract we continued the
intensive activity intended to stand by our promise to be the "best bank for its customers". In this framework, we have introduced a new
Application for business customers, developed the possibility of the online opening of an accountin less than ten minutes, introduced a
new platform for the management of relation with corporate customers (CRM), and more. This activity, to our delight, won the
recognition and respect of customers, who had chosen Discount Bank as the leading bank in satisfaction from digital services (in
accordance with the Bank of Israel survey), this in addition to an array of respected domestic and international prizes which we have
won. In the innovation tract we were the first to introduce an API Shop, the aim of which is to create a platform for cooperation with
third parties (through which we would be able in the future to offer our customers innovative services) and we have continued to
promote cooperation with fintech companies, inter alia, by means of PayBox. In the business tract continued the integration of our new
operating concept into the branches, the TeleBank and the Banking Service Center, with the aim of streamlining processes and
improving the level of service to our customers. And in the Group tract we put a special focus on improving the effectiveness of Group
management and on making utmost use of the synergies with the subsidiary companies that have presented impressive results.

At IDBNY, we saw approx. 11% growth and a record profit of more than US$100 million; MDB recorded growth of 27.6% in net profit and
the merger with Municipal Bank was consummated, formally Dexia Bank, was concluded, which presented the Bank with a new niche of
operations with the local authorities that we are intending to further develop. The growth trend at ICC has continued and has increased
its net profit by 28%, establishing its position as a leading player in the off-banking market and operational issuing activity has
commenced with Bank Leumi and Bank Hapoalim.

With the extensive activity in 2019, we took a further stride toward achieving our financial goals and this constituted a direct
continuation on the path of change that the Bank has been undergoing for the last five years, a journey during which the Bank and the
Group have built strong infrastructures that will allow us to continue to grow in the future. Looking ahead, we have identified segments
and areas of activity in which we still have significant potential for improvement. I am convinced that, thanks to the positive momentum
prevailing within the Discount Group and the strong infrastructures we have built, the Group will continue seeing a trend of improving
business results. In light of the many developments that are taking place, and that will continue taking place, in the banking and
financial market and against a background of the considerable potential inherent in the Group, the Bank’s Board of Directors and
Management are currently striving to reinvigorate and sharpen the strategic foci, and the multi-annual financial plan, which are based
on the tiers of the current strategic plan, with adjustments as necessary.

These reports are being published against the background of a significant rise in the level of global uncertainty resulting from the
spread of the corona virus throughout the world, including in Israel. Immediately prior to the outbreak of the corona virus, the Israeli
economy was showing signs of strength, which lessens the extent of the potential harm in the event of a deterioration in the situation.
Nevertheless, the crisis, which, at this stage, difficulty exists in estimating the length of time and the extent of its implications, is
occurring in parallel with attempts in Israel to establish a new government and at a time when the country is being run without an
approved state budget, which places restrictions on the ability to support the economy by means of an expansionary government policy.
Even in these challenging circumstances, we are doing everything in our power to strike a balance between the various considerations
and we are examining our options for action responsibly and in accordance with developments.
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2020 began with a change of the President & CEO at Discount. At the end of 2019, we said goodbye to the President & CEO Lilach Asher-
Topilsky who had brought the Group to impressive achievements in recent years, and we have appointed Uri Levin, who played a major
role in the creation and implementation of the Bank’s successful strategy in recent years, to the President & CEO of the Group. In
addition, changes were made in the organizational structure of the Bank at the beginning of the year, which were accompanied by the
appointment of several new members of Management and the appointment of members of Management to new positions. These
appointments, which were made largely from within the ranks of the organization, ensure a direct and natural continuation of our
positive momentum.

I wish to thank the Discount employees for another year of strenuous work, and the Discount customers for choosing us and trusting our
support in their growth and financial stability. I am convinced that the Bank’s Management, with the support and backing of the Board
of Directors, and with the cooperation of the Bank’s devoted and professional employees, will continue to succeed in achieving the
business goals in the best interests of Discount, its customers and its employees.

March 15, 2020 Shaul Kobrinsky
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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e CHAPTER "A” - GENERAL OVERVIEW, GOALS
AND STRATEGY

The meeting of the Board of Directors, held on March 15, 2020, resolved to approve and publish the Bank's 2019 Annual Report.

The Discount Group - Condensed Description and Principal
Areas of Operation

Israel Discount Bank Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Bank") was incorporated in Palestine in 1935, as a public company under the Companies
Ordinance. The Bank was founded by the late Mr. Leon Recanati. The Bank is a banking corporation having a banking license under the
provisions of the Banking Law (Licensing), 1981 (hereinafter: "the Banking Law (Licensing)"). During the eighty-five years of its
operation the Bank has developed a chain of branches and a wide variety of commercial banking activities in all banking spheres.

The joint auditors of the Bank are BDO Ziv Haft, CPA, since 2000?, and KPMG Somekh Chaikin, CPA, since 1998.

Domestic Operations

The Discount Group offers its customers comprehensive banking services in all fields of financial activity, by means of a chain of 178
branches in Israel (103 branches of the Bank and 75 branches of Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd.), online banking services and digital
banking.

The activities in Israel cover additional fields, including:

- Credit cards - The Bank controls Israel Credit Cards Ltd. ("ICC") and Diners Club Israel Ltd. ("Diners"), which issue and market
"VISA", "Diners" and "MasterCard" credit cards, both for domestic and overseas use and clears transactions made by "VISA",
"Diners" and "MasterCard" credit cards that are valid in Israel and abroad, and "IsraCard" credit cards (in Israel only);

- Securities portfolio management - the subsidiary, Tafnit Discount Asset Management Ltd. ("Tafnit"), which manages securities
investment portfolios for private customers, corporations, not-for-profit organizations and institutional bodies;

- Non-financial investments and underwriting - the subsidiary "Discount Capital Ltd." is engaged in investments in companies, in
private equity funds, in venture capital funds, in the investment banking field, as well as in initiating and assisting public offerings
and private placements and providing underwriting and distribution services by means of a subsidiary company.

International Activity

The international activity of the Discount Group is conducted by the subsidiary company in the United States. IDB New York is the largest
of the Israeli banks operating abroad, and at the present time operates branches in the New York area, Florida and California. This bank
has representative offices in Latin America and in Israel.

Theinternational activity is characterized as business-commercial and private banking activity.

Market share

Based on data relating to the banking industry as of September 30, 2019, published by the Bank of Israel, the Discount
Bank Group’s share in the total of the five largest banking groups in Israel was as follows

September December 31,

30, 2019 2018

In %
Total assets 15.9 15.4
Credit to the public, net 16.8 16.4
Deposits from the public 15.9 18,5
Interest income, net 18.4 18.0
Total non-interest income 23.3 20.8

1 The firm of Haft & Haft, which merged into the firm of Ziv Haft in 2000, has served as the independent auditors of the Bank since 1935.
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Condensed Financial Information regarding Financial Position

(]
and Operating Results
Condensed financial information and principal performance indices over a period of time -consolidated
Year
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
In %
Principal performance indices:
Return on equity 9.4 9.3 8.4 6.6 5.8
Return on assets 0.70 0.66 0.57 0.41 0.34
Ratio of credit to the public, net to deposits from the public 89.6 87.2 84.9 81.7 80.6
Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 10.31 10.24 10.00 9.83 9.51
Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.86 13.67 13.92 13.82 14.32
Leverage ratio'" 6.9 6.9 6.8 6.6 6.5
Liquidity coverage ratio™ 121.2 124.8 126.7 146.5 128.0
Efficiency ratio 65.2 68.2 68.3 72.6 78.7
Principal credit quality indices:
Ratio of balance of allowance for credit losses in respect of credit to the
public, to balance of credit to the public 1.38 1.36 1.40 1.50 1.59
Ratio of the balance of impaired credit to the public together with the
balance of credit to the public in arrears for 90 days and over, to balance
of credit to the public 1.25 1.24 1.68 2.37 2.60
Ratio of net accounting write-offs in respect of credit to the public to the
average balance of credit to the public 0.23 0.26 0.40 0.28 0.12
Ratio of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit to the public 0.40 0.34 0.39 0.34 0.15
In NIS millions

Principal statements of profit and loss data for the reporting period:
Net Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders 1,702 1,505 1,259 905 750
Interest income, net 5,893 5,526 4,975 4,557 4,223
Credit loss expenses 690 540 574 469 187
Non-financing income 3,771 3,494 3,358 3,410 3,053
Of which: commissions 2,972 2,851 2,676 2,556 2,611
Non-financing expenses 6,299 6,148 5,694 5,785 5,725
Of which: salaries and related expenses 3,343 3,385 3,204 3,169 3,393
Comprehensive income, attributed to the Bank's shareholders 1,782 1,661 939 613 719
Total earnings per share attributed to Bank's shareholders (in NIS) 1.46 1.29 1.09 0.84 0.71
Principal balance sheet data for the end of the reporting period:
Total assets 259,823 239,176 221,221 219,577 205,260
Of which:
Cash and deposits with banks 26,044 21,858 28,026 29,311 28,518
Securities 37,745 37,898 32,703 38,818 38,935
Credit to the public, net 180,467 164,804 148,757 140,760 127,216
Total liabilities 240,630 221,507 205,153 204,641 191,626
Of which:
Deposits from the public 201,450 188,916 175,170 172,318 157,875
Deposits from banks 6,419 6,886 4,804 5,342 3,907
Bonds and Subordinated debt notes 13,129 8,476 7,639 8,498 9,570
Equity capital attributed to the Bank's shareholders 18,678 17,151 15,594 14,512 13,288
Total equity 19,193 17,669 16,068 14,936 13,634
Additional data:
Share price 1,601 1,156 1,010 801 706
Dividend per share 21.92 10.13 = = =
Average number of positions at the Group during the year 8,542 8,668 8,641 8,842 9,308
The number of positions at the Group at the end of the year 8,509 8,550 8,578 8,558 9,068
Ratio of commissions to total assets 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.3

Footnote:

(1) The ratio is computed in respect of the three months ended at the end of the reporting period.
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For details regarding the decision of the Bank's Board of Directors dated March 15, 2020, to distribute a dividend in the amount of 4.19
Agorot per share, see below "Dividend distribution" and Note 24 D (5) to the financial statements.

Developments in the market price of the Discount shares

Discount share 1,194 1,601 1,156 38.5
The TA 5 Banks index 1,973.04 2,606.44 2,053.45 26.9
The TA 35 index 1,319.90 1,683.29 1,463.87 15.0
Discount market value (in NIS billions) 13.90 18.64 13.46 38.5

For details regarding the consolidated statement of profit and loss for the last five years and consolidated balance as of the end of the
last five years, see below in Appendices 4 and 5 to the annual report, respectively.

Discount Group Segment of Operations - Condensed Description

The report on segments of operation is presented in relation to segments that had been defined by the Supervisor of Banks (hereunder:
"regulatory operating segments"). The requlatory operating segments have been defined by the Supervisor of Banks, based on the
characteristics of customers, such as: the nature of their activity (in relation to private customers), or their business turnover (in case of
commercial customers), in a format that connects, on a uniform and single value basis, between the different customers of the banking
industry as a whole, and the regulatory operating segments, as follows:

"Household segment" - private individuals, the volume of their financial asset portfolio is lower than NIS 3 million.

"Private banking segment" - private individuals, the volume of their financial asset portfolio exceeds NIS 3 million.

"Minute businesses segment" - businesses, the annual turnover of which is lower than NIS 10 million.

"Small businesses segment" - businesses, the annual turnover of which is equal to or higher than NIS 10 million, but is lower than NIS
50 million.

"Medium businesses segment" - businesses, the annual turnover of which is equal to or higher than NIS 50 million, but is lower than
NIS 250 million.

"Large businesses segment" - businesses, the annual turnover of which is equal to or exceeds NIS 250 million.

“Institutional Bodies Segment” - activities with institutional bodies, as these are defined in the Reporting Directives (see Note 29 A
to the financial statements).

"Financial management segment” - includes: trading activity, asset and liability management activity, non-financial investment
activity and other activities.

"Other segment" -including discontinued operations, profits from reserves and other results relating to employee rights not allocated
to other segments and adjustment between the total items attribute to segments and the total items stated in the consolidated
financial statements.

According to the instructions, a banking corporation, the operating segments of which, according to the approach of its Management,
are materially different from the regulatory operating segments, shall provide in addition, disclosure regarding operating segments
according to the Management's approach ("managerial operating segments"), in accordance with the accounting principles accepted
by U.S. banks in the matter of operating segments (ASC 280). The Bank has identified the following managerial operating segments:
Retail banking, Middle Market banking, Corporate banking, financial operations, Discount Capital, Discount Bancorp, Israel Credit Cards
Company, other.

For additional details, see "Activity of the Group according to regulatory segments of operations - principal quantitative data and main
developments" in Chapter B hereunder, Notes 29 and 30 to the financial statements and "Activity of the Group according to Regulatory
Segments of Operation - Additional Details" in chapter "Corporate Governance, audit, additional details regarding the business of the
banking corporation and management thereof".
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A Summary Description of the Principal Risks

Risk environment. Risk of impairment in the Group's value and its ability to attain its goals, deriving from factors and events external
to the Group, including economic, financial, regulatory, social, political, geopolitical, cyber threats and from internal factors and
events.

Overall impact of credit risk. Risk of impairment as stated, as a result of the deterioration in the ability of borrowers to honor their

obligations.

- Quality of borrowers and collaterals risk. Risk of impairment as stated, as a result of deterioration in the quality of borrowers
and/orin the value of the collaterals.

- Industry concentration risk. Risk of impairment as stated, as a result of deterioration in the business activity of a certain economic
sector.

- Borrower/groups of Borrowers concentration risk. Risk of impairment as stated, as a result of the considerable exposure to a
single borrower and/or to several borrowers belonging to one business group, which, in the case of changes in the economic
situation, might lead to increased severity in the potential impairment of the credit portfolio, inter alia, because of the risk of
contagion.

Overall impact of market risks. Risk of impairment as stated, as a result from changes in the economic parameters of the financial

markets, and of their volatility that affect both the economic value and also the requlatory capital ratio.

- Interest rate risk. Risk of impairment, as stated, due to parallel and non-parallel movements in the return graph, and the effect of
the optional terms inherent in the different financial instruments.

- Inflation and exchange rate risk. Risk of impairment as stated, as a result of the effect of changes in inflation rates or in exchange
rates, including the effect of derivatives and transactions in futures on the gaps between assets and liabilities.

- Share price and credit spreads risks relating to the holding of securities. Risk of impairment as stated, as a result of erosion in
the value of securities having credit risk and in the value of non-financial investments, including funds, due to fluctuations in
prices.

Liguidity risk. Risk to the stability of the Group resulting from the inability to provide its liquidity requirements and the difficulty in

honoring its liabilities, due to unexpected developments, as a result thereof, the Group would be obliged to raise funds and/or realize

assets in a manner causing it material losses.

Operating risk. Risk of a loss, as a result of impropriety or failure of internal processes, failure of the Group's systems, external events,

including business continuity events, human errors, fraud and embezzlements or as a result of the absence of proper control processes.

IT risk. Operational risks affecting IT systems in production, cross-organizational IT processes and new activities: project risks and risks

associated with the launch of systems into production. Likewise, a risk of business harm to the value of the Group and to its ability to

attain its goals, as a result of lack of technological preparedness, including in business continuity situations.

Data protection and cyber risks. Risks of harm, as a result of events during which an attack is perpetrated on the computer systems

and/or on the computer-based infrastructure systems, by, or on behalf of, adversaries (from either outside or inside the corporation).

Legal and regulatory risk. Legal risk is the risk of loss, inter alia, as a result of absence of the possibility to legally enforce fulfillment

of a contract, or from exposure to legal proceedings against the Bank, or from exposure to fines or penalties, punitive damages

resulting from supervisory activities, as well as from private settlements, etc. Legal risks include regulatory risks of a legal nature,
stemming, among other things, from the non-implementation, or incorrect implementation of various regulatory instructions, under
the power of which, various duties are imposed on the Bank.

Cross-border risks. Risk of loss, as a result of a statutory or regulatory sanction, or harm to the reputation, as a result of

noncompliance with foreign statutory or requlatory provisions, applicable to the cross-border activity of the Group and as result of the

Group's responsibility for the cross-border activity of its customers, conducted by means of the services of the Bank.

Compliance, Money Laundering and Financing of Terror risks. Risk of loss, as a result of statutory or regulating sanction, or harm to

the reputation, as a result of non-compliance with the provisions of the law or requlation, in the area of Bank/customer relations

and/orin the field of prohibition of money laundering and prevention of the finance of terror.

Reputation risk. Risk of impairmentin the Group's value and its ability to attain its goals, as a result of damage to image following true

or erroneous publications, external events, including events in the competition environment and/or internal events, including

mistaken business decisions, material computer failures, strikes, embezzlements, material violation events in the cross-border risks,
compliance risks and money laundering fields, etc.
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Strategic risk. Business risk, either of action, such as misled business decisions or improper implementation of business decisions, or
neglect, such as, lack of response to changes in competition which, if it materializes, could lead to impairment in the Group's value and
its ability to attain its goals.

For additional details, see below in Chapter "C" of the Board of Directors and Management report — "Risk review" and in the document
"Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks".

The Basel guidelines broaden the qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements in the matter of credit risk, market risk and
operating risk exposure management. Qualitative and quantitative disclosure regarding the various risks is presented below in Chapter
C "Risks Review" and in the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks". The
document is available for perusal on the Bank's website together with the Bank's 2019 annual report (this report), on the MAGNA site of
the Israel Securities Authority, and on the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. and is comprising an integral part of the Bank's
2019 annual report.

Goals and business strategy

The Bank is engaged in realizing the vision of the Bank in accordance with its multiannual strategic plan that was approved in 2014 and
updated in 2016 and in 2018, in accordance with market developments.

The meticulous implementation in recent years of the strategic plan led the Bank to a consistent and continuous track of improved
profitability and return on equity, in volumes that support both the very significant growth in the credit portfolio, in the targeted
segments in particular, and the dividend distribution that started in the first quarter of 2018, and everything while maintaining and
even improving the capital adequacy. Concurrently, the Bank has taken a quantum leap as regards its digital capabilities, which
positions it at the front of technology and user experience in the banking industry.

The strategic plan is based on a leading goal - leading in the Bank's customer satisfaction by means of customer adapted banking, and
comprises three principal layers:

- Continuation of growth and efficiency;

- atransformation in traditional banking;

- development of innovative banking models.

This layer represents a continuation of the original strategic plan from 2014, which includes the following tiers:
A. Efficiency and stringent management of expenses, including:
- reducing the size of the Discount Group's workforce;
- merging of branches and foreign extensions, as well as making efficiencies in the Bank’s head office space;
- making savings in procurement costs and other expenses.
B. Customer focused growth:
- amoderate growth in consumer credit, at the Bank and at the subsidiaries, MDB and ICC;
- considerable growth in housing credit and growth exceeding the market growth rate in credit to small businesses, to middle
market banking and to corporate banking;
- nurturing the connection with the Bank’s customers by means of upgrading suitable and useful value offers across the spectrum
of distribution channels, while implementing technological improvements and enhancing the customer experience;
- transferring operational activities from the branches to the back-office - “the Banking Service Center”, as well as assimilation
of faster and more simple work processes at the branches.
C. Assimilating a change supporting organizational culture.
Strict management of ongoing expenses has continued, while striking a balance between further cost-cutting of ongoing expenses and
increasing expenses that support the strategic plan and the future growth infrastructures. In this framework the adaptation of the
branch network and of the tellers to the changing needs of the market continues.
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In order to prepare for significant changes expected in the banking field, stemming from regulation, technology, customer expectations

and the competition image, the Bank, as part of refreshing its strategic plan, defined in 2018 a new retail operation model, which is to

be gradually integrated in the coming years. The essence of the model refers to:

A. Upgrade of the digital experience and inducement of self-service transactions by customers;

B. Upgrade of service experience on the human channels - prearranged meetings, integration of quick bank officers and more;

C. Leveraging of the multi-channel management platform integrated in 2018, improving customer experience in all service channels;

D. Producing information-based business perceptions aimed at enabling customers to receive the value proposition that is best and
most suited to them;

E. Introduction of innovative customer moves, creating competitive differentiation.

Furthermore, the Bank shall act to continue and advance the strategy in a variety of areas:

A. Integration of the new model of operation for small businesses;

B. Integration of the multi-channel management platform for corporate and middle market banking;

C. The continuing improvement of the computer and human resources infrastructure.

The Bank is putting to the test a number of solutions and innovative banking models. This, with a view of expanding to new customer
populations and to additional platforms and services, as part of the value offer by the Bank.

Concurrently with the updated strategic plan at the Bank, the Group continues to implement the unique strategies defined for the
central subsidiaries — ICC, IDBNY and MDB - with the aim of aligning their modus operandi to the new competitive environment.

In light of the significant progress over the last five years in implementing the multiyear strategic plan, and against the background of
the changes that have taken place in the banking and financing world and market conditions, the Bank’s Board of Directors and
Management have decided to carry out a strategic invigoration and to construct a multiyear financial plan. This plan will express on the
one hand the challenges arising from market conditions, and on the other hand, the opportunities for continued accelerated growth,
streamlining processes and improving efficiency, driving innovation and increasing synergy within the Group.

Within the framework of the strategic plan, several financial goals were set, the principal of which are achieving a return on capital of
approx. 10% by 2021 and achieving an efficiency ratio approx. 60% by 2021. Within the context of the strategic invigoration, the
multiyear financial plan will also be updated, including examination of the efficiency ratio goal.

Forward-looking information. The main points of the strategic plan presented above include assessments that fall into the category of
forward-looking information, such as the estimate of profitability, the efficiency and growth targets that have been set, return on
capital, efficiency ratio, and so forth. These assessments are based on the latest information and estimates available to the Bank at date
of publishing the reports. The strategic plan is based on assumptions regarding developments in the Israeli economy in the coming
years, and also legislative and regulatory initiatives that are currently known, whose enactment is expected with a high degree of
probability. Material changes in the state of the economy and the situation of the customer public, legislative and regulatory changes
having a material effect, material changes in the competitive landscape and material changes in the security situation could have an
impact on the degree to which the targets of the strategic plan are achieved. A further cause of uncertainty arises from the limited
ability to accurately forecast the implications of the future processes and their impact on profitability.

For the definition of the term "forward looking information", see "Appendix No. 8 - Glossary".
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e CHAPTER "B” - EXPLICATION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE FINANCIAL RESULTS AND BUSINESS
POSITION

Material trends, occurrences, developments and changes
Management's handling of current material issues

2019 was the fifth year of operation in which was implemented the strategic plan announced by the Discount Group in August 2014. The
Group continued in 2019 the implementation of the multi-annual strategic plan, with an emphasis on: continuation of growth and
efficiency, transformation of traditional banking and development of innovative banking models and the continued strengthening of
the capital, technological and human infrastructure, enabling future growth.

The data for 2019, point at the continuation of the growth momentum and the considerable improvement in the performance of the
Bank and of the Group, even exceeding the outline of the multi-annual strategic plan. The credit portfolio continued to grow, inter alia,
in view of the growth in the retail segment, focused on the mortgage, small and minute business, corporate banking and large business
segments.

The Group's activity during 2019 formed a direct continuation of its activity in 2018, this in accordance with and within the framework
of the implementation of the strategic plan of the Group. The Group's capital management is strict. The financial base of the Group
continues to be stable. The ratio of equity capital Tier 1 amounts to 10.31% and the liquidity coverage ratio amounts to 121.2%. This is
the capitalinfrastructure that allows the Group to continue growing.

The central challenges and issues in 2019 were:

Merger of Municipal Bank

A merger agreement was signed between MDB and Municipal Israel Bank Ltd. (hereinafter: "Municipal Bank") on November 13, 2018.
The merger was completed on December 1, 2019, following fulfillment of all conditions precedent to the merger. Following the merger,
Municipal Bank ceased to exist.

For additional details, see Note 26 B 18 to the financial statements.

It should be noted that the reports of Municipal Bank up to and including the interim financial statements as of September 30, 2019,
are available for perusal on the Magna website of the Israel Securities Authority and on the Maya website of the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange
Ltd. It is further noted, that the pro-forma financial statements of Municipal Bank as of November 30, 2019 (proximately prior to the
consummation date of the merger) are available for review on the website of MDB.

Issuance of deferred debt notes (Series F)

On October 29, 2019, the Bank, through its subsidiary Discount Manpikim Ltd. (hereunder: "Manpikim"), completed the process of
issuing deferred debt notes (Series F), which include a capital loss absorption mechanism (Coco), which are capital instruments
classified as Tier 2 capital for the purpose of their inclusion in the Bank's regulatory capital, in a total amount of NIS 1,231 million. On
January 7, 2020, the Bank (through Manpikim) issued to a classified investor in a private placement, additional subordinate debt notes
(Series "F"), in the nominal value of NIS 100 million.

Issue of Bonds (Extension of Series M and Series N)

On December 10, 2019, the Bank, through Manpikim, has completed the issue of two series of bonds carrying a fixed non-linked shekel
interest in a total amount of NIS 2,668 million. The raising of this debt was effected within the framework of the multi-annual financing
strategy, which is intended to expand and diversify the Bank's financing sources mix.
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In 2019, the strategic teams at the Bank and at the subsidiary companies have acted towards meticulous implementation of the projects
stemming from the strategic plan, including the business focus on growth, in a change in the organizational culture, in improvementin
the infrastructure, in improved customer experience and in the promotion of innovative aspects. In light of the significant progress over
the last five years in implementing the multiyear strategic plan, and against the background of the changes that have taken place in the
banking and financing world and market conditions, the Bank’s Board of Directors and Management have decided to carry out a
strategicinvigoration and to construct a multiyear financial plan.

The Bank adjusts itself to the changing world and is active in creating innovative banking models, that would provide customers with
advanced service modified to their needs.

The Bank is continuing to expand the payments operations among customers of all banks in Israel, under the brand name of "PayBox",
by means of the cellular application and the Internet website. While doing so, the Bank integrated into the "PayBox" application the
solution provided by HopOn Mobility Ltd. for the recharging of the public transport card ("Rav-kav" card), so that users of the "PayBox"
application would be able to recharge their "Rav-kav" card by means of the application. In addition, in July 2019 the Bank introduced a
designated area in the application, which enables the transfer of donations to a variety of associations. The Bank, in cooperation with
HopOn Mobility Ltd. and Cellopark Technologies Ltd., had submitted a proposal for a procedure by the Ministry of Transport for the
payment of public transport fares by means of a cellular application, which was chosen as a candidate for obtaining an operating
permit.

The Bank is preparing for the expansion of the open banking platform (introduced within the framework of the cooperation with iCount
Company), and introduced an API (Application Programming Interface) shop that offers to third parties to interface with the Bank in
order to enjoy a variety of banking services by means of the APIin a controlled and secured manner.

In addition, the Bank signed an agreement with the Fintech Center of the Hebrew University in Jerusalem, in which both organizations
agreed to cooperate in promoting banking data based applied research, with the aim of improving the service and value offers of the
Bank to its customers.

For additional details, see below in "Technological improvements and innovation".

Within the framework of the Bank’s preparations for a changing work environment as a result of acceleration in the digital deployment
within the organization, the Bank executed, since the beginning of 2019, a number of measures related to the development of
managers for leading and leadership in the digital world.
For additional details, see below in "The Human Capital".

The preparation for changes in the financial system is continuing, both at the Bank and at ICC, following the Increase in Competition
and Reduction in Centralization in the Banking Market in Israel Act. In February 2019, the Bank began the issuance of credit cards
jointly with MAX. Concurrently, ICC began the issuance of credit cards jointly with Bank Leumi and with Bank Hapoalim. For additional
details, see Note 36 B to the financial statements.
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The continued spread of the corona virus throughout the world and the measures being taken by countries, including Israel, raise the
chances of significant global and local economic damage. The economic implications depend on how rapidly the virus spreads, on the
length of time until it is brought under control and the severity of the measures to be taken in Israel and worldwide. For details
regarding developments in this respect, see "Principal Economic Developments" below. As part of the credit risk management, the Bank
and the principal subsidiaries are tracking developments on this topic and are examining the possible implications for sectors and
customers, which may be affected by the situation (including the effect of deteriorating markets). There is a concern regarding the
Group's profitability being impaired, however at this stage its scope cannot be estimated.

Also examined are continuity of service aspects in different scenarios.

- Malfunctionin the PayBox Application. For details, see below "Operational risks" in Chapter "C - Risks review".

- Rating. S&P Ma'alot has raised the domestic rating of the Bank and of MDB to a level of AAA- with a stable outlook. At the same
time, S&P raised the international rating outlook of the Bank and of IDB New York, which at present is "BBB+", to a positive
outlook. Midroog rating agency has raised the rating for long-term deposits and for the senior debt of the Bank to Aaa.il. For
additional details, see below "Rating of Liabilities of the Bank and some of its Subsidiaries";

- Discount Campus. Construction work on the campus commenced in the reported period. For additional details, see Note 26 C 17 to
the financial statements and "Fixed assets and installations" below;

- Sale of shares in ABS, for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Increase in Competition and Reduction in
Centralization in the Banking Market in Israel Act (Legislation amendments), 2017, see "Legislation and Supervision" below;

- The sale of holdings in Super-Pharm. The transaction for the sale of the holdings in Super-Pharm was consummated in May 2019.
For additional details, see below "Financial Management Segment (Domestic operations) - additional details";

- Wage agreement at ICC. For details, see “The Human Capital”.

Principal Economic Developments

Presented below are the main economic developments, that impacted the economic environment in which the Israeli banking sector,
including the Bank, operated in 2019.

Growth. In 2019, the global economy grew at a slower pace than in 2018, following a sharp downturn in the industry and the trade war
between the USA and China. Toward the end of the year, the data stabilized, and the risks of serious worsening decreased. The U.S.
economy grew at a slower rate than that recorded in 2018 (2.3% compared to 2.9%) and growth in the Eurozone also slowed down
(1.2% as compared with 1.9%). In 2019, the Israeli economy grew at a rate of 3.5%.

Exchange rates. The dollar basket (the “dollar index”) remained stable in 2019. Nevertheless, there have been some differences in the
rate at which major currencies have changed in relation to the U.S. dollar. The trend of the shekel has changed direction and
appreciated against most of the major currencies. Against the dollar, the shekel appreciated by 7.8% and, as against the effective
currencies basket by 8.3%.

Inflation. The inflation in Israel fell in the second half of 2019 and amounted to 0.6% at the end of the year (2018 - 0.8%). “Core
inflation” (CPI without energy, vegetables and fruit) showed a similar trend (also amounting to 0.6%). It should be noted that inflation
expectations for a range of one year ranged at the end of the year around 0.8%-0.9%.

Monetary policy. During the second half of 2019, some of the world’s central banks began taking expansionary measures to support the
economy. The Fed lowered interest three times, to 1.5%-1.75%. In the Eurozone, the ECB lowered interest on bank deposits by 0.1% to
-0.5%, and restarted its bonds purchasing program. In Israel, even though the interest rate has remained unchanged, at a level of
0.25%, the Bank of Israel changed its “future intention” and is of the opinion that the interest should be kept at its current level for
some considerable time or be lowered. Moreover, in the last quarter, the central bank began purchasing dollars in significant amounts.
Financial markets. During 2019, global equities trading was characterized by steep price rises, against the background of a renewal in
the process of monetary expansion in the various economies. In line with this, the Tel Aviv equity indices showed a positive trend.
Government bond returns in Israel fell steeply, against the background of the global trend and developments in the local market (a
lowering of expectations for a hike in the Bank of Israel interest rate). At the end of the year, the return on 10-year shekel bonds
(government shekel bonds - Series 928) stood at 0.85%, compared with 2.29% at the end of 2018.
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First quarter of 2020. The breakout of the Corona virus caused concern in the markets as well as a flight to safety. Trading on the
capital markets was subject to high volatility and have been affected by reports concerning the virus and the rate at which it has spread
in China and beyond. The measures taken by the Chinese Government to contain the spread are expected to lead to significant short-
term damage to growth in China and in additional countries that are highly dependent on China. An additional rise in risks and in
uncertainty has recently taken place following an increase in contamination cases outside China. At this stage, it is difficult to estimate
the effect upon the global economy, however, the continuing expansion of the Corona virus and the risk of its turning into an epidemic,
increases the chances for a considerable damage to the global economy. The implications on the Israeli economy depend on the force
and length of time of the damage to the global economy and on the measures taken in Israel.

In a surprise move, the Fed cut interest by 0.5% on March 3, 2020, and announced its intention to continue acting to support the
economy. Additional central banks are expected to announce relief measures shortly. Even prior to this, on February 24, the Bank of
Israel left interest unchanged, although recent developments had raised expectations that interest in Israel would be reduced to 0.1%.
On March 4, the Bank of Israel released its comments regarding the recent economic developments following the spread of the corona
virus and noted that in the event of a serious deterioration in the economic or financial conditions, the committee has a variety of tools
atits disposal whenever needed.

Prices of commodities have dropped steeply since the beginning of the year, led by the price of oil.

The equities markets traded, as stated, under exceptional fluctuations, when since the beginning of the year the S&P 500 and the TA
125 equities indices fell by approx. 11% and approx. 18%, respectively. Returns on ten year US Government bonds fell by 120 basis
points, trading at a low level of 0.72%. The decline in returns in Israel was moderate in comparison to the US (the shekel return for ten
years fell by 35 basis points).

Forward-looking information. The aforesaid includes, inter alia, assessments of the Bank regarding the future development of primary
indicators, which are deemed to be forward-looking information. The aforesaid reflects the assessment of the Bank’s Management,
taking account of information available to it at the time of preparing the annual report, with regard to trends in the Israeli and world
economies. The aforesaid might not materialize should changes occur in the trends, in Israel and/or in the world, and as a result of
various developments in the macro-economic conditions that are not under the control of the Bank.

For further details, see "Main developments in Israel and around the world in 2019" in "Corporate governance, audit, additional details
regarding the business of the banking corporation and management thereof".

Material leading and developing risks

In accordance with the FSB’s recommendations, a leading risk is defined as a development occurring in the bank’s business environment
that could have an adverse effect on its results in the coming year. A developing risk includes a risk, regarding which the timing of its
materialization is uncertain, whose occurrence could have a material impact on the bank.

Following are details regarding the most material leading and developing risks.

Business model risks. Changes have taken place in recent years in the operating environment stemming, inter alia, from the
acceleration in technical developments, erosion in income sources and increased competition in the banking and off-banking industry.
The Dynamics and pace of changes lead to a higher business model risk (being part of the strategic risk) and require the Bank and the
Group to examine forward looking, advanced and flexible solutions, which would ensure the continued positioning of the Group as a
leading banking group also in the future.

Accordingly, the Group directs significant efforts to the digital fields, customer experience, innovation (Fintech) and the development
of models for new banking, alongside the constant testing of changes in international and domestic banking that lead to the initiation
of new projects and adjustments in the Group’s preparations.

Such changes, with an emphasis on innovative and technological projects, naturally lead to an increase in third party risks, especially as
regards aspects of supply chain, quality and control protection, exposure to cyber risks, leakage of information and protection of
privacy. The Group acts to continuously improve tools supporting risk management, including the updating of policy documents,
establishing standardization, contractual regulation and processes as well as introducing "new product" processes to new operations
or products.

Furthermore, with the focus intensification on technology-based banking and expertise, so does the need develops for proper
management of the transformation required in the workforce and its suitability, along with developing the ability to continue attract
and retain personnel in the fields of technology, cyber, models and analysis. These aspects are managed within the framework of a
designated, strategic project that is led jointly by the Planning, Strategy and Finance Division and the Human Resources and Properties
Division.
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Cyber risks and data protection. Cyber risk continues to comprise one of the significant and developing threats in the world generally
and in the banking system in particular. The level of ingenuity, the complexity of the attack and the variety of methods are increasing
and so is the involvement of organized crime factors and of government agencies. The threat is intensifying, because due to business
competition, and the aspiration to achieve a position in the technological front, the scope of deployment of computer based services
exposed to the cybernetic world has grown (cooperation with third parties, open banking, cloud computer services, use of open code
and more).

With the understanding of the implications of the realization of these threats on the Group's operations, the availability of its services
and its reputation, the Bank's Management and Board of Directors allocate abundant resources for the facing of such threats, including
their direct involvement. The policy, the methodologies and the tools supporting management of the risk, are being updated and
developed on a current basis, while emphasizing the continuous improvement of monitoring and protection tools used against internal
and external threats and the preparations made for providing immediate response to events. This, concurrently with a current dialogue
with the Regulator and with the Israel National Cyber Directorate.

Model risks. The ever-increasing emphasis on digital banking, along with customers’ heightened expectations for value
maximalization, for insights and for customized, available and immediate products leads to the fact that organizations in general and in
the banking system in particular are becoming more and more data-based and model-based, including the assimilation of
sophisticated, Al-based models and machine learning. These aspects create developing challenges in the field of model development,
as well as in the fields of validation and model risk management. The Group is working in accordance with a multiyear work program, to
develop advanced models, as well as to constantly improve the tools and methodologies that support the model risk management.
Privacy protection. Privacy protection aspects are garnering ever-more attention and importance in Israel and throughout the world,
against the background of greater digital and data use. and the issue was identified by the Group as a developing risk. The Group invests
considerable efforts in applying regulation and in the integration of privacy protection aspects into processes, systems, models and in
the training of the human resource. The Group is acting to maintain the proper balance between the use of information for Bank
purposes and maintaining the privacy protection aspects of its customers, its employees and suppliers. The privacy protection aspects
constitute an important component in examining new products and/or technologies and/or services and/or models, while ensuring
proper protection of sensitive information and protection against the potential of information leakage.

Conduct risk. The importance of the values of fairness, decency and transparency vis-a-vis the Bank’s customer including the
prevention of prohibited discrimination between customers constitutes, itself, a developing risk that is managed as an integral part of
the management of compliance risk at the Bank. The Bank is constantly acting to assimilate these values in the spectrum of relevant
processes and is working to raise employee awareness regarding their importance.

For additional details, see below in Chapter "C" of the Board of Directors and Management report — "Risk review" and in the document
"Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks", on the MAGNA site of the Israel Securities
Authority, on the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. and on the Bank's website.

Initiatives concerning the Banking Sector and its Operations

Increase in competition and reduction in concentration Act. The Increase in Competition and Reduction in Concentration in the
Banking Market in Israel (Legislation Amendments) Act, 2017, was published in the Official Gazette on January 31, 2017. The Act
constitutes the adoption of the recommendations of the Strum Committee, appointed in June 2015 by the Minister of Finance and by
the Governor of the Bank of Israel, in order to recommend, inter alia, of ways for attracting new participants in the competition for the
supply of prevalent financial services, including by way of separation from banks of the ownership of credit card companies.

In the first stage, the separation from the banks of the ownership of credit card companies would not apply to ICC holders but only to
Isracard and MAX. Only within a range of 4 to 6 years from date of publication of the Act, would the issue of separating the ownership of
ICC be re-examined. This and more, if in the past the large banks (Poalim, Leumi and Discount) issued to their customers credit cards of
the credit card companies owned by them (Isracard, MAX and ICC), so that competition exists now between the companies.
Concurrently, any bank who held means of control of the clearing agent is required to transfer a part of the new cards issued to its
customers to another clearing agent, at least one, with whom it had had no business relations in the past. From the view point of ICC,
although there is a reduction in the issue of credit cards to customers of the owner banks, ICC now has the opportunity to compete in
the issue of new credit cards to customers of Poalim and Leumi. In the era of post-entry into effect of the new Act, the different
participants in the credit card market, banks on the one part and credit card companies on the other part, find themselves in front of an
array of moves and action possibilities of each of them and of each of the other participants.
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The aforementioned could have a material effect on the banking system, including the Bank itself, on the credit card market and on ICC.
Nevertheless, at this stage, prior to clarifying the nature, character, scope and timing of all the measures that will be taken, it is not
possible to assess the aforesaid effects either in terms of materiality or in terms of quantity.

The additional tax that may apply, if doubt is raised as to the continued holding of the Bankin ICC, computed in relation to the value of
the holdings in ICC stated in the books of the Bank as of December 31, 2019, is estimated at NIS 57 million.

For details regarding the said Act and additional legislation initiatives concerning the banking sector, see "Legislation and
Supervision" in the Chapter "Corporate governance, audit and additional details regarding the business and manner of management of
a banking corporation". For details in respect of agreements between ICC and certain banks on the one hand, and between the Bank and
LeumiCard on the other hand, see Note 36 B to the financial statements. For details in the matter of "Changes regarding competition in
the credit card market", see "Credit Card Operations" below.

Continuation of the plan for strengthening competition in the banking market. For further details, see “Legislation and
Supervision”.

Reduction of the cross-commission rate. The Banking Oder (Customer service)(Supervision over cross-clearing service for transactions
made by charge cards and for immediate debit transactions), 2018, was published on November 2, 2018, establishing an outline with
respect to the reduction of the cross-commission in deferred charge transactions, from the rate of 0.7% at that date to a rate of 0.5%,
this in five stages during the coming years, and an outline with respect to the reduction of the cross-commission regarding immediate
charge transactions, from the rate of 0.3% at that date to a rate of 0.25%. The Bank and ICC estimate that the business results of ICC
might be materially impaired as a result of the reduction in the commission rate, as stated. For additional details, see Note 36 item A 1
to the financial statements.

For details regarding the exemption terms for the agreement (a new arrangement in the industry replacing the arrangement expired on
December 31, 2018), published by the Competition Commissioner, see the said Note.

Encouraging innovation at banks and at clearing agents. The Supervisor of Banks published a letter on June 23, 2019, which defines
the expectations from the banking corporations and clarifies the regulatory viewpoint with the aim of reaching a further stage in the
encouragement of innovation. For details regarding the actions taken by the Bank in this respect, see above "The updated strategic
plan" and below "Technological improvements and innovation".

Efficiency of the Banking Industry

Regulatory expectations. The position of the Supervisor of Banks is that the banking industry in Israel is characterized by low
efficiency, as compared with banks in the developed countries. One of the key targets defined by the Supervisor of Banks is
improvement in bank efficiency, namely - a reduction in bank expenses in relation to income. The object of the Supervisor is that the
efficiency obtained by banks would also reach the customers, namely, would reduce the cost of bank services, lead to the shifting of
resources to innovation and improvement of banking service, and to the increase in dividends to bank shareholders, who are mainly the
public at large in Israel.

On December 17, 2019, the Supervisor of Banks extended the validity of letters regarding operational efficiency of the banking system
dated January 12, 2016 and June 13, 2017, within the framework of which banks had been granted certain relief in the matter of capital
adequacy, until December 31, 2021. This, in order to enable the banking corporations to implement additional efficiency plans.

For details regarding the 2016 Efficiency plan, see the 2017 Annual Report (p. 21). For details regarding the 2018 Efficiency plan, see
the 2018 Annual Report (p. 21).

Opinion of the Independent Auditors

In the opinion provided by the independent auditors on the financial statements for the year 2019, the independent auditors drew
attention to Note 26 C, item 13, regarding different proceedings filed against the Bank and againstinvestee companies.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries [
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 Board of Directors and Management Report

23

Material developments in income, expenses and other
comprehensive income
Profit and Profitability

The Discount Group’s Net profit in 2019 amounted to NIS 1,702 million, compared with NIS 1,505 million in 2018, an increase of

13.1%.

Return on equity, net, attributed to the Bank's shareholders for 2019 was 9.4%, compared with 9.3% in 2018.

Net earnings per one share of NIS 0.1 par value amounted in 2019 to NIS 1.46, compared with NIS 1.29 in 2018.

The main factors that had an effect on the business results of the Group in 2019, compared with 2018:

a. Anincreasein interestincome, net, in an amount of NIS 367 million (6.6%), which was mainly effected by the increase in the credit
portfolio.

b. Anincrease in credit loss expenses, in an amount of NIS 150 million (27.8%). The increase was mainly affected by an increase in the
expenses for a specific allowance.

c. Anincreasein the total non-interest income, of NIS 277 million (7.9%), affected mostly from an increase of NIS 156 million in non-
interest financing income (26.6%) and from an increase of NIS 121 million in commissions (4.2%), mainly an increase in credit card
commissions2.

d. Anincrease of NIS 151 million in operating and other expenses (2.5%), affected, mainly, from a NIS 59 million rise in maintenance
and depreciation of buildings and equipment (5.7%), from an increase of NIS 134 million in other expenses (7.8%), mostly an
increase in long-term benefits and credit card commission expenses in ICC?, which were partly offset by a decrease of NIS 42 million
in salaries (1.2%).

e. Tax provision of NIS 932 million on earnings in 2019, compared with NIS 789 million in 2018.

Additional details and explanations are presented below.

Net Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders in the fourth quarter of 2019 amounted to NIS 325 million, compared with NIS 427
million in the third quarter of the year, a decrease in a rate of 23.9%, and compared with NIS 324 million in the fourth quarter of 2018,
anincrease of 0.3%.

The major factors affecting the business results of the Group in the fourth quarter of 2019, compared with the previous quarter,

were:

A. Anincreaseininterestincome, net, in an amount of NIS 81 million (5.8%).

B. An increase in credit loss expenses, in an amount of NIS 109 million (71.7%). The rise was affected by the growth in specific
allowance expenses.

C. Adecrease of NIS 19 million (2.0%) in non-interest income, which was affected mainly from a decrease of NIS 50 million in income
from non interest financing income, which was partly offset by a rise from other income in the amount of NIS 28 million, mainly due
to the realization of assets.

D. Anincrease in operating and other expenses, in an amount of NIS 133 million (8.7%), which was effected by a decrease of 9 million
in salaries and related expenses (1.1%), from an increase of NIS 22 million in maintenance expenses and depreciation of buildings
and equipment (8.1%) and from an increase of NIS 120 million in other expenses (27.5%) (see hereunder).

E. Inthe fourth quarter of 2019, provision for taxes on the profit was recorded, in the amount of NIS 168 million, compared with NIS
240 million in the previous quarter.

2 The increase in income and expenses regarding credit card commissions stems from the expansion in the activities of ICC, in particular in the customer clubs field.
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Developments in Income and Expenses

Developments in certain profit and loss statement items in 2017-2019

For the year ended December 31,

Change in %

2019 2018

2019 2018 2017
compared compared
In NIS millions to 2018 to 2017
Interest income 7,567 7,053 6,213 7.3 185
Interest expenses 1,674 1,527 1,238 9.6 23.3
Interest income, net 5,893 5,626 4,975 6.6 11.1
Credit loss expenses 690 540 574 27.8 (5.9)
Net interest income after credit loss expenses 5,203 4,986 4,401 4.4 13.3
Non-interest Income
Non-interest financing income 742 586 595 26.6 (1.5)
Commissions 2,972 2,851 2,676 4.2 6.5
Other income b7/, b7, 87 = (34.5)
Total non-interest income 3,771 3,494 3,358 7.9 4.1
Operating and other Expenses
Salaries and related expenses 3,343 3,385 3,204 (1.2) 5.6
Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and equipment 1,098 1,039 1,044 5.7 (0.5)
Other expenses 1,858 1,724 1,446 7.8 19.2
Total operating and other expenses 6,299 6,148 5,694 25 8.0
Profit before taxes 2,675 2,332 2,065 14.7 12.9
Provision for taxes on profit 932 789 747 18.1 5.6
Profit after taxes 1,743 1,543 1,318 13.0 17.1
Bank's share in profit of affiliated companies, net of tax effect 16 6 1 166.7 500.0
Net profit attributed to the non-controlling rights holders in consolidated
companies (57) (44) (60) 29.5 (26.7)
Net Profit attributed to Bank's shareholders 1,702 1,505 1,259 13.1 19.5
Return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in % 9.4 9.3 8.4
Efficiency ratio in % 65.2 68.2 68.3
Net Profit attributed to Bank's shareholders - disregarding certain
components (see below) 1,740 1,600 1,309 8.7 22.2
Return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in %- disregarding
certain components (see below) 9.7 9.9 8.7
Efficiency ratio in % (see below) 64.6 66.6 67.9

Profitability - disregarding certain components

For the year ended December 31

Change in %

2019 2018 2017
2019 2018
compared compared
Notes in NIS millions to 2018 to 2017
Net Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders - as reported 1,702 1,505 1,259 13.1 19.5
Disregarding™:
One-time award at MDB - 37 -
Effect of settlement 231, K 38 58 21
Effect of the change in the tax rate 8| - - 29
Net Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders -
disregarding the above components 1,740 1,600 1,309 8.7 22.2

Footnote:
(1) See below "Details regarding eliminated components".
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Developments in certain profit and loss statement items in the fourth quarter of 2019, compared with the third quarter

of 2019 and the fourth quarter of 2018

2019 2018 Q4 2019 compared to
Q4 Q3 Q4 Q32019 Q4 2018
In NIS millions in %
Interest income 1,860 1,751 1,852 6.2 0.4
Interest expenses 381 353 432 7.9 (11.8)
Interest income, net 1,479 1,398 1,420 5.8 4.2
Credit loss expenses 261 152 176 71.7 48.3
Net interest income after credit loss expenses 1,218 1,246 1,244 (2.2) (2.1)
Non-interest Income
Non-interest financing income 145 195 177 (25.6) (18.1)
Commissions 768 765 732 0.4 4.9
Other income 38 10 28 280.0 35.7
Total non-interest income 951 970 937 (2.0) 1.5
Operating and other Expenses
Salaries and related expenses 815 824 903 (1.1) (9.7)
Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and equipment 294 272 276 8.1 6.5
Other expenses 557 437 527 27.5 5.7
Total operating and other expenses 1,666 1,533 1,706 8.7 (2.3)
Profit before taxes 503 683 475 (26.4) 5.9
Provision for taxes on profit 168 240 144 (30.0) 16.7
Profit after taxes 335 443 331 (24.4) 1.2
Bank's share in profit of affiliated companies, net of tax effect B - 4 - 25.0
Net profit attributed to the non-controlling rights holders in consolidated
companies (15) (16) (11) (6.3) 36.4
Net Profit attributed to Bank's shareholders 325 427 324 (23.9) 0.3
Return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in %" 7.2 9.7 8.0
Efficiency ratio in % 68.6 64.7 72.4
Net Profit attributed to Bank's shareholders - disregarding certain
components (see below) 337 439 402 (23.2) (16.2)
Return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in % -
disregarding certain components (see below) 7.4 9.9 10.0
Efficiency ratio in % (see below) 67.8 64.0 67.3
Footnote:
(1) On an annual basis.
Profitability - disregarding certain components
2019 2018 Q4 2019 compared to
Q4 Q3 Q4 Q32019 Q4 2018
Notes in NIS millions Change in %

Net income attributed to the Bank's shareholders - as reported 825 427 324 (23.9) 0.3
Disregarding":
One-time award at MDB - - 37
Effect of settlement 231, K 12 12 41
Net income attributed to the Bank's shareholders -
disregarding the above components 337 439 402 (23.2) (16.2)

Footnote:
(1) See below "Details regarding eliminated components".
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Effect of settlement. Acceleration of the amortization of actuarial profits and losses following the payment of severance pay to
retirees.

One-time award at MDB. With respect to discontinuing the linkage of the wage terms at MDB to the terms at Bank Leumi, see “The
Human Capital” below.

Effect of change in the tax rate. The reduction in the balances of deferred taxes of IDB New York (reduction in profit) in 2017,
following the effect of the tax reform in the U.S. (which is in excess of the amount complementing the tax that would have been
chargeable in Israel; see Note 8 I to the financial statements).

In addition, net income from investment activity of Discount Capital (net of deductions for impairment in value and before the tax
effect) in 2019 amounted to NIS 76 million, compared with NIS 93 million in 2018 and NIS 221 million in 2017.

Following are details regarding material changes in statement of profit and loss items:

Interest income, net. In 2019, interest income, net, amounted to NIS 5,893 million compared with NIS 5,526 million in 2018, an
increase of 6.6%. The rise in the interest income, net, in the amount of NIS 367 million, is explained by a negative price impact of
approx. NIS 70 million, and from a positive quantitative effect in the amount of approx. NIS 437 million (see "Rates of interest income
and expenses and analysis of the changes in interest income and expenses" in Appendix No.1).

The interest spread relating to balance sheet activity, reached a rate of 2.45% in 2019, compared with 2.44% in 2018.

The average balance of interest bearing assets has increased by a rate of approx. 6.6%, from an amount of NIS 206,710 million to NIS
220,394 million, and the average balance of interest bearing liabilities has increased by a rate of approx. 8.3%, from an amount of NIS
157,883 million to NIS 170,925 million.

Net interest income according to linkage segments

Distribution of volume of operations according to interest bearing assets, net interest income and interest margin by
linkage segments

Unlinked shekels 68.7 4,606 2.95 67.6 4,165 2.90
CPI-linked shekels 8.5 202 (0.49) 8.8 225 (0.72)
Foreign Currency 22.8 1,085 2.00 23.6 1,136 2.12
Interest income, net and the interest

margin 100.0 5,893 2.45 100.0 5,526 2.44
Footnote:

(1) According to the average balance of the interest bearing assets.

In the non-linked shekel segment, net interest income increased in 2019 at a rate of 10.6%. Income from this segment constituted
78.2% of total net interestincome in 2019, compared with 75.4% in 2018.

The average balance of assets in this segment increased in 2019 by 8.5% compared with 2018.

The increase in the segment’s profit is due to a rise in the scope of interest-bearing assets, net, primarily credit to the public, and to a
rise in the interest margin. The rise in the interest margin was affected, inter alia, by the change in the mix of assets and liabilities and
from a rise in the Bank of Israel’s interest rate.

The CPI-linked Shekel segment, net interest income decreased in 2019 at a rate of 10.2% and its proportion of total net interest
income in 2019 was 3.4%, compared with 4.1% in 2018. The average asset balance in this segment in 2019 increased by a rate of 2.5%
compared with 2018.

The Bank has a surplus of balance-sheet assets over its balance-sheet liabilities and the decrease in the profit is due to the fact that the
CPI in 2019 rose at a lower rate than in 2018. The reduction in profits of this segment was offset by the increase in volume of net
interest bearing assets.

In the foreign currency segment, which includes activities in the foreign currency-linked shekel segment, net interest income
decreased in 2019 by a rate of 4.5%. Its proportion of all Net profit was 18.4% in 2019, compared with 20.5% in 2018.

In 2019 the average balance of assets in this segment increased at a rate of 2.9% compared to 2018.
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The decrease in profits of the segment stemmed from a decrease in the volume of net interest bearing assets, and from a decrease in the
interest margin. The reduction in the interest margin was affected, inter alia, by the rise in the cost of attracting deposits from the
public.

Non-interest financing income increased in 2019 at a rate of 26.6%, compared with 2018. The increase stemmed mostly from an
increase in profit from the realization of bonds.

Non-interest financing income includes the effect of activity in derivative financial instruments, which constitute an integral part of the
management of the Bank’s interest exposure and base exposure. Accordingly, for the purpose of analyzing the financing profit from
current activity, the net interest income and the non-interest financing income need to be aggregated.

Composition of net financing income

Annual Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
in NIS millions

2019
Interest income 7,567 1,860 1,751 2,150 1,806
Interest expenses 1,674 381 353 555) 385
Interest income, net 5,893 1,479 1,398 1,595 1,421
Non-interest financing income 742 145 195 230 172
Total net financing income 6,635 1,624 1,593 1,825 1,593

2018
Interest income 7,053 1,852 1,782 1,883 1,536
Interest expenses 1,527 432 370 463 262
Interest income, net 5,526 1,420 1,412 1,420 1,274
Non-interest financing income 586 177 160 145 104
Total net financing profit 6,112 1,597 1,572 1,565 1,378
Analysis of the total net financing income

Annual Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
in NIS millions

2019
Financing Income from current operations 6,199 1,586 1,528 1,556 1,529
Effect of CPI 14 (12) (33) 73 (14)
Net profit from realization and adjustment to fair value of bonds* 211 23 65 66 57
Profit from investments in shares** 123 B 37 71 10
Adjustment to fair value of derivative instruments (36) 6 (51) 44 (35)
Exchange rate differences, options and other derivatives* 117 16 47 14 40
Net profit on the sale of loans 7 - - 1 6
Total net financing income 6,635 1,624 1,593 1,825 1,593
*Exchange rate differences in respect of trading bonds are
included in the exchange rate differences line (53) 6 (19) (5) (35)
**(Of which: income from realizations in Discount Capital. 53 (1) 14 36 4

2018
Financing Income from current operations 5,735 1,518 1,482 1,402 1,333
Effect of CPI 58 5 12 50 9)
Net profit from realization and adjustment to fair value of bonds* 20 (9) 4 (17) 42
Profit from investments in shares** 107 48 50 B 4
Adjustment to fair value of derivative instruments 36 6 (5) 70 (35)
Exchange rate differences, options and other derivatives* 150 29 29 55 37
Net income on the sale of loans 6 - - - 6
Total net financing profit 6,112 1,597 1,572 1,565 1,378
*Exchange rate differences in respect of trading bonds are
included in the exchange rate differences line 88 40 (7) 43 12

**Of which: income from realizations in Discount Capital. 84 49 27 D)
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Financing income, net, increased in 2019 at a rate of 8.6%. The growth stemmed, mostly, from an increase of NIS 464 million in profit
from current operations and from an increase in the amount of NIS 191 million in profits from realization and adjustment to fair value of
bonds, which were offset by a NIS 72 million decrease in profits from investments in bonds, in adjustment to fair value of derivative
instruments and from a reduction of NIS 44 million in the effect of the CPI.

Rates of income and expenses. In Appendix 1 are presented interestincome, net, with respect to the balance sheet activity. In order to
explain the Bank’s overall interest margin, the effects of activity in derivatives not for trading (excluding adjustments to fair value and
exchange rate differences) needs to also be added.

Interest margin, including derivatives not for trading reached 2.04% in 2019, compared to 2.18% in 2018.

Financing income, net, increased in the fourth quarter of 2019, at a rate of 1.7%, compared with the corresponding quarter last year,
and at a rate of 1.9% compared with the third quarter of 2019.

The interest margin relating to balance-sheet activity reached a rate of 2.45% in the fourth quarter of 2019, as against 2.47% in the
corresponding quarter last year and against 2.38% in the third quarter of the year.

Interest margin, including derivatives not for trading reached in the fourth quarter of 2019 a rate of 2.08%, compared to 2.05% in
the corresponding quarter last year and compared to 2.06% in the third quarter of the year.

Development of interest income, net, by regulatory operating segments

Domestic operations:

Households 1,959 1,740 12.6
Private banking 84 79 6.3
Small and minute businesses 1,563 1,451 7.7
Medium businesses 324 297 9.1

Large businesses 744 715 4.1

Institutional bodies 42 34 288
Financial management 260 321 (19.0)
Total Domestic operations 4,976 4,637 7.3
International operations:

Private Individuals 123 168 (26.8)
Business operations 709 680 4.3
Other 85 41 107.3
Total International operations 917 889 3.1

Total 5,893 5,526 6.6

For details regarding income from trading activities, see “Financial Management Segment (Domestic operations)” below.

Credit loss expenses amounted to NIS 690 million in 2019, compared with NIS 540 million in 2018, an increase of 27.8%. The increase
in the credit loss expense for 2019 stemmed, mostly, from an increase in expenses in respect of the specific allowance.

For additional details, see below "Credit to the public" and "Credit risks" in Chapter "C" hereunder. For details as to the components of
the credit loss expenses, see Note 31 to the financial statements.

The increase in expenses stemmed from a rise of NIS 92 million in the expenses at MDB (mainly a growth in expenses on a specific basis,
stemming both from the increase in allowances for credit losses in respect of specific business customers whose repayment ability has
been reduced and have been classified as impaired debts, and also growth in credit loss expenses on a group basis, in respect of
customers classified as problematic) and an increase of NIS 50 million in the expenses at IDB New York (mainly as a result of an increase
in the group allowance stems from a growth in the performing credit in 2018, as well as from the effect of changing the rate of the
allowance).
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2019 2018
In NIS millions
On a specific basis
Change in allowance 126 18
Gross accounting write-offs 275 366
Collection (220) (307)
Total on a specific basis 181 77
On a group basis
Change in allowance 168 107
Gross accounting write-offs 602 570
Collection (261) (214)
Total on a group basis 509 463
Total 690 540
Rate of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit to the public 0.40% 0.34%
Details of the quarterly development in the credit loss expenses
2019 2018
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
In NIS millions

On a specific basis
Change in allowance 84 34 18 (10) 14 31 (1) (26)
Gross Accounting Write-offs 78 62 70 65 92 64 76 134
Collection (50) (72) (46) (52) (55) (83) (53) (116)
Total on a specific basis 112 24 42 3 51 12 22 (8)
On a group basis
Change in allowance 69 44 (2) 57 50 15 16 26
Gross Accounting Write-offs 148 146 160 148 131 140 143 156
Collection (68) (62) (64) (67) (56) (44) (52) (62)
Total on a group basis 149 128 94 138 125 111 107 120
Total 261 152 136 141 176 123 129 112
Rate of credit loss expenses to the average balance of
credit to the public:
The rate in the quarter: 0.58% 0.35% 0.32% 0.33% 0.44% 0.31% 0.33% 0.29%
Cumulative rate since the beginning of the year: 0.40% 0.25% 0.32% 0.33% 0.34% 0.31% 0.31% 0.29%

Footnote:
(1) On an annual basis.

For additional details, see below "Credit to the public" and "Credit risk" in chapter C hereunder.
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Commissions amounted to NIS 2,972 million in 2019, compared with NIS 2,851 million in 2018, an increase of 4.2%. The increase in
commissions was affected, primarily, from an increase in credit card commissions.

Distribution of commissions

For the year ended
December 31

2019 2018

Change

in NIS millions in %

Account Management fees 470 480 (2.1)
Credit cards 1,406 1,267 11.0
Operations in securities and in certain derivative instruments 326 336 (3.0)
Commissions from the distribution of financial products 153 149 2.7
Handling credit 182 177 2.8
Conversion differences 133 136 (2.2)
Foreign trade services 56 58 (3.4)
Net income from credit portfolio services B 6 (16.7)
Commissions on financing activities 163 157 3.8
Other commissions 78 85 (8.2)
Total commissions 2,972 2,851 4.2

Salaries and related expenses amounted to NIS 3,343 million in 2019, compared with NIS 3,385 million in 2018, a decrease of 1.2%
(for details as to the components of this item, see Note 6 to the financial statements). Eliminating the effect of certain components as
detailed below, a decrease of 0.1% would have been recorded.

Details of the effects of certain components on salaries and related expenses

For the year ended
December 31

2019 2018 Change in %

In NIS millions

Salaries and Related Expenses - as reported 3,343 3,385 (1.2)
Awards (285) (299)

One-time award at MDB® - (56)

Reversal of excess provisions (Note 8 C 2) - 31

Salaries and Related Expenses - Disregarding certain components 3,058 3,061 (0.1)
Footnote:

(1) With respect to discontinuing the linkage of the wage terms at MDB to the terms at Bank Leumi, see “The Human Capital” below.

Quarterly developments in salaries and related expenses, detailing the effect of certain components

2019 2018
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
In NIS millions

Salaries and Related Expenses - as reported 815 824 857 847 903 826 838 818
Awards (59) (64) (94) (69) (75) (82) (83) (59)
One-time award at MDB" - - - - (56) - - -
Reversal of excess provisions (Note 8 C 2) = = = = = = - 31
Salaries and Related Expenses - Disregarding certain
components 756 760 763 778 772 744 755 790
Footnotes:

(1) With respect to discontinuing the linkage of the wage terms at MDB to the terms at Bank Leumi, see “The Human Capital” below.
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Other expenses amounted to NIS 1,858 million in 2019, compared to NIS 1,724 million in 2018, an increase of 7.8%. The increase

stems mainly from the following factors:

- Anincrease of NIS 60 million in long-term benefits, stemming from current year actuarial losses as against actuarial profits in 2018;

- Anincrease of NIS 68 million in commissions, affected, mostly, by the expansion in the activity of ICC, in particular in the customer
club field (Shufersal).

For additional details, see Note 7 to the financial statements

Investments and Expenses in respect of the Information Technology System

Expenditure in respect of the information technology system includes salaries and related expenses, outsourcing, acquisitions or right
of use licenses, depreciation of equipment and buildings and other expenses - communication expenses, buildings and equipment
maintenance expenses etc. The total expenditure is presented divided between software, hardware and other - including
administration, maintenance and computer services, data protection expenses etc.

The balance of the information technology system assets is presented divided between software, hardware and other — mostly buildings
used by the information technology system.

The allocation of salaries and related costs is based upon attribution to subunits. Allocation of building depreciation and maintenance
costs is based on area proportions. For details regarding the accounting policy applied with respect to the capitalization of software
costs, see Note 1D 12 to the financial statements.

It should be noted that the allocation of acquisition and right of use license costs is based on an estimate, as software components,
required for the operations of hardware systems, are integrated within them. It should also be noted that the allocation of indirect and
other expenses related to the main components (software, hardware and other) was also based upon an estimate.

Investments and expenses in respect of the information technology system

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Software Hardware Other Total Software Hardware Other Total

in NIS millions

Expenses in respect of the information technology system, as included in the statement of profit and loss:

Payroll and related expenses!” 164 82 32 278 179 72 13 264
Acquisitions or license fees not

capitalized to assets 125 4 - 129 117 8 - 120
Outsourcing expenses 52 25 17 94 47 28 23 98
Depreciation expenses 285 77 8 370 223 87 8 318
Other expenses 85 30 110 225 87 21 103 211
Total 711 218 167 1,096 653 211 147 1,011

Additions to assets in respect of information technology system not charged as an expense:

Salaries and related expenses cost 87 - - 87 82 - - 82
Outsourcing costs 234 - - 234 198 - - 198
Acquisition or license fee costs 96 7 = 103 66 20 = 86
Equipment, buildings and real estate

costs 20 54 7 81 27 43 11 81
Total 437 61 7 505 373 63 1 447

Balances of assets in respect of the information technology system:

Total amortized cost 995 181 144 1,320 883 191 149 1,223
Of which: in respect of salaries and

related expenses 747 - - 747 660 - - 660
Footnote:

(1) Payroll and related expenses included in the statement of profit and loss also include, for presentation purposes in this table, costs that have been classified
since January 1, 2018 as “Other expenses”.
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Developments in the Comprehensive Income

Condensed statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended
December 31,

2019 2018 Change

in NIS millions in %
Net Profit attributed to the Bank's shareholders 1,702 1,505 13.1
Changes in components of other comprehensive income , attributed to the Bank's shareholders:
Other comprehensive income , before taxes!" 258 133
Effect of attributed taxes (178) 23
Other comprehensive income , attributed to the Bank's shareholders, after taxes 80 156
Comprehensive income, attributed to the Bank's shareholders 1,782 1,661 7.3

Footnote:
(1) For details regarding changes in the components of other comprehensive income, see Note 10 to the financial statements.

Other comprehensive income after taxes amounted to NIS 80 million in 2019. The main items comprising the other comprehensive

income (loss) are:

- Net adjustments in respect of the presentation of available-for-sale bonds at fair value - in 2019, the returns on the bonds held by
the Bank Group fell, which resulted in other comprehensive income after attribution of tax in the amount of NIS 531 million;

- Adjustments from the translation of the New York subsidiary’s financial statements - in 2019, the exchange rate of the shekel
against the US dollar appreciated by 7.8%. Accordingly, other comprehensive loss was recorded due to a decline in the shekel value
of the investments in this subsidiary, in the amount of NIS 283 million;

- Adjustments in respect of employee benefits — employee benefits in respect of their post-retirement rights and other long-term
benefits for working employees are calculated, in conformance with the directives of the Supervisor of Banks, using a discount rate
derived from the yield of Israeli government bonds plus an average margin of corporate bonds with an (international) rating of AA.
Due to the decline in the return of Israeli government bonds in 2019, the other comprehensive loss in 2019 grew, after attribution
of tax, in the amount of by NIS 175 million.

Structure and Developments of Assets, Liabilities, Capital and
Capital Adequacy

Developments of Assets and Liabilities

Total assets as at December 31, 2019 amounted to NIS 259,823 million, compared with NIS 239,176 million at the end of 2018, an
increase of 8.6%.

Developments in the principal balance sheet items

December 31, December
2019 31,2018

Rate of
change
in NIS millions in %
Assets
Cash and deposits with banks 26,044 21,858 19.2
Securities 37,745 37,898 (0.4)
Credit to the public, net 180,467 164,804 9.5
Liabilities
Deposits from the public 201,450 188,916 6.6
Deposits from banks 6,419 6,886 (6.8)
Securities loaned or sold under repurchase arrangements 346 1,126 (69.3)
Subordinated debt notes 13,129 8,476 54.9
Equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders 18,678 17,151 8.9
Total equity 19,193 17,669 8.6

Following are details regarding credit to the public, securities and deposits from the public.
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Credit to the Public

General. Credit to the public, net, as at December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 180,467 million, compared with NIS 164,804 million on
December 31, 2018, an increase of 9.5%. The increase is explained, inter alia, by Municipal Bank’s merger (an amount of NIS 4,736
million). The ratio of credit to the public, net, to total assets reached 69.5% at the end of 2019, compared with 68.9% at the end of
2018.

For details regarding credit risk management including the Credit risk in housing loans, Credit risk of private individuals and Credit risk
in relation to the construction and real estate sector, at the Discount Group, see "Credit risk" in Chapter C hereunder. For details
regarding the quality of credit, see Note 31 to the financial statements. Also, see the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar
of Basel and additional information regarding risks".

Composition of Credit to the Public by Linkage Segments

Composition of net credit to the public by linkage segments

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
% of total % of total Rate of
In NIS credit to the In NIS credit to the changein
millions public millions public %
Non-linked shekels 132,824 73.6 117,621 71.4 12.9
CPl-linked shekels 18,348 10.2 16,295 9.9 12.6
Foreign currency and foreign currency-linked shekels 29,295 16.2 30,888 18.7 (5.2)
Total 180,467 100.0 164,804 100.0 9.5

Credit to the public denominated in foreign currency and in Israeli currency linked thereto decreased by 5.2% compared with December
31, 2018. In U.S. Dollar terms, credit to the publicin foreign currency and foreign currency linked Shekels increased by US$235 million
as compared to December 31, 2018, an increase of 2.9%. The total credit to the public, which includes credit in foreign currency and
Israeli currency linked to foreign currency computed in dollar terms, increased by 11.0% as compared to December 31, 2018.

Composition of Credit to the Public by Regulatory Operating Segments

Developments in the balance of net credit to the public, by regulatory operating segments

December December
31,2019 31,2018 change

In NIS millions in %
Domestic operations:
Households* 69,211 62,042 11.6
Private banking* 326 200 63.0
Small and minute businesses 36,837 33,595 9.7
Medium businesses 12,628 10,068 25.4
Large businesses 39,529 37,156 6.4
Institutional bodies 676 733 (7.8)
Total Domestic operations 159,207 143,794 10.7
International operations:
Private Individuals* 1,423 1,375 8B
Business operations 22,361 21,909 2.1
Total International operations 23,784 23,284 2.1
Total credit to the public 182,991 167,078 9.5
Credit loss expenses (2,524) (2,274) 11.0
Total credit to the public, net 180,467 164,804 9.5
*Of which - Mortgages 37,159 32,924 12.9

The attainment of the Bank's capital adequacy goals, enabled the Bank to accelerate the rate of growth in credit in the last years. The
increase in credit to the publicin 2019 reflects growth in the focus points determined in the updated strategic plan.

The increase in credit to the medium businesses segment and to the large businesses segment is largely explained by the effect of the
Municipal Bank merger.
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Composition of Credit to the Public by Economic Sectors

Developments of overall credit exposure, by major economic sectors

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Rate from Rate from

Total credit total Total credit total Rate
to the public credit to the public credit of

Economic Sectors risk risk risk risk change

in NIS in NIS

millions % millions % in %

Industry 19,982 7.1 20,012 7.7 (0.1)
Construction and real estate - construction 31,382 11.2 28,763 11.1 9.1
Construction and real estate - real estate activity 22,973 8.2 21,478 8.3 7.0
Commerce 29,056 10.3 26,762 10.3 8.6
Financial services 24,224 8.6 24,151 9.3 0.3
Private individuals - housing loans 41,203 14.7 35,889 13.9 14.8
Private individuals - other 69,385 24.7 63,541 24.6 9.2
Other sectors 42,909 156.2 38,288 14.8 12.1
Total overall credit to the public risk 281,114 100.0 258,884 100.0 8.6

The data presented above indicates that in 2019, the overall risk regarding credit to the public increased by 8.6% compared with the
end of 2018. This growth applied mostly to credit granted to private individuals - other, private individuals - housing loans,
construction and real estate - construction, and commerce services.

Development of Problematic Credit Risk

For details regarding "problematic credit risk and nonperforming assets", see "Credit risk" in Chapter "C" below.

Following are details on credit to the public, as specified in Note 31 to the financial statements:

Impaired credit to the public. The balance sheet impaired credit to the public (interest accruing and non-accruing) amounted at
December 31, 2019 to NIS 1,814 million, compared to NIS 1,633 million at December 31, 2018, an increase at the rate of 11.1%.
Non-accruing interest impaired credit to the public. The non-accruing interest impaired credit to the public amounted at December
31, 2019 to NIS 1,166 million, compared to NIS 1,011 million at December 31, 2018, an increase at a rate of 15.3%.

Overall credit risk and the rate of problematic credit in principal economic sectors

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Total  Of which: Rate of Total  Of which: Rate of
credit Problematic problematic credit Problematic problematic
Economic Sectors risk  credit risk risk risk  credit risk risk
in NIS millions % in NIS millions %

Industry 19,982 856 4.3 20,012 658 83
Construction and real estate - construction 31,382 323 1.0 28,763 316 1.1
Construction and real estate - real estate activity 22,973 705 3.1 21,478 584 2.7
Commerce 29,056 1,048 3.6 26,762 ne77 2.5
Financial services 24,224 359 1.5 24,151 301 1.2
Private individuals - housing loans 41,203 378 0.9 35,889 340 0.9
Private individuals - other 69,385 566 0.8 63,541 566 0.9
Other Sectors 42,909 843 2.0 38,288 688 1.8
Total Public 281,114 5,078 1.8 258,884 4,130 1.6
Banks 5,188 37 0.7 5,721 69 1.2
Governments 29,904 - - 29,768 - -
Total 316,206 5,115 1.6 294,373 4,199 1.4

Footnote:
(1) Reclassified -following improving of data of subsidiary.

In 2019 the ratio of problematic credit risk to the overall credit risk increased, as compared with 2018. The rate of the problematic debt
increased in 2019, mostly in the sectors of commerce, industry, construction and real estate - real estate activity.
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The Balances of the Allowance for Credit Losses

The balance of the allowance for credit losses. The balance of the allowance for credit loss, including the allowance on a specific basis
and the allowance on a group basis, but not including allowance for off-balance sheet credit risk, totalled NIS 2,524 million as of
December 31, 2019. The balance of this allowance constitutes 1.38% of the credit to the public, compared with a balance of the
allowance in the amount of NIS 2,274 million, constituting 1.36% of the credit to the public as of December 31, 2018.

The balance of the specific allowance for credit losses. The outstanding balance of the allowance for credit losses in respect of
impaired credit to the public, examined on a specific basis amounted to NIS 307 million on December 31, 2019, compared to NIS 223
million on December 31, 2018.

The balance of the group allowance for credit losses. The balance of the group allowance for credit losses excluding housing loans,
amounted on December 31, 2019 to NIS 2,010 million, compared to NIS 1,864 million as of December 31, 2018, comprising an increase
in the current allowance in the amount of NIS 146 million, a rate of approx. 7.8%. The increase stemmed, mostly, from the growth in the
balance of credit, from changes in the rates of the allowance and from changes in the credit mix.

The Risk Characterization of the Credit to the Public Portfolio

The distribution of expenses and the ratio of credit loss expenses in the different economic sectors in relation to the
outstanding balance of credit to the public in those sectors

For the year ended December 31
2019 2018
Credit loss Rate of Credit loss Rate of
expense expense expense expense
(expense (expense (expense (expense

reversal) reversal) reversal) reversal)
In NIS In NIS

sectors millions % millions %
Industry 44 0.4 41 0.3
Construction and real estate - construction 73 0.5 26 0.2
Construction and real estate - real estate activity (36) (0.2) (51) (0.3)
Commerce 149 0.7 (28) (0.1)
Communications and computer services (34) (1.8) 135 6.3
Financial services (13) (0.1) (1) (0.0)
Other Sectors 168 0.5 56 0.2
Total Commercial 351 0.3 178 0.2
Private Individuals - Housing Loans 27 0.1 23 0.1
Private Individuals - Other 312 0.9 339 1.1
Total credit loss expenses 690 0.40 540 0.34

The data shown above indicates that the increase in the credit loss expense in 2019 was focused on the commerce and construction and
real estate - construction sectors. On the other hand, a decrease in expenses took place in communications and computer services,
private individuals - other and financial services sectors.

Developments in credit to the public, including off-balance sheet credit risk by borrower size
(consolidated)

Approx. 99.4% of borrowers were granted credit of no more than NIS 1.2 million. Credit to this group constituted 38.6% of total credit
to the public as at December 31, 2019, compared with 39.0% as at December 31, 2018. The credit bracket between NIS 1.2 million and
NIS 200 million constitutes about 45.2% of all credit as at December 31, 2019, compared with 43.7% as at December 31, 2018. The 91
largest borrowers, in the credit brackets between NIS 200 million and NIS 5,656 million, were granted credit constituting 16.2% of total
credit to the public as at December 31, 2019, compared with 80 borrowers that were granted credit constituting 17.3% of the total
credit as at December 31, 2018. For details regarding credit levels in excess of NIS 800 million, see "Appendices to the annual report" -
Appendix 7, item 3.

For additional details, see "Credit risks" in Chapter "C" below, and also "Credit risk" in the document "Disclosure according to the third
pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks".

Issue of credit-linked debt notes. The Bank had issued credit-linked notes (CLN), the balance of which at December 31, 2019,
amounted to approx. NIS 193 million, which is presented in the item "bonds and subordinated debt notes".
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A credit-linked debt note is a financial instrument that is connected to an asset of the Bank representing a debt of a third party legal
entity and which bears the credit risk inherent in that entity. The purchaser of the note accepts the risk inherent in the debt asset. The
Bank commits to redeem the amount of the liability (as well as interest in accordance with the terms of the note), when the Bank's
liability is contingent on the non-materialization of the risk inherent in the debt asset. The deposit shall not be refunded to the
purchaser of the note if the base asset, to which it is linked, would be in an insolvency situation, and the Bank shall only pay to the
holder of the note the amounts it manages to collect in respect of the debt asset.

This product is considered collateral which is deductible in calculating the indebtedness of the customer, in accordance with Proper
Conduct of Banking Business Directive No.313. It is also considered a qualified financial collateral in accordance with Sections 145 to
147 of Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No.203.

Securities

General. Securities in the nostro portfolio amounted to NIS 37,745 million as at December 31, 2019, compared with NIS 37,898 million
at the end of 2018, a decrease of 0.4%.

Following are securities included in the "nostro" portfolio of the Discount Group, the investment in which as of December 31, 2019,
amounted to 5% or over of the total amount of the portfolio: "government variable 1121", the "shekel government 0324", the "shekel
government 0323" and the "government variable 520" security types, which amounted to approx. 7.6%, approx. 6.5%, approx. 5.7%
and approx. 5.4%, of the total portfolio, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019, approx. 67.5% of the portfolio is invested in Government bonds, approx. 19.7% of the portfolio is invested in
mortgage backed securities and agencies and approx. 1.8% of the portfolio is invested in bonds of U.S. Government Supported
Enterprises (GSE). For details regarding the Bank’s investments in bonds, according to economic sectors, see "Appendices to the annual
report", appendix 6, items 1-3. For details regarding the segmentation of the investment in government bonds according to principal
governments, see "Appendices to the annual report" - appendix 7, item 4.

Nostro portfolios management policy. The Bank's "nostro" investment portfolios and of its subsidiaries are used as a central tool in
the management of linkage base and interest rate risks, the management of the liquidity buffer and the distribution of the credit risks
among sectors and countries in which the exposure level of the banking credit portfolio is low. The portfolios are managed with a
general overview of the Bank's balance sheet, aiming at maximizing interest income, under risk limitations determined by the Board of
Directors and the Boards of Directors of the subsidiaries.

The assets and liabilities management committee is the function approving the interest rate and linkage base exposures in the Bank's
balance sheet. Investments that have a credit risk component are managed within the framework of a group investment policy, which
has established goals and distribution limitations and has defined areas of expertise for each company in the group.

In 2019, the Bank's securities portfolio increased by 10.3%, stemming mostly from the growth in Israel and foreign government bonds.
Investments were made in accordance with the principles detailed above.

Market changes subsequent to balance-sheet date. Subsequent to balance-sheet date, changes occurred in the prices of securities on
the markets. The Bank has examined the value of the marketable securities held by the Group as of March 8, 2020. The examination
revealed that the prices of most bonds had risen; this rise will mainly affect the capital reserve. Notwithstanding, the prices of shares
have experienced falls, with regard to which a loss will be recorded in the statement of profit or loss in the first quarter of 2020.
However, the total amount is not material.

Composition of the securities portfolio by linkage segments

Non-linked shekels 20,486 19,734 3.8
CPl-linked shekels 685 1,544 (55.6)
Foreign currency and foreign currency-linked shekels 15,594 15,581 0.1

Shares - non-monetary items 980 1,039 (5.7)

Total 37,745 37,898 (0.4)




Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

37

Securities in foreign currency and in Israeli currency linked foreign currency increased by 0.1% compared with December 31, 2018. In
U.S. Dollar terms, the securities in Israeli currency and in foreign currency linked Israeli currency increased by US$355 million, an
increase of 8.5% as compared with December 31, 2018. Total securities, including securities in foreign currency and in Israeli currency
linked to foreign currency expressed in U.S. Dollar terms, increased by 3.1% as compared with December 31, 2018.

In accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, securities have been classified as follows: held-to-maturity bonds, available-
for- sale bonds, investment in share not for trading and trading securities.

Composition of investments in securities portfolio according to portfolio classification

Bonds

Held to maturity 4,753 4,998 4,753 6,722 6,791 6,722
Available for sale 29,091 29,562 29,562 28,167 27,950 27,950
Trading 2,442 2,450 2,450 2,194 2,187 2,187
Shares

Available for sale 935 967 967 980 980 980
Trading 12 13 13 65 59 59
Total Securities 37,233 37,990 37,745 38,128 37,967 37,898

Corporate bonds (excluding mortgages and assets backed bonds). Discount Group's available-for-sale bonds (2018 - available-for-
sale securities) portfolio as of December 31, 2019, includes investments in corporate bonds in the amount of NIS 3,601 million (of
which an amount of NIS 955 million is held by IDB New York), compared with NIS 3,488 million as of December 31, 2018, an increase of
3.2%. For details as to the balance of unrealized profit (losses) included in the balance of the said bonds, see Note 12 to the financial
statements.

Data by economic sectors. For details of the data relating to available-for-sale bonds, bonds held to maturity and trading bonds
according to economic sectors, see "Appendices to the annual report" — Appendix 6, item 1.

Impairment of held to maturity bonds. For details regarding unrealized losses on held to maturity bonds that are in a loss position, by
period of time and rate of impairment, see Note 12 C to the financial statements.

General. Discount Group’s securities portfolio as of December 31, 2019 includes investment in mortgage-backed and asset-backed
bonds in an amount of NIS 7,444 million, compared with NIS 7,383 million as of December 31, 2018. The amount includes investmentin
mortgage backed securities in the amount of NIS 6,857 million, which are held by IDB New York, compared to an amount of NIS 7,197
million as at December 31, 2018, a decrease of 4.7%. Approx. 92.8% of the mortgage backed securities portfolio are comprised of
debentures of various federal agencies (Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac) with an AA-AAA rating in the U.S.. The investment in the
said bonds does not include exposure to the subprime market.

As of December 31, 2019, the portfolio of mortgage and assets backed securities included unrealized net gains of NIS 2 million,
compared with losses in an amount of NIS 169 million as of December 31, 2018.
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U.S. Government Sponsored Enterprises. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSE) chartered by the
U.S. Congress with mission to provide liquidity and stability to the U.S. housing and mortgage markets. To accomplish their mission, the
GSE operate in the secondary mortgage market. Rather than granting home loans directly to the consumers, the GSE work with
mortgage banks, brokers, and other primary mortgage market partnerships ensuring they have the funds to lend to home buyers at
affordable rates. The GSE fund their mortgage investments primarily by issuing debt securities in the domestic and international
markets.

All of the GSE-MBS held by IDB New York are performing up to their conditions.

In addition to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, a third GSE is the Federal Home Loan banks whose mission is to provide liquidity and
stability to its U.S. member banks.

CLO. IDB New-York holds secured bonds of the CLO class in a total amount of NIS 490 million. The said securities are rated AA-AAA by at
least one rating agency. The Bank holds bonds of the CLO class in the amount of NIS 572 million. The said securities are rated AA-AAA.
For details, see Note 12 to the financial statements.

General. For details regarding the review of impairment of securities, see below "Critical accounting policies and critical accounting
estimates" and Note 1 D 5 to the financial statements. For details regarding the adoption of standard FSP FAS 115-2, see Note 1 C 6 to
the financial statements.

Based on a review of the impairment of the said securities as of December 31, 2019, and where relevant, basing itself also on the review
made by the relevant subsidiary's Management, the Bank’s Management believes that that the impairment is of a temporary nature.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, unrealized accumulated losses on available-for-sale mortgage and assets backed securities
amounted to total amounts of NIS 28 million and NIS 159 million, respectively. For details regarding unrealized losses on available-for-
sale securities that are in a loss position, by period of time and rate of impairment, see Note 12 E to the financial statements.

The balance of the adjustments presented as part of equity, in respect of stating available-for-sale bonds at fair value, including in
respect of bonds on loan, amounted at December 31, 2019, to NIS 573 million unrealized gains before tax effect, compared to
unrealized losses before tax effect in an amount of NIS 226 million (in respect of available-for-sale securities) as of December 31, 2018.

Customer Assets

Deposits from the public as at December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 201,450 million, compared with NIS 188,916 million at the end of
2018, anincrease of 6.6%. The increase is explained, inter alia, by Municipal Bank’s merger (an amount of NIS 4,073 million).

Composition of deposits from the public by linkage segments

Non-linked shekels 134,716 66.9 123,985 65.6 8.7
CPI-linked shekels 4,611 2.3 4,839 2.6 (4.7)
Foreign currency and foreign currency-linked shekels 62,123 30.8 60,092 31.8 3.4
Total 201,450 100.0 188,916 100.0 6.6

Deposits from the public in foreign currency and in Israeli currency linked to foreign currency increased at the rate of 3.4%, compared
with December 31, 2018. In dollar terms the deposits from the public in foreign currency and in Israeli currency linked to foreign
currency increased by US$1,942 million, an increase of 12.1% compared with December 31, 2018. Total deposits from the public,
including deposits in foreign currency and in Israeli currency linked to foreign currency computed in U.S. Dollar terms, increased by
9.4%, as compared with December 31, 2018.
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Review of developments in the balance of deposits from the public, by regulatory segments of operations

December December
31,2019 31,2018

Change
In NIS millions in %

Domestic operations:
Households 75,312 73,951 1.8
Private banking 16,368 16,765 (2.4)
Small and minute businesses 37,022 33,994 8.9
Medium businesses 7,590 5,925 28.1
Large businesses 20,305 18,968 7.0
Institutional bodies 18,076 13,044 38.6
Total Domestic operations 174,673 162,647 7.4
International operations:
Private Individuals 9,047 9,216 (1.8)
Business operations 17,730 17,053 4.0
Total International operations 26,777 26,269 1.9
Total deposits from the public 201,450 188,916 6.6

The ratio of total credit to the public, net, to deposits from the public was approx. 89.6% as at December 31, 2019, compared with
87.2% at the end of 2018.

Deposits from the public of the three largest depositor groups amounted as of December 31, 2019, to NIS 4,725 million.

Securities held for customers. On December 31, 2019, the balance of the securities held for customers at the Bank amounted to
approx. NIS 191.47 billion, including approx. NIS 1.61 billion of non-marketable securities, compared to approx. NIS 173.41 billion as
at December 31, 2018, including approx. NIS 3.21 billion of non-marketable securities, an increase of 10.4%. For details as to income
from security activities, see Note 4 to the financial statements. In addition, the balance of securities held on behalf of customers at the
MDB as of December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 11.71 billion, compared with NIS 9.99 billion in December 31, 2018, an increase of
17.2%.

Investment portfolio management. On December 31, 2019, Tafnit was managing investment portfolios, overall valued at approx. NIS
8,539 million, as compared to approx. NIS 7,459 million as at December 31, 2018, an increase of 14.5%. The growth is explained by
price increases on the capital market and by the attracting of new customers.

Pension advisory services. The total cumulative assets of customers receiving pension consulting services from the Bank as at
December 31, 2019, amounting to NIS 19.6 billion, compared with NIS 15.9 billion as of December 31, 2018, an increase of 21.3%. The
growth is explained by price increases on the capital market and by the attracting of new customers.

Capital and Capital Adequacy

The instructions. Instructions regarding "Basel III guidelines", which apply as from January 1, 2014, include a requirement for
maintaining a minimal common equity tier 1 ratio of 9%, and a total capital ratio of 12.5%, as well as detailed reference with respect to
transitional instructions. For details regarding the requirement concerning housing loans, see Note 25 item 1(b) to the financial
statements.

Issues of capital instruments. The capital instruments that are permitted to be issued under the Basel III rules, include "loss
absorption" mechanisms, whether by conversion into shares or by elimination (in full or in part) of the capital instrument.
Transitionalinstructions. In accordance with the transitional instructions, capital instruments not recognized any longer as regulatory
capital, were recognized as from January 1, 2014, in an amount of up to 80% of their outstanding balance included in the regulatory
capital at December 31, 2013, and in each consecutive year this maximum balance is being reduced by an additional 10% until January
1, 2022. In accordance with the above, the maximum balance in 2019 amounts to 30%. The aforesaid instruments are recognized in the
amount of the said maximum balance or in their amortized amount, whichever is lower.

Preparations made by the Bank. The Bank prepared a detailed plan for attaining the capital targets, being at least the level of capital
prescribed by the policy of the Supervisor of Banks and according to the time schedules published by him, and it is acting towards its
implementation.
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Relief regarding the efficiency plan. The Supervisor of Banks granted the Bank relief regarding its 2016 and 2018 efficiency plans. For
further details, see above "Efficiency of the banking industry", and Note 23 H and I, and Note 25 1 C and D to the financial statements.
Without the stated reliefs, the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio would have been 10.22% (instead of 10.31%). For additional details, see
Note 25 1 J to the financial statements.

Effect of the acquisition of Municipal Bank. The effect of the acquisition of Municipal Bank on the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio, totaled
to a decrease of approx. 0.13%.

Issuance of deferred debt notes (Series "F"). Issuance of debt notes, through Manpikim, in October 2019, increased the total capital
ratio by 0.67%.

Premature repayment of deferred capital notes (Series 1). In accordance with the terms of the capital notes, as detailed hereunder in
Note 25 L to the financial statements, on February 20, 2020, Manpikim announced the full, early redemption of the deferred capital
notes (Series 1), on April 20, 2020, after having received the Supervisor of Banks approval to implement the aforesaid early
redemption. All as detailed in Manpikim's immediate report of February 20, 2020 (Ref. No. 2020-01-017649). Had the premature
redemption been performed on December 31, 2019, the Bank's total capital ratio would have been reduced by 0.67%.

For details regarding the purchase of credit risk insurance, including guaranties, see "Large business segment (Domestic operations) -
additional details".

For further details, see "Basel III" in the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information
regarding risks".

Common Equity Tier 1 Goal

The policy approved by the Board of Directors, which reflects the Bank's risk appetite, is to maintain a higher capital adequacy level
than the rate required by the ICAAP result and according to a system stress test.

On December 22, 2019, the Board of Directors, on the basis of ICAAP and SREP processes, adopted a minimum common equity tier 1
target level of 9.9% for 2020.

Capital Planning

As part of the capital planning process, the capital targets of the work plan have been set in the outline, which enables attainment of
the Board of Directors’ goals while maintaining a capital buffer in the event of unexpected fluctuations affecting the capital ratio, and
from these the risk assets budget is derived. The allocation of the risk assets between the business units and the subsidiaries is in line
with the strategic plan, while optimizing the Group’s return on equity.

The capital outline takes into consideration various parameters that have an effect on the capital ratios, such as: assumption of
profitability consistent with the risk assets budget, dividend distribution, changes in the various capital reserves, regulatory
adjustments and amortizations in accordance with transitional instructions. The Bank examines a number of scenarios in arriving at the
prescribed capital ratios.

As part of the capital management process, the Bank routinely examines its ability to attain the internal capital targets set by the Board
of Directors and included in the work plan. Should the forecasted capital ratio differ considerably from that planned (by a
predetermined rate), a Management discussion takes place to consider the measures that need to be taken in order to attain the
prescribed outline — measures such as reducing risk assets, utilizing the capital buffer, and so forth.

For additional details, see "Capital adequacy" in the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional
information regarding risks". The document is available for perusal on the Bank's website together with the Bank's 2019 Annual Report
(this report), on the MAGNA site of the Israel Securities Authority, and on the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd..

Components of Capital

Total capital as at December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 19,193 million, compared with NIS 17,669 million at December 31, 2018, an
increase of 8.6%. The increase stems, mostly, from the profit for the year.

Equity attributed to the Bank’s shareholders as at December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 18,678 million, compared with NIS 17,151
million at December 31, 2018, an increase of 8.9%.

The change in equity attributed to the Bank’s shareholders in 2019 was affected, among other things, by the net earnings during the
year, by an increase NIS 531 million from adjustments for fair value of available-for-sale securities, from net actuarial loss in an amount
of NIS 175 million from financial statements translation adjustments in an amount of NIS 283 million.

The ratio of total capital, to total assets as at December 31, 2019, stood at 7.4%, similar to December 31, 2018.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries [
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 Board of Directors and Management Report

41

Components of the Regulatory Capital as of December 31, 2019

General. As stated, as of January 1, 2014, the new instructions in accordance with the Basel III guidelines gradually came into effect.
The data presented below reflects deductions, in accordance with the transitional instructions. The transitional instructions relating to
the reductions and deductions from common equity tier 1 ceased to be in effect from January 1, 2018.

Ratio of common equity tier 1 on December 31, 2019, amounted to 10.31%, as compared with 10.24% on December 31, 2018.

Total capital ratio as of December 31, 2019, amounted to 13.86%, as compared with 13.67% on December 31, 2018.

Components of the regulatory capital as of December 31, 2019

December 31,

2019 2018

in NIS millions

1. Capital for Calculating ratio of capital

Common equity tier 1 after deductions 19,009 17,504
Additional tier 1 capital after deductions 534 712
Tier 1 capital 19,643 18,216
Tier 2 capital 6,021 5,140
Total capital 25,564 23,356
2. Weighted risk assets balance

Credit risk®@ 165,883 153,081
Market risk 2,858 3,412
CVA risk 1,489 1,441
Operational risk 14,216 12,987
Total weighted risk assets balance 184,446 170,921
3. Ratio of capital to risk assets

Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 10.31 10.24
Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.86 13.67
Ratio of minimum capital required by the Supervisor of Banks

Ratio of common equity tier 1 9.20 9.19
Total capital ratio™ 12.70 12.69
Footnotes:

(1) With an addition of 0.20% (December 31, 2018: 0.19%), in accordance with the additional capital requirements with respect to housing loans - see Note 25 to
the financial statements.

(2) The total weighted balances of the risk assets have been reduced by NIS 10 million (December 31,2018: NIS 32 million) due to adjustments in respect to the
efficiency plan.

Raising of Resources

Issuances of tier 2 capital. In October 2019 the CoCo bonds issue in a total amount of NIS 1,231 million was completed. On January 7,
2020, an additional Coco issuance was concluded, with an overall scope of NIS 100 million. For additional details, see Note 25 1 N to the
financial statements.

Subtraction of regulatory capital instruments in 2020. Subordinate capital notes, which under the Basel II instructions had been
recognized as hybrid Tier 1 capital or as upper Tier 2 capital, are no longer qualified according to the Basel III instructions, though
according to the transitional provisions they would be recognized as additional Tier 1 capital and would be gradually eliminated in the
years 2014-2021. Furthermore, subordinate debt notes, which under the Basel IT instructions had been recognized as Tier 2 capital, are
no longer qualified under the Basel III instructions, though according to the transitional provisions they would be recognized as Tier 2
capital and would be gradually eliminated in the years 2014-2021. Regulatory capital instruments, which are to be subtracted in the
course of 2020, in accordance with the transitional provisions, amount to NIS 787 million (in accordance with the Basel II instructions
an amount of NIS 244 million would have been deducted).

Taking into consideration the deduction in 2020 of regulatory capital instruments (Tier 2 capital), the Bank may raise additional
regulatory capital instruments in accordance with the Bank's work plan for 2020 and market conditions, in order to maintain the total
capital targets for 2020.
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Within the framework of the "Additional regulatory disclosures" document, a description is given of the principal characteristics of the
issued regulatory capital instruments. Within the framework of the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and
additional information regarding risks" a disclosure is given of The Regulatory capital and management thereof, including the
composition of the regulatory capital. The documents are available for perusal on the Magna Site of the Israel Securities Authority, on
the Maya Site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. and on the Bank's website.

Dividends Distribution

On December 26, 2017 the Bank's Board of directors approved a dividend policy, according to which, starting with the first quarter of
2018, the Bank will distribute in each quarter a dividend at the rate of up to 15% of the net distributable earnings, as reflected in the
consolidated financial statements for the preceding quarter. On November 26, 2019, the Bank's Board of Directors approved an update
to the Bank's dividend policy, according to which, starting with the third quarter of 2019, the Bank may distribute in each quarter, a
dividend of up to 30% of the distributable net earnings according to the consolidated financial statements for the previous quarter,
instead of a distribution rate of up to 15%.

The updated dividend policy was approved in view of the Bank attaining its capital outline, the consistent improvement in the business
results of the Group, and following the approval by the Supervisor of Banks of the said dividend policy.

It is clarified that this policy should not be deemed a commitment by the Bank for a dividend distribution, and that each dividend
distribution in practice shall be subject to approvals required by the law, including a specific approval by the Board of Directors for a
dividend distribution based on its judgment and subject to compliance with the provisions of the law applying to dividend distribution,
inter alia, in accordance with the Companies Act and directives of the Bank of Israel. It is further noted that the actual distribution of a
dividend is subject to compliance with the capital adequacy goals prescribed by the Supervisor of Banks and the internal capital goals,
as determined or would be determined by the Bank's Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may examine from time to time the
dividend distribution policy and decide at any time, taking into account business considerations and the provisions of the law and
regulation applying to the Bank, on changes in the dividend policy, including in the rate of dividend to be distributed. The Board may
also decide that no dividend should be distributed at all.

For details of the dividend distribution from the profits of the various quarters of 2018-2019, see Note 24 E (5) to the financial
statements.

For details regarding the limitations set in the Supervisor of Banks' directives, see Note 24 E (2) to the financial statements.

In accordance and in continuation with the policy, as stated, the Bank's Board of Directors decided, on March 15, 2020, to distribute a
dividend at the rate of 15% of the profits of the fourth quarter of 2019, in the amount of approx. NIS 48.75 million, comprising approx.
4.19 Agora for each ordinary A share of NIS 0.1 par value. Additional details regarding the resolution of the Board of Directors,
including the dates fixed as the ex-dividend date and the date of payment, are included in the immediate report published by the Bank
together with the publication of this report.
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Activity of the Group according to Principal Segments of
Operation - Principal Quantitative Data and Main
Developments

General

The regulatory operating segments have been defined by the Supervisor of Banks, based on the characteristics of their customers, such
as: the nature of their activity (in relation to private customers), or their business turnover (in case of business customers), in a format
that connects, on a uniform and single value basis, between the different customers of the banking industry as a whole, and the
regulatory operating segments.

According to the instructions, a banking corporation, the operating segments of which, according to the approach of its Management,
are materially different from the regulatory operating segments, shall provide in addition, disclosure regarding operating segments
according to the Management's approach ("managerial operating segments"), in accordance with the accounting principles accepted
by U.S. banks in the matter of operating segments (ASC 280). However, in accordance with directives and clarifications of the Banking
Supervision Department, the disclosure in the directors' and management report shall relate to regulatory operating segments only.
Note 30 to the financial statements present a quantitative disclosure of the managerial operating segments that the Bank has
identified.

Concise data regarding operations in the various segments, regulatory and managerial, is presented in Notes 29-30 to the financial
statements.

A summary description of segments of operation, including the criteria for assigning customers to segments of operation, in general
was included above in "Discount Group Segment of operations - Condensed description" under "The Discount Group - Condensed
description and principal areas of operation".

Details regarding the distribution of human resources in the Group according to segments of operation are included under "the human
capital" below. For details regarding the assumptions, assessments and reporting principles used in the preparations of the data, see
Note 29 D to the financial statements.

Allocation of indirect expenses. Indirect expenses are allocated to the different segments in accordance with the model, as detailed in
Note 29 D Item 2. The principal variables affecting the allocation are the scope of operations of the customers and the number of
employees.

Validation and updating of the expense allocation model. The Bank is in the midst of a process for the updating and the validation of
the expense allocation model used in the preparation of the operating segments data. Completion of the process is planned for 2020.
Changes in the expense allocation model might lead to material changes in the reported results for the different segments, both
regulatory and managerial.

Administrative Structure

The Discount Group operates in Israel and overseas by way of the Bank, subsidiaries, branches and representative offices, in all areas of
banking and financial services.

The Bank's business operations in 2019 were conducted by three divisions: Banking Division, Corporate Division and the Financial
Markets Division.

The Retail Banking Division conducts business with households and small businesses, digital banking customers and private banking
customers (both Israeli and international). The Division is responsible for the operation of the investment consultants operating in
branches and investment centers and for mortgage activity, by means of mortgage consultants placed at some of the branches.

The Corporate Division is responsible for conducting business with large business corporations and medium corporations (middle
market), as well as building (closed real estate projects) and infrastructure corporations, major participants in the capital market,
institutional bodies and customers engaged in the diamond sector. In addition, the Division has a complex credit products wing, which
incorporates under it the syndication unit and the complex foreign trade finance unit. The operational services to customers of the
Corporate Division is principally provided at the Tel Aviv Main Branch. Furthermore, the Foreign Trade unit, providing foreign trade
services to all Bank customers, is also subject to the Division.

With effect as from January 1, 2020, responsibility for commercial banking was transferred from the Banking Division to the Corporate
Division.



L

The Financial Markets Division is responsible for the financial management of the Bank and of the Group, which includes asset and
liability management, dealing rooms management, market risks management, transfer prices management, capital management,
"Nostro" portfolio management and management of relations with foreign financial institutions and in the management of deposit and
securities products.

In addition, alongside the above mentioned divisions, two additional business activities divisions operate at the Bank: the Digital, Data
and Innovation Division, which is responsible for the online channels area, the data, the CRM, the PayBox cellular payments application
and the innovation, and the Planning, Strategy and Finance Division, which is responsible, among other things, for pension advisory
services activity.

Household Segment (Domestic operations)

The household segment provides services and diverse financial products to the Group's private individual customers, both at Discount
Bank and at MDB. These are provided by means of a chain of 182 branches located all over the country, in addition to a variety of direct
channels. The customers are classified into groups according to their age, financial wealth and additional parameters.

The segment’s profitin 2019 amounted to NIS 22 million, compared to a loss in an amount of NIS 138 million in 2018.
Credit loss expenses in this segment amounted to NIS 339 million in 2019, compared to NIS 363 million in 2018, a decrease of 6.6%.

Principal data regarding the Household segment (Domestic operations)

Total income 3,561 23,269
Credit loss expenses 339 363
Total Operating and other expenses 3,144 3,084
Net Profit (Loss) Attributed to the bank's shareholders 22 (138)
Footnotes:

(1) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (2) to the financial statements.
(2) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (3) to the financial statements.

The Bank continued in 2019 to implement the Group strategic plan, which defined the household segment as one of the segments,

which the Group intends to focus on in the coming years, as a central growth generator.

In 2019 the Bank continued implementing moves to achieve the multi-year targets:

- Continuing with measures to improve service and sales to customers, as a direct result of completing the measure for the removal of
operational activity from the branches;

- Continuing the management of customer relations through the different communication channels by means of an upgraded CRM
system: encrypted mail, communication with the banker through the cellular application and a "call back" telephone service;

- Continuing the management of telephone call availability by means of a smart telephone system operated by teams;

- Management of the frontal scene at the branches by means of a queue management system, the possibility of arranging an
appointment with a banker by means of the application and the positioning of a quick response banker assisting in the conduct of
simple and quick banking operations at branches serving in person a large number of customers;

- Continuing to regulate workload at the branches in all communication channels: frontal, telephonic and digital, through a
command and control center established at the Banking Division;

- Continuing to expand and improve the telephone center with the aim of increasing the availability of this service;

- Continuing the upgrading of the digital channels and the directing of operations to these channels.

For additional details regarding the household segment (Domestic operations), including details regarding mortgage activity, see in
the Chapter "Corporate governance, audit and additional details regarding the business of the banking corporation and the manner of
their management".
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The segment's net profitin 2019 amounted to NIS 23 million, compared with NIS 19 million in 2018, anincrease of 21.1%.

Principal data regarding the Private banking segment (Domestic operations)

For the year ended
December 31,

2019 2018
in NIS millions
Total income 152 149
Credit loss expenses 2 1
Total Operating and other expenses 116 119
Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 23 19

Footnote:
(1) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (2) to the financial statements.

For additional details regarding the private banking segment (Domestic operations), see in the Chapter "Corporate governance, audit
and additional details regarding the business of the banking corporation and the manner of their management".

Small and Minute Businesses Segment (Domestic operations)

Scale of Operations and Net Profit of the Segment

Net profit of the segmentin 2019 amounted to NIS 379 million, compared with NIS 344 million in 2018, an increase of 10.2%.

Credit loss expenses in this segment amounted to NIS 234 million in 2019, compared to NIS 111 million in 2018, an increase of

110.8%.

Principal data regarding the Small and Minute businesses segment (Domestic operations)

For the year ended
December 31,

2019 2018
in NIS millions
Total income 2,153 22,018
Credit loss expenses 234 111
Total Operating and other expenses 1,329 11,366
Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 379 344

Footnotes:
(1) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (2) to the financial statements.
(2) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (3) to the financial statements.

For additional details regarding the Small and minute businesses segment (Domestic operations), see in the Chapter "Corporate
governance, audit and additional details regarding the business of the banking corporation and the manner of their management".
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Medium Businesses Segment (Domestic operations)
Scale of operations and Net Profit of the Segment

Net profit of the segmentin 2019 amounted to NIS 43 million, compared with NIS 116 million in 2018, a decrease of 62.9%.
Credit loss expenses amounted to NIS 107 million in 2019, compared to expenses reversal in the amount of NIS 40 million in 2018.

Principal data regarding the Medium businesses segment (Domestic operations)

For the year ended
December 31,

2019 2018

in NIS millions
Total income 451 2416
Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 107 (40)
Total Operating and other expenses 278 276
Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 43 116

Footnotes:
(1) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (2) to the financial statements.
(2) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (3) to the financial statements.

For additional details regarding the Medium businesses segment (Domestic operations), see in the Chapter "Corporate governance,
audit and additional details regarding the business of the banking corporation and the manner of their management".

Large Businesses Segment (Domestic operations)
Scale of operations and Net Profit of the Segment

Net profit of the segmentin 2019 amounted to NIS 393 million, compared with NIS 319 million in 2018, an increase of 23.2%.
Credit loss expenses in this segment amounted to an expense reversal of NIS 21 million in 2019, compared to expenses in an amount of
NIS 120 million in 2018.

Principal data regarding the Large businesses segment (Domestic operations)

For the year ended
December 31,

2019 2018

in NIS millions
Total income 1,114 21,070
Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) (21) 120
Total Operating and other expenses 537 0462
Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 393 319

Footnotes:
(1) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (2) to the financial statements.
(2) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (3) to the financial statements.

For additional details regarding the Large Businesses Segment (Domestic operations), including Real Estate activity, see in chapter
"Corporate Governance, audit, additional details regarding the business of the banking corporation and management thereof".
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Institutional Bodies Segment (Domestic operations)
Scale of operations and Net Profit of the Segment

The segment’s loss in 2019 amounted to NIS 5 million, compared with NIS 4 million in the previous year.
Credit loss expenses in this segment amounted to expenses reversal of NIS 5 million in 2019, compared to an expense of NIS 1 million
in 2018.

Principal data regarding the Institutional bodies segment (Domestic operations)

For the year ended
December 31,

2019 2018
in NIS millions

Total income 48 46
Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) (5) 1

Total Operating and other expenses 61 52
Loss Attributed to the bank's shareholders (5) (4)
Footnote:

(1) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (2) to the financial statements.

For additional details regarding the Institutional bodies segment (Domestic operations), see in the Chapter "Corporate governance,
audit and additional details regarding the business of the banking corporation and the manner of their management".

Financial Management Segment (Domestic operations)
Scale of operations and Net Profit of the Segment

The segment’s net profitin 2019 amounted to NIS 543 million, compared to NIS 515 millionin 2018, an increase of 5.4%. The profitin
2019 was effected, inter alia, by a decrease in the realization of investments in Discount Capital. For further details, see "Non-financial
investments" below under "Activity of the Group by regulatory operating segments — additional details".

Principal data regarding the financial management segment (Domestic operations)

For the year ended
December 31,

2019 2018

in NIS millions
Total income 1,041 2986
Total Operating and other expenses 181 179
Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 543 515

Footnotes:
(1) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (2) to the financial statements.
(2) Reclassified - see Note 29 C (3) to the financial statements.

Main Developments in the Segment

Negative interest environment. The Bank continues to charge large businesses customers with interest on current account credit
balances in the Euro, following the transition to a negative interest environment.
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The income from trading activities in the financial management segment amounted to NIS 298 million in 2019, compared with NIS 418
million in 2018 (see Note 29 H to the financial statements). The income from trading activities that was included within the framework
of interest income and within the framework of non-interest financing income amounted to NIS 279 million in 2019, compared with
NIS 382 million in 2018 (see Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements).

The gap is explained, primarily, by foreign currency exchange differences - a total of NIS 58 million in 2019, compared with NIS 61
million in 2018. The gap is due to a difference in the types of activities for which foreign currency exchange differences are calculated.
Additional gaps arise from overseas activity, which is included solely within the framework of non-interest financing income (NIS 60
million in 2019, compared with NIS 27 million in 2018) and from commissions from securities and inter-segment net interest income,
which are included solely within the framework of income from trading activity in the financial management segment (NIS 21 million
netin 2019, compared with NIS 2 million netin 2018).

For additional details regarding the financial management segment (Domestic operations), and details regarding non-financial
companies activity, and details as to the dealing room activity, asset and liability management and Global Treasury, see in the Chapter
"Corporate governance, audit and additional details regarding the business of the banking corporation and the manner of their
management".

International Operations Segment

The net gainin 2019 amounted to NIS 304 million, compared to NIS 334 million in 2018, a decrease of 9.0%.
Credit loss expenses in this segment in 2019 amounted to NIS 34 million, compared to an expense reversal in the amount of NIS 16
million in 2018.

Principal data regarding the International operations segment

Total income 1,144 1,066
Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 34 (16)
Total Operating and other expenses 653 610
Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 304 334

For additional details regarding the International operations segment, see in the Chapter "Corporate governance, audit and additional
details regarding the business of the banking corporation and the manner of their management".
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Main investee companies
General

The Bank’s Group is composed of commercial banks in Israel and overseas and financial services companies. Total investment in the
investee companies as at December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 10,317 million, compared with NIS 9,617 million on December 31, 2018,
anincrease of 7.3%.

Distribution of Net profit by the Group’s structure

Contribution to the Group's profit

For the year ended December 31,

2019 2018
In NIS % of Net In NIS % of Net

millions profit millions profit Change in %
Banking Activity:
Commercial banks:
In Israel - the Bank 906 53.2 763 50.7 18.7
Mercantile Discount Bank 305 17.9 239 15.9 27.6
Overseas - Discount Bancorp 288 16.9 323 21.5 (10.8)
Other Activities:
Israel Credit Cards 123 7.2 95 6.3 29.5
Discount Capital 63 3.7 70 4.6 (10.0)
Other financial services 17 1.0 15 1.0 188
Net profit 1,702 100.0 1,505 100.0 13.1

At the end of 2019, 22.86% of all assets in the consolidated balance sheet were assets of consolidated companies in Israel, and approx.
12.96% were assets of the overseas consolidated company. The contribution to the Net profit by the consolidated companies in Israel
amounted to NIS 499 million in 2019 (NIS 413 million in 2018). The contribution to the Net profit by overseas consolidated companies
amounted to NIS 289 million in 2019 (NIS 325 million in 2018), and the contribution to the Net profit by affiliated companies amounted
to NIS 8 million in 2019 (NIS 4 million in 2018).

The total contribution by both domestic and overseas investees companies to the Bank's net profit amounted to NIS 796 million in
2019, compared with NIS 742 million in 2018, an increase of 7.3%.

Following are the main developments in principal investee companies.
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Discount Bancorp, Inc.

Discount Bancorp, Inc. (hereinafter: "Bancorp") is a fully owned and controlled subsidiary of the Bank, which is a bank holding
company, incorporated in accordance with the law of the State of Delaware. Bancorp is the 100% shareholder of Israel Discount Bank of
New York (IDB New York), which is the largest Israeli bank operating overseas.

Pursuant to Bancorp’s Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws, IDB New York may not be sold by Bancorp unless the Bank has given its
consent.

The data presented hereunder in this section have been taken from Bancorp's audited financial statements.

Discount Bancorp, Inc. - principal data

Principal statements of profit and loss data for the reporting period:

Net profit attributed to the shareholders 21 18 100 96
Interest income, net 61 64 250 246
Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 1 1 9 (4)
Non-financing income 19 16 77 56
Non-financing expenses 51 56 190 182
Principal balance sheet data for the end of the reporting period:

Total assets 9,777 9,229 9,777 9,229
Credit to the public, net 6,778 6,109 6,778 6,109
Securities 2,440 2,398 2,440 2,398
Deposits from the public 8,164 7,460 8,164 7,460
Total equity 1,078 948 1,078 948

Principal performance indices:

Return on equity 7.9 7.7 9.8 10.4
Efficiency ratio 63.8 70.0 58.1 60.3
Ratio of total capital to risk assets 15.2 15.2 15.2 183
Ratio of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit to the public 0.09 0.05 0.14 (0.07)
Total net return on interest bearing assets 2.63 3.04 2.74 2.85

The improvement in the business results for 2019, stemmed mostly from the growth in interest income (US$4 million) and from the
increase in credit loss expenses (US$13 million). On the other hand, an increase occurred in non-interest income (US$21 million) and
ininterest expenses (US$18.6 million).

Distribution of dividend. In 2019, Bancorp distributed dividend to Discount Bank in a total amount of US$4.4 million (2018-
US$42.25 million). In February 2020, Bancorp resolved to distribute a dividend of US$15 million.

The contribution of Bancorp to the Bank's net results reached a profit of NIS 288 million (after deducting a provision for taxes of NIS
58 million) in 2019, compared with NIS 323 million in 2018 (net of provision for taxes in the amount of NIS 37 million).

Change of President and CEO. For details, see "Board of Directors and Management" below.

Strategic plan. For details regarding the plan that was approved in December 2017, see above "Goals and business strategy".

The annual financial statements of Bancorp and of IDB New York are available for review on the Internet website of IDB New York (IDB
Bank). Annual and quarterly financial data is available for review on the Internet website of FDIC.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

51

Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd.

Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd. ("MDB") is a fully owned and controlled subsidiary of the Bank. At the end of 2019, MDB operated
through 75 branches (compared with 76 branches in 2018).

Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd. — principal data

Principal statements of profit and loss data for the reporting period:

Net profit attributed to the shareholders 77 30 305 239
Interest income, net 318 282 1,201 1,080
Credit loss expenses 58 26 188 96
Non-financing income 97 84 367 368
Non-financing expenses 233 293 913 985
Principal balance sheet data for the end of the reporting period:

Total assets 44,434 36,219 44,434 36,219
Credit to the public, net 31,967 25,675 31,967 25,675
Securities 4,806 6,599 4,806 6,599
Deposits from the public 36,232 30,551 36,232 30,551
Total equity 3,058 2,723 3,058 2,723

Principal performance indices:

Return on equity 10.6 4.6 10.5 9.2
Efficiency ratio 56.8 80.1 58.2 68.0
Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.65 14.02 13.65 14.02
Ratio of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit to the public 0.85 0.42 0.69 0.39
Total net return on interest bearing assets 3.39 3.41 3.40 3.26

The ratio of capital to risk assets. The Board of Directors of MDB determined the minimum rates of capital adequacy ratios, as follows:
the common equity Tier I ratio shall not be lower than 9.5%; the comprehensive capital adequacy ratio shall not be lower than 13.0%.
The principal factors affecting the business results. The profit in 2019 was affected, inter alia, from an increase of NIS 121 million in
interestincome, net (11.2%); a decrease of NIS 11 million in non-interest financial income (22.4%); from an increase of NIS 92 million
in credit loss expenses (95.8%); and from a decrease of NIS 72 million in operating and other expenses (7.3%), stemming mainly from
the payment of one-time awards of NIS 67 million, which were paid in 2018 (NIS 56 million in respect of surrendering the linkage to
Bank Leumi terms, and NIS 11 million in respect of an award regarding the 100th anniversary of this bank; see hereunder “the Human
Capital”).

Distribution of dividend. During 2018-2019 Mercantile Discount Bank did not distribute dividend.

The strategic plan. The Board of Directors of the Mercantile Discount Bank approved in 2015 a strategic plan for the years 2016-2020.

The program contains two main lines of action: the one - expansion of retail operations (households and small businesses), within the

framework of which, Mercantile Discount Bank is intended to focus on specific sections of the population, in respect of which this bank

has many years of experience in the granting of banking services matching their unique needs. The other - streamlining operations by
means of strict management of operating expenses and improvement in income structure.

2016 plan. The Board of Directors of MDB approved in the second half of 2016, a strategic plan to intensify the activity in the retail

segment, including the focusing on designated segments of population, in respect of which the bank has acquired over many years

specialization in providing banking services.

Major projects implementation. Execution of the said strategic plan involves the implementation of structural changes and changes in

work processes, which are integrated at the Mercantile Discount Bank within the framework of projects, including:

- Expanding the operations of the "back-office operating unit" - within the framework of which, certain operating activities are
removed from the branches to back-office operating centers, so as to increase the branch resources available to the customers, for
the provision of service.

- Improvement of the computer infrastructure — including infrastructure relating to the development of activity in the retail segment,
such as: enlarging the channels used for granting banking services, improving the technological infrastructure enabling the
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conduct of operations without the physical signature by the customer, upgrading and increasing the number of automatic devices at
the branches and the development of advanced digital applications, which enable customers to obtain available information and
carry-out banking operations by means of use of mobile communication devices.
Merger of Municipal Bank. On December 1, 2019, the merger of Municipal Bank with and into MDB was concluded. For details see Note
26 C 18 to the financial statements. The material balance-sheet changes in the financial statements of MDB stem, mainly, from the
aforesaid merger.

For details regarding lawsuits and motions for approval of the lawsuits as class action suits and additional proceedings filed against
MDB, see Note 26 C to the financial statements, items 12.4, 12.8 and 13.1.

The annual and quarterly financial statements of Mercantile Discount Bank are available on the MAGNA website of the Israel Securities
Authority, on the MAYA website of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. appearing under "Mercantile Issuance", and on the website of
Mercantile Discount Bank.

Israel Credit Cards Ltd.

Israel Credit Cards Ltd. ("ICC") is a subsidiary of the Bank. As of December 31, 2019, the Bank owned 71.8% of the equity and 79.0% of
the voting rights in ICC. At this date, the First International Bank held the balance of the rights in ICC.

A letter of understanding between the shareholders of ICC. The Bank and FIBI established a letter of understanding between them as
shareholders of ICC, which is to regulate several issues, including: the distribution of dividends by ICC, entering into new issuance
agreements, actions taken to increase the number of credit cards in use and assisting measures for the sale of the holdings of FIBI in
ICC, in the event that FIBI would decide to realize it's holdings.

Israel Credit Cards Ltd. — principal data

Principal statements of profit and loss data for the reporting period:

Net profit attributed to the shareholders 52 36 201 157
The contribution to the Bank's business results 32 22 123 95
Income from credit card transactions 352 320 1,356 1,222
Interest income, net 130 120 505 464
Non-financing income 2 2 2 12
Non-financing expenses 412 394 1,587 1,485
Of which: Credit loss expenses 30 38 147 156
Principal balance sheet data for the end of the reporting period:

Total assets 19,159 16,015 19,159 16,015
Interest bearing credit to the public 6,502 5,678 6,502 5,678
Total equity 1,820 1,838 1,820 1,838

Principal performance indices:

Return on equity 11.8 8.3 11.0 9.0
Efficiency ratio 78.9 80.5 77.3 78.3
Ratio of total capital to risk assets 14.0 15.9 14.0 15.9
Turnover of credit card transactions — in NIS millions 28,171 24,697 107,096 93,383
Number of active cards 2,877 2,629 2,877 2,629
Footnote:

(1) Differences between net income and the contribution to the Bank's business results is derived from

The principal factors affecting the business results. The business results of ICC for 2019, compared with 2018, were mainly affected
by a rise in income from credit card transactions (NIS 134 million, 11.0%) and net interest income (NIS 41 million; 8.8%), as a result of
the growth in volume of consumer credit and from a decrease occurred in credit loss expenses (NIS 9 million; 8.8%). On the other hand,
an increase occurred in operating expenses (NIS 60 million; 10.8%), and an increase in sales and marketing expenses (NIS 46 million;
33.1%) explained mostly by the growth in customer attraction and retention.
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The ratio of capital to risk assets. A resolution of the Board of Directors of ICC states a targeted core capital ratio of 9.6% and a

targeted total capital ratio of 13.3%.

Distribution of dividend. In 2019, ICC distributed dividends in the amount of NIS 200 million (the Bank’s share - NIS 143.6 million).

During 2018, ICC did not distribute a dividend.

Strategic plan. In August 2019, the Board of Directors of ICC approved a multi-annual plan (2019-2023), comprising a continuation of

the strategic plan approved on May 23, 2017 (2017-2021).The multi-annual plan had been formed, taking into account the changes

taking place in the credit card field around the world, generally, and in Israel, in particular, following enactment of the Increase in

Competition and Reduction of Concentration and Conflict of Interests in the Banking Market in Israel Act, 2016, as well as additional

regulatory initiatives. The plan focuses on continuous actions for the positioning of ICC as leader in the payment and off-banking credit

activities.

The strategic focal points of ICC are:

- Utilizing the income potential from ICC’s broad customer base;

- Further growth in credit operations;

- Enlarging the use of information and the leveraging thereof in the decision making processes;

- Promoting advanced payment solutions, both on the part of the payer and on the part of the beneficiary (trading houses);

- Operating excellence while improving customer experience alongside organizational effectiveness;

- Continuing the upgrading of the digital infrastructure in its principal activities, and providing customers with utmost experience
regarding the digital platforms.

From time to time, ICC tests and validates the strategic foci and the strategic measures deriving therefrom as a result of the

developments and trends in its operations and in the business and regulatory environment in which it operates.

In the opinion of Management of ICC, the implementation of the strategic plan would enable it to deal, in the best possible manner,

with the challenges of the financial market in Israel in the coming years. It should be noted, that the success of the plan depends on a

number of factors, the realization of which is not certain.

Breakout of the Corona virus. The spread of the virus could have a detrimental effect on ICC’s results, due to a downturn in the scope of

credit card use, particularly on the activity turnovers of Israelis overseas and of tourists in Israel (and consequently, on noncompliance

with the goals of the international organizations, depending on the scope of the downturn), and on ICC’s activities in the sphere of

private and business credit. Moreover, there could be a detrimental effect on businesses in the spheres of tourism, hotels and aviation

and on ICC’s activities with clubs operating in these spheres. In addition, ICC is examining aspects of continuity of service under various

scenarios. At this stage, it is not possible to estimate the effects of the further spread of the virus on the business results of ICC.

For details regarding activity in the credit card field in Israel, see in the chapter "Corporate governance, audit and additional details
regarding the business of the Banking corporation and management thereof", and in Note 36 to the financial statements.

For details regarding lawsuits and motions to approve them as class action suits filed against ICC, see Note 26 C to the financial
statements, items 12.1 and 12.5.

The annual and quarterly financial statements of ICC are available for review on the Internet website of ICC.
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Discount Capital Ltd.

Discount Capital, a fully owned and controlled subsidiary of the Bank, which is engaged in three main areas of operation:

Investments in companies, private equity funds and in venture capital funds and mezzanine;

Investment banking, including consulting and management of mergers and acquisitions (M&A), corporate finance consulting and
advising in rating processes;

Initiating and advising public offerings and private placements and providing underwriting and distribution services, by means of
the subsidiary, Discount Capital Underwriting Ltd.

Discount Capital - principal data

Net profit attributed to the shareholders 78.2 71.4 9.5
The contribution to the Bank's business results! 62.9 70.0 (10.1)
Total assets 1,621.0 1,571.0 3.2
Total equity 829.7 751.9 10.3
Footnote:

0 Differences between net income and the contribution to the Bank's business results is derived from differences in the implementation of generally accepted
accounting principles and recognition of current tax liability in respect of the investment in the company.

The profitin the years 2018-2019 was affected mainly by different realizations.

Realizations in 2020. As assessed by Discount Capital, due to the uncertainty and the drop in prices in the markets, realizations that
were in the process of being carried out or that were planned for 2020 are being deferred, and mostly for the first half of the year.
During 2019, Discount Capital, through a subsidiary, participated in 56 public offerings of which, two public offering for the Discount
Group and in 22 private placements, with a total volume of approx. NIS 27.2 billion (in 2018 - 66 public offerings of which, one public
offering for the Discount Group, and 21 private placements with a total of approx. NIS 31.4 billion).

General Description of the Risks and Manner of Management
thereof
Risk Profile of the Discount Group - Risk Environment

The Discount Group is engaged in a wide range of financial operations involving risk taking. The Group has focused the geographical
distribution, and at the present time maintains international presence through the New York subsidiary only. The complexity of the risk
environment (domestic and international, regulatory and internal), as well as the dynamics and pace of changes occurring in the risk
environment, create challenges in the risk management field alongside the business challenges. For a wider discussion in the matter of
main developments in the economic environment, see above "Principal economic developments" under "Material trends, occurrences,
developments and changes".

Following are the major external effects, to which the Group is exposed, are:

Intensified competition, profitability risks and the business model. the forecasts for a continuing low interest environment
alongside the abundance of regulatory directives intended to support the increase in competition, innovation and technology, and
expected structural changes in the banking industry (principally as regards credit, payments and digital), lead to the continued
increase in competition in the banking industry, to wider cooperation with third parties and to the transition of banking activity to
financial entities that are not banks. In consequence thereof, the banking industry faces challenges in the formation of a future
banking concept and in identifying additional and alternative growth generators, including initiating and developing new products
and cooperation. One of the tracks of the updated strategic plan is the promotion of new banking, while emphasizing the
broadening of the services coverage, the means of communication and improving customer experience. The innovation and
digitization aspects are being accompanied by representatives of risk management as from the initiation stages, including the
conduct of new product processes;
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- Efficiency measures - the above stated changes in competition require the continuous implementation of efficiency measures by
the banking industry. Improvement of the operating efficiency ratios comprises a central axis in the Group's strategic plan. In
recent years the Group demonstrates a continuing improvement in efficiency ratios, though the challenge continues to be
significant in light of major streamlining in the system too. The Group implements a multiannual efficiency plan, which includes
efficiency measures regarding manpower, expenses and properties (reduction in the number of branches) and also launched
strategic projects, whose aim is to support and assist the Bank in coping with the competitive environment and the future banking.
Furthermore, the Bank and the Group introduce from time to time additional efficiency projects;

- Development of digital banking. A growing trend of transition of activity to digital is observed in recent years. This development,
combined with supporting regulation (online banking, open banking, mobility by keyboard click, encouragement of innovation at
banks and at clearing agents, etc.) that lead to wider services and growing cooperation with third parties (outsourcing of
operations, acquisition of new technologies, cooperation with third parties and technology companies, combining robotics and
artificial intelligence in processes and services, the development of open banking etc.). These changes comprise on the one hand
business opportunities and on the other hand create new challenges with respect to risk management, with an emphasis on data
protection and cyber aspects as well as the supply chain and also model development and validation aspects.

The Group is engaged in the continuous improvement of the risk management processes and of the supporting tools, including
improvements in models, updating of policy documents, forming standardization, contractual regulation and processes as well as
conducting "new product" processes for new products or operations;

- Cybernetic risks. Intensification of the technological risks, including the increase in the means, sophistication and complexity of
cyber-attacks in Israel and globally is leading to an increase of cyber risks and to the regulators and supervisory authorities, in
Israel and globally, focusing on requlating such threats and on their supervision, as across the board threats, which, in addition to
the technological risk, may develop also into a strategic business risk. The Group has a cyber policy and strategy as well as a
multiannual work plan for improvement of cyber defense, including the strengthening of the network defense and its components,
improving forestallment and monitoring tools, identification of irregular activity and upgrading infrastructure. In view of the
potential effect of the events, the importance of verifying propriety of business continuation processes intensifies with respect to a
variety of reference scenarios, including aspects of communication regarding the flow of information at the time of the event;

- Fairness and decency - the important values of fairness, decency and transparency vis-a-vis the Bank’s customers, including the
prevention of prohibited discrimination between customers, are also a developing risk that is managed as an integral part of the
Bank’s compliance risk management. The Bank works continuously to assimilate these values across the spectrum of relevant
processes and is raising employees’ awareness to their importance.

- Protection of privacy - privacy protection considerations continue to gain force and importance both in Israel and globally, against
the background of increased digital and data use. Privacy protection regulation is undergoing numerous changes and developments
in both domestic and global legislation (GDPR). This area has been identified by the Group as a developing risk and the Group has
performed a thorough review thereof, aimed at ensuring the meeting of expectations and compliance with regulatory guidelines,
along with attending to any gaps that will be identified. The Group is working to maintain a proper balance between the use of
information for the Bank’s purposes and safeguarding the various aspects of protecting its customers’ privacy. Privacy protection
considerations constitute an important element in examining new products and/or technologies and/or services and/or models,
alongside assuring proper protection of sensitive information.

The Table of risk factors below presents the principal changes that had occurred in the Group's risk profile.

For details regarding the breakout of the Corona virus and its implications, see above "Management's handling of current material

issues" and "Principal economic developments".

Principles of Risk Management

Continuation of the global trend for the recognition of the risk management field as an essential component in the activities of a

banking corporation and for emphasizing the need of establishing the risk management concept and its integration in current

operations and in the business decision making process. The Bank is studying the various risks to which the Group is exposed from a

forward looking Group standpoint. The Board of Directors and Management apply great importance to risk management aspects and to

the absorption by the Bank and its subsidiaries of a proper risk management culture, while allotting the required resources for this

purpose and determining focuses in these fields as part of the Group goals.

High-level principles for risk managementin the Discount Group:

- Risk management is performed from a Group integrated viewpoint, cross organization, along the management echelon and across
the business units, using methodologies and consistent terms with reference to all types of risks to which the group is exposed;

- Group corporate governance, which supports the maintenance of an effective chain of control over the activity of the group, subject
to the provisions of the law;
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- Responsibility for risk management is hierarchical, where each managerial level bears responsibility for the risks existing in its
scope of operation, in a manner ensuring aggregation of risk management at all management levels up to the member of
Management in charge of the business line, including the maintenance of proper procedures for identification, measurement,
assessment, control, monitoring and reporting of risks;

- Asenior officerin the position of member of Management is in charge of each of the material risks to which the Group is exposed. He
bears the overall accountability for management of the riskin the first line of defense;

- The risk management concept supports the eligibility and improvement of decision making processes and value maximization from a
long-term viewpoint;

- The Bank's activity is conducted in accordance with the Bank's vision and the principles of the code of ethics, which express the core
values of the Bank's activity and its interface with stakeholders, customers, suppliers, employees, etc.;

- The organizational culture encourages transparency and an effective intra-organizational communication, while allowing for a
proper flow of information, including in respect of violation/failure events, to all the functions involved in the handling of risks.

- Risks are being managed while maintaining the separation of duties and controls between the defenses lines involved in the risk
management;

- A dynamic and evolving over time risk management concept in accordance with changes in the requirements of the Bank and the
Group, regulatory instructions, accepted practice in Israel and around the world and conditions in the inner and external
environment;

- Risk management is conducted on a continuous basis, from a forward looking viewpoint, which includes processes of identification,
measurement, assessment, monitoring, control and current reporting of exposure to risks, management thereof and their
implications on the risk profile, alongside the identification of materializing and new risks;

- Risk management processes are being integrated as part of the current business activity, and they are integrated into material
processes and projects at the Bank and the Group, including "new product" processes, where required;

- The risk management processes include proactive measures for risk management and for the formation of an effective
organizational culture and the integration of control culture, with an emphasis on integration of fairness and decency values into
operations and processes.

The Risk Management Division is responsible for the periodic updating of the risk appetite, in conjunction with the capital planning
process, the strategic planning and liquidity planning, in a manner that these processes be integrated, complement one another and be
managed congruently and interactively, with the objective being to marry the Group’s return and maintain its stability in a long-term
view.

The Discount Group’s risk appetite declaration is in line with the requirements of Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 310
and reflects the risk preferences of the Board of Directors, through setting limits and defining clear and easily assimilated “boundaries”
for activity and business directions and for ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements and limitations. The declaration includes
quantitative and qualitative statements relating to each of the risk areas being managed, and these constitute the basis for drawing up
risk appetite documents for the individual risk areas that include limits, goals and warning thresholds that form the outline for setting
the Group’s business policy.

The declaration’s limits are set, inter alia, based on the use of various scenarios and stress tests, which constitute a central and
important tool for assessing the risks and their potential impact on the Group’s capital. The declaration includes statements and limits
relating to a normal business situation and to a stress situation, and from a forward-looking perspective.

The risk appetite declaration and the individual risk appetite documents drawn up pursuant thereto constitute one of the main tools of
the Board of Directors for supervising that the corporation’s risk profile correlates with the set appetite, and these are monitored on an
ongoing basis and reported periodically to the Board of Directors. In accordance with the declaration, any exception to these limits is
reported to the Board of Directors, or to one of its committees, while prescribing an outline for reducing the level of risk and complying
with the limits.

The risk appetite declarations of the Group companies correspond to the Group declaration and are in alignment therewith. In December
2019, the Board of Directors approved the risk appetite declaration of the Discount Group for 2020.

During 2019 none of the limits set by the Board of Directors on this topic were exceeded.
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The risk management concept of the Group is established in a series of policy documents for the management of the various risks. These
have been approved by the Bank's Board of Directors and their aim is to outline the comprehensive infrastructure for risk management
at the Bank and in the Group. This concept includes extensive addressing of corporate governance aspects of risk management,
including the definition of authority and responsibility of the functionaries taking part in the risk management processes, definition of
the tools, methodologies and models used for the identification, measurement, evaluation, control, monitoring and reporting of
exposure to risks, including risk appetite and stress tests.

The risk management policy documents are consistent with the developing regulation in the risk management field within the given
business environment, and are delivered for adoption to the major subsidiaries, subject to the required adjustments. For additional
details regarding the various tools used in risk management and the integration of the risk culture, see "Risk management tools" and
"Risk culture and absorption of the usefulness of risk management processes" in the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar
of Basel and additional information regarding risks".

The Group maintains the current monitoring of changes in the risk profile of the Bank and of companies in the Group, based on the
Group tools and methodologies developed for the support of the monitoring of changes in risk profile, including the implementation of
identification, measurement, assessment, monitoring, control and reporting processes, which include also the follow-up of limitations,
indicators and various alert limits, including in comparison with the banking industry.

The quarterly risk document summarizes material changes that had taken place in the Group risk profile, with reference to the different
risk areas. This document serves as a supporting tool for the Board of Directors and the Management in the monitoring of developments
in the risk profile, in line with the risk appetite and with the long-term goals of the Group, while verifying the maintenance of capital
appropriateness over a period of time.

In this framework, the Bank also reviews material changes in the quality of risk management, including their impact on the quality and
effectiveness of the risk management processes, and subjects and issues are brought up, allowing the focusing of discussions and the
passing of risk based resolutions.

Once a year, the Groups conducts a process of capital adequacy evaluation, intended to verify that the capital of the Group is adequate
and supports the entirety of risks inherent in its operations, both in the ordinary course of business and in stress situations. In this
framework, the Bank tests also the quantitative effects on the capital of the Group while using different scenarios and stress tests as
detailed below.

One of the main tools for assessing the risks and their potential impact on the capital and the risk appetite is the use of stress tests with
a forward looking view point as a complementary tool for the risk management processes.

The use of stress tests is intended to provide management with a warning of unexpected severe results relating to the variety of risks,
and to provide indication of the capital that would be required to absorb losses in case of serious upheaval. Furthermore, the
importance of stress tests is reflected in challenging the capital planning processes and in determining the risk appetite for
vulnerability areas identified by the scenarios.

The Group operates within the framework of an organized methodology, which has been developed over time, and which has been
implemented at the Bank and at the Group companies for assessing the impact of the stress tests on credit risks, market risks and on
certain components of the statement of profit and loss by means of internal models which enable to examine the effects of changes in
macro-economic parameters on the statement of profit and loss items and on the equity and on identified vulnerability areas/specific
risk centers. Noted is the increased usefulness of the results of the scenarios and the stress tests as a tool in the hands of the business
factors and the risk management division, in determining specific restrictions, in defining the risk appetite and in forming alternative
plans for situations in which the risk might materialize.

In addition to macro-economic financial stress tests, the Group also conducted in 2019 stress tests regarding cyber (the uniform
scenario of the Supervisor of Banks) as well as a strategic stress test designed to examine the business model risks.
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The Basel guidelines broaden the qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements in the matter of credit risk, market risk and
operating risk exposure management. Qualitative and quantitative disclosure regarding the various risks is presented above and below
in this Chapter and in the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks". The
document is available for perusal on the Bank"s website together with the Bank's 2019 annual report (this report), on the MAGNA site
of the Israel Securities Authority, and on the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. and is comprising an integral part of the
Bank's 2019 annual report.

Credit Risks
Credit Risks and the manner of Management thereof

The credit risk management concept of the Bank and of the Group is aimed at ensuring a proper balance between the business functions,
which directly create exposure to credit risk and managing it, and the functions engaged in supervision, control and the independent
evaluation of risks, as well as the functions engaged in audit.

The core documents relating to credit include the risk appetite and credit policy document of the Discount Group, the Bank's standalone
credit policy, the credit risk management policy document and the credit policy documents of each subsidiary, which serve as the
infrastructure for credit risk management at the Bank and the Group, as well as the procedures and methodologies in the credit field
being an integral part of the management and credit granting framework, according to which operations have to be conducted.

The Discount Group bases the credit risk concept in accordance with worldwide accepted advanced methods, using models for the
assessment of risk (statistical and other) based on banking conduct, financial data and qualitative questionnaires for the assessment of
borrower risk (probability of default — PD) and the loss expected there from, inter alia, in view of the scope and quality of the collateral
(loss given default - LGD). The Bank and the Group makes use of several measurement and reporting systems supporting credit risk
management.

The organizational structure that serves the management of credit risk at the Bank includes the definition of authority and
responsibility of the functions involved in managing the risk at the Bank - the Board of Directors, Management and three separate lines
of defense:

First line of defense. The business units perform on a current basis processes for mitigating credit risk by means of the economic and
business analysis of applications for credit for assessing the credit risk involved in the operations of the borrower, credit rating and
current monitoring and control of the credit granted and the quality of the borrower.

The control units are responsible for the credit risks management related to the operations of the business divisions, as well as for the
performance of current monitoring and control processes and the writing and updating of methodologies and procedures in the credit
field. Among these units may be mentioned the credit risk management department of the Corporate Division and the control,
collection and compliance department of the Banking Division.

The credit committees discuss and take decisions regarding credit issues, both as regards new credit applications and as regards
existing indebtedness.

Second line of defense. The risk management division is responsible for the formation and updating of core documents in the credit
field, the current evaluation of the credit risk profile of the Bank and the Group, the development and implementation of internal
models for credit rating and Group methodologies for the management of credit risk. In addition, the risk management division is
responsible for the post factum examination of the manner of credit risk management at all its stages, providing assessments of specific
credit quality and the quality of the credit portfolio as a whole, as well as the rendering of opinion regarding credit transactions,
determination of credit rating, classification and allowances.
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Third line of defense. The internal audit performs sample examinations of credit files, credit granting approval processes and its
management, and checks whether work processes comply with the Bank's procedures. In addition, it performs cross-organization audits
of credit issues.

The Otzar system (new credit and attachments management system). The system is used for the management of the process for
underwriting and management of credit at the Bank and at MDB. The system has been integrated in most of the units of the Corporate
Division at Discount and in selected units of MDB, and the distribution thereof to the business centers of the Commercial Banking Wing
is planned for 2020.

The infrastructure that had been developed serves as a platform for reporting to the Supervisor of Banks with respect to the credit field
and enables real-time computerized monitoring of internal and regulatory restrictions.

Adoption of updates to the generally accepted accounting principles at
banks in the U. S. - allowances for credit losses — the Bank’s preparations

On March 28, 2018, the Supervisor of Banks published a letter in this matter, according to which, as part of the transition of financial
reporting to the full adoption of the accounting principles accepted by U.S. banks, banking corporations and credit card companies are
required to make preparations for the application of the updates to accounting principles accepted by U.S. banks regarding allowances
for current expected credit losses (CECL) - adoption of the update to accounting standard ASU 2016-13. The standard is to be applied as
from January 1, 2022 and thereafter.

The Bank has appointed the Chief Risk Officer as responsible for the project. Also appointed was a manager for the project and a steering
committee has been established headed by the CRO with the participation of the Chief Accounting Officer and representatives of the
Bank's divisions and of the Group's companies. In addition, joint internal work teams for the Bank and for MDB have been appointed for
the examination of the different aspects relating to the implementation of the Standard.

The work teams are making progress in the examination of the manner of implementation of the Standard, including implementation
alternatives, in choosing a methodology for the measurement and assessment of the different credit portfolios, formation of work plans
for elimination of gaps existing in comparison with the present situation. Moreover, alternatives are examined for a technological
solution (information system) supporting the implementation of the Standard.

As required by the Directive, the progress of the project is being reported on a quarterly basis, to the Board of Directors and to the
Supervisor of Banks.
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Credit Quality and Problematic Credit Risk

Problematic Credit Risk and Non-Performing Assets

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Commercial Housing Private Total Commercial Housing Private Total
In NIS millions

Credit risk in Credit Granting Rating
Balance sheet credit risk 119,625 34,684 31,778 186,088 110,966 30,608 29,617 171,190
Off-balance sheet credit risk 44,021 3,344 35,466 82,830 41,886 2,488 32,566 76,941
Total credit risk in Credit Granting Rating 163,646 38,028 67,244 268,918 152,852 33,096 62,183 248,131
Credit risk not in Credit Granting Rating:
1. Not problematic 2,178 2,097 1,450 5,724 2,760 1,977 438 5,225
2. Problematic
Special Mention® 1,476 153 235 1,864 1,033 156 259 1,448
Substandard 653 225 136 1,014 319 184 147 650
Impaired 41,635 - 189 1,824 41,488 - 155 1,643
Total problematic? 3,764 378 560 4,702 2,840 340 561 3,741
Total balance sheet credit risk 5,942 2,475 2,010 10,426 5,600 2,317 1,049 8,966
Off-balance sheet credit risk 938 700 131 1,770 1,002 477 309 1,787
Total credit risk not in Credit Granting
Rating 6,880 3,175 2,141 12,196 6,602 2,793 1,358 10,753
Of which: non-impaired debts in arrears of 90
days or more® 62 359 57 478 58 316 61 435
Total overall credit risk of the public 170,526 41,203 69,385 281,114 159,454 35,889 63,541 258,384
Additional information concerning
nonperforming assets:
Impaired debts - not accruing interest income 41,068 - 108 1,176 41923 - 98 1,021
Footnotes:

(1) Credit risk, the credit rating thereof at date of reporting matches the credit rating for the granting of new credit in accordance with the Bank's policy.

(2)  Impaired, Substandard or Special Mention credit risk.

(3)  Including in respect of housing loans, in respect of which an allowance is made according to the extent of arrears, and housing loans in respect of which no

allowance is made according to the extent of arrears and are in arrears of 90 days or more.

(4)  Including non-accruing corporate bonds in the amount of NIS 10 million (December 31, 2018 — non-accruing corporate bonds of NIS 10 million).
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Changes in Balances of Impaired Debts
2019 2018
Commercial Private Total Commercial Private Total
In NIS millions
Change in impaired debts (In respect of credit to the public
only):
Balance of impaired debts as of the beginning of the year 1,478 155 1,633 2,042 88 2,130
An addition stemming from the merger of Municipal Bank 1 - 1 - - -
Debts classified as impaired during the period 749 301 1,050 533 275 808
Debts no longer classified as impaired (2) = (2) (78) (2) (80)
Impaired debts written off (206) (209) (415) (246) (169) (415)
Impaired debts settled (383) (58) (441) (802) (37) (839)
Other (12) = (12) 29 - 129
Balance of impaired debts as of end of the period 1,625 189 1,814 1,478 155 1,633
Of which: movement in restructured troubled debts
Balance of restructured troubled debts at beginning of the year 1,094 131 1,225 1,546 71 1,617
An addition stemming from the merger of Municipal Bank 1 - 1 - - -
Debt restructurings performed during the period 222 104 326 274 119 393
Debts that have again been classified to unimpaired due to a
following restructuring - - - (54) (1) (55)
Restructured troubled debt written off (23) (40) (63) (184) (25) (209)
Restructured troubled debt settled (352) (32) (384) (478) (28) (506)
Other (57) (5) (62) (10) (5) 1(15)
Balance of restructured troubled debts at the end of the
period 885 158 1,043 1,094 131 1,225
Changes in allowances for credit losses on impaired debts:
Balance of allowance for credit losses as of the beginning of the
year 169 54 223 163 25 188
Increase in allowances 284 154 438 301 83 384
Collections and write-offs (212) (142) (354) (295) (54) (349)
Balance of allowance for credit losses as of end of the
period 241 66 307 169 54 223
Footnote:
(1) Reclassified - Improvement in the calculation of the data.
Several financial ratios used to evaluate the quality of the credit portfolio
December December
31,2019 31,2018
Ratio of balance of impaired credit to the public to balance of credit to the public 0.99% 0.98%
Ratio of balance of non-impaired credit to the public, in arrears for 90 days or more, to balance of credit to the
public 0.26% 0.26%
Ratio of balance of allowance for credit losses in respect of credit to the public, to balance of credit to the public 1.38% 1.36%
Ratio of balance of allowance for credit losses in respect of credit to the public to balance of impaired credit to the
public 139.14% 139.25%
Ratio of problematic credit risk in respect of the public to the total credit risk in respect of the public 1.81% M1.59%
Ratio of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit to the public 0.40% 0.34%
Ratio of net accounting write-offs in respect of credit to the public to the average balance of credit to the public 0.23% 0.26%
Ratio of net accounting write-offs in respect of credit to the public to the balance of allowance for credit losses in
respect of credit to the public 15.69% 18.25%
The ratio of the balance of allowance for credit losses in respect of credit to the public, to the balance of impaired
credit to the public together with the balance of credit to the public in arrears for 90 days and over 110.12% 109.96%
Ratio of the balance of impaired credit to the public together with the balance of credit to the public in arrears for
90 days and over, to balance of credit to the public 1.25% 1.24%
The ratio of the outstanding balance of noninterest bearing impaired credit to the public to total credit to the public 0.64% 0.61%

Footnote:
(1) The calculation has been improved following reclassification.

The decrease in the rate of net write-offs in respect of credit to the public from the balance of the allowance for credit losses in respect
of credit to the public stems from the decrease in net write-offs and from an increase in the balance of the overall allowance.
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Credit risk by economic sectors — consolidated

December 31, 2019

Credit Losses®

Net
Accounting
Of Which : Write-Offs Balance of
Total Credit Of Which: Periodic Recognized Allowance
Credit  Granting Of Which: Credit Risk Credit Loss during the for Credit
RiskM@)©) Rating® Problematic'® Impaired Expenses Period Losses
in NIS millions
Industry 13,646 12,961 564 179 24 23 242
Construction and Real Estate - Construction'® 31,156 30,661 323 207 82 8 265
Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate
Activity 12,254 11,907 248 192 (37) (22) 85
Commerce 21,600 20,972 482 205 125 69 393
Communication and Computer Services 2,322 2,215 64 60 (33) 3 100
Financial Services!” 14,020 13,645 359 300 (4) 1 92
Other Business Services 31,281 30,378 642 264 159 75 300
Total Commercial 126,279 122,739 2,682 1,407 316 157 1,477
Private Individuals - Housing Loans 40,964 37,809 372 - 28 7 205
Private Individuals - Other 67,335 65,196 565 189 312 252 709
Total Public 234,578 225,744 3,619 1,596 656 416 2,391
Banks in Israel and Government of Israel 27,806 27,806 - = = = =
Total Lending Activity in Israel 262,384 253,550 3,619 1,596 656 416 2,391
Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of
Israel 46,536 43,174 1,459 321 34 (20) 356
Banks and Governments Outside of Israel 7,286 7,249 37 36 - - 1
Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 53,822 50,423 1,496 357 34 (20) 357
Total 316,206 303,973 5,115 1,953 690 396 2,748
Footnotes:

(1) Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk, including in respect of derivative instruments. Including: Debts!?, bonds, securities borrowed or purchased
under resale agreements, assets in respect of derivative instruments, and credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for
single borrower liability limitation, guarantees and liabilities on account of clients in an amount of NIS 189,214 million, NIS 36,765 million, NIS 531 million, NIS
4,545 million, NIS 85,151 million, respectively.

(2) Credit to the Public, Credit to Governments, deposits with banks and other debts, excluding investments in bonds and securities borrowed or purchased under
resale and assets in respect of Maof Market operations.

(3) Including in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments (stated in the balance sheet under "Other liabilities").

(4) Credit risk, the credit rating thereof at date of reporting matches the credit rating for the granting of new credit in accordance with the Bank's policy of the Bank.

(5) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, which is impaired, substandard or under special mention, including in respect of housing loans, in respect of
which an allowance is made according to the extent of arrears, and housing loans in respect of which no allowance is made according to the extent of arrears,
and are in arrears of 90 days or more.

(6) Includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 91 million, which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of
construction.

(7) Including mortgage backed securities in the amount of NIS 5,656 million, issued by GNMA and in the amount of NIS 711 million, issued by FNMA and FHLMC.

(8) Including credit facilities guaranteed by banks outside the Group in the amount of NIS 6,845 million.

(9) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 233 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of

commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries [
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 Board of Directors and Management Report 63

Credit risk by economic sectors — consolidated (continued)

December 31, 2018

Credit Losses®

Net
Accounting
Of Which : Write-Offs Balance of
Total Credit Of Which: Periodic Recognized Allowance
Credit  Granting Of Which: Credit Risk Credit Loss during the for Credit
RiskM@)©) Rating® Problematic'® Impaired Expenses Period Losses
in NIS millions
Industry 14,721 13,967 447 73 23 12 241
Construction and Real Estate - Construction'® 28,498 27,865 316 122 25 9 190
Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate
Activity 10,986 10,542 314 283 (14) (14) 98
Commerce 19,888 18,991 389 258 B 40 334
Communication and Computer Services 2,359 2,179 125 122 134 123 136
Financial Services!” 14,144 13,780 301 298 = (1) 98
Other Business Services 25,579 24,386 360 213 64 39 199
Total Commercial 116,175 111,710 2,252 1,369 237 208 1,296
Private Individuals - Housing Loans 35,676 32,906 334 - 23 14 184
Private Individuals - Other 61,588 60,265 566 155 340 249 648
Total Public 213,439 204,881 3,152 1,524 600 471 2,128
Banks in Israel and Government of Israel 28,439 28,428 - - - - -
Total Lending Activity in Israel 241,878 233,309 3,152 1,524 600 471 2,128
Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of
Israel 45,445 43,250 (101978 186 (60) (56) 322
Banks and Governments Outside of Israel 7,050 6,981 69 69 - - 1
Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 52,495 50,231 1,047 255 (60) (56) 323
Total 294,373 283,540 4,199 1,779 540 415 2,451
Footnotes:

(1)

S

[

Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk, including in respect of derivative instruments. Including: Debts'?, bonds, securities borrowed or purchased
under resale agreements, assets in respect of derivative instruments, and credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for
single borrower liability limitation, guarantees and liabilities on account of clients in an amount of NIS 172,917 million, NIS 36,859 million, NIS 774 million, NIS
3,726 million, NIS 80,097 million, respectively.

Credit to the Public, Credit to Governments, deposits with banks and other debts, excluding investments in bonds and securities borrowed or purchased under
resale and assets in respect of Maof Market operations.

Including in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments (stated in the balance sheet under "Other liabilities").

Credit risk, the credit rating thereof at date of reporting matches the credit rating for the granting of new credit in accordance with the Bank's policy of the
Bank.

Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, which is impaired, substandard or under special mention, including in respect of housing loans, in respect of
which an allowance is made according to the extent of arrears, and housing loans in respect of which no allowance is made according to the extent of arrears,
and are in arrears of 90 days or more.

Including acquisition groups in an amount of NIS 59 million.

Including mortgage backed securities in the amount of NIS 5,933 million, issued by GNMA and in the amount of NIS 1,086 million, issued by FNMA and
FHLMC.

Including credit facilities guaranteed by banks outside the Group in the amount of NIS 5,673 million.

The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 235 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction.

(10) Reclassified - following improvement of data of a subsidiary.
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Exposure to Foreign Countries - Consolidated

United States 15,284 8,094 23,378 13,793 6,766 20,559
Other 5,966 (815,451 11,417 7,219 15,329 12,548
Total exposure to foreign countries!" 21,250 13,545 34,795 21,012 12,095 33,107
Of which - Total exposure to the PIGS countries® 19 340 359 8 381 389
Of which - Total exposure to LDC countries® 577 203 780 755 250 1,005
Notes:

(1) Exposure to countries where the total amount of exposure to each of them exceeds 1% of the total consolidated assets or more than 20% of the equity,
whichever is the lower. Based on the final risk, net of the effect of guarantees, liquid collateral and credit derivatives.

(2) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, Problematic credit risk and impaired debts are presented before the impact of the allowance for credit losses
and before the impact of collateral that are deductible for the purpose of a borrower or a group of borrowers liability.

(3) Credit risk of off-balance sheet financial instruments as computed for the purpose of borrower indebtedness limitations.

(4) Portugal, Italy, Greece and Spain.

(5) Including the transfer of credit risk to a consortium of international insurers in the following countries: Switzerland — an amount of NIS 2,098 million and
Germany — an amount of NIS 1,830 million.

(6) The item “Total exposure to LDC countries” includes the total exposure to countries defined as less developed countries (LDC) which are countries classified
by the world bank as having low or medium income.

(7) Reclassified - improvement of the classification, taking into account the guarantees granted.

Credit Exposure to Foreign Financial Institutions

General. Foreign financial institutions include: banks, investment banks, brokers/dealers, insurance companies, institutional entities

and entities controlled by the said entities.

As opposed to the definition of the "financial services" economic sector for the purpose of disclosure in the Management Review

concerning the "Overall credit risk according to economic sectors", the exposure in respect of foreign financial institutions presented in

the table hereunder includes exposure to foreign banks and to foreign investment banks, which, on the one hand, are not included in

credit to the public, and on the other hand, does not include exposure in respect of investment in asset backed securities and in respect

of potential off-balance sheet exposure.

The manner of managing credit risk applying to foreign financial institutions. The Bank's policy with regard to various exposures to

foreign banks and financial institutions, has been re-examined, and is reflected in the following items:

- The Bank has adopted a conservative policy as regards management of exposure to foreign banks and financial institutions;

- The allocation of credit facilities to foreign banks is strictly and conservatively conducted, using mathematical auxiliary tools that
had been re-examined and which have recently been validated;

- Deposits by the Bank are made on a selective basis, mainly at banks in the U.S. and Britain, having a rating of "BBB+" at the least;

- (lose management of the volume of foreign currency deposits abroad;

- The Bank has adopted a policy according to which exposure to financial derivatives requires a signed ISDA agreement with every
financialinstitution with which the Bank enters into transactions of this kind;

- The clearing risks facilities are individually examined, with the clear aim of significantly reducing clearing risks, while using the CLS
tool, being a central tool for mutual dual clearing;

- Apolicy has been adopted regarding exposure to less developed countries (LDC). This policy defines exposure at low amounts and
for relatively short terms;

- A methodical and close management utilizing upgraded monitoring, supervision and control systems, and cooperation of all
involved factors at the Bank and the Group;

- An information system that assists in obtaining a picture on a Group basis regarding exposure to foreign banks and financial
institutions.

With respect to the management of exposure to foreign financial institutions, it should be noted that:

- Areduction in the rating of a foreign bank, change in market data and/or deterioration in its financial data are weighted into the
model, and where necessary, the Bank reduces its credit facility accordingly;

- The financial institutions unit of the Financial Markets Division allocates the credit facilities approved by the Board between
members of the Group, and the various units at the Bank, including the Bank’s dealing room for which the Financial Markets Division
is responsible.
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Credit exposure to foreign financial institutions. The Bank’s credit exposure to foreign financial institutions comprises mostly of
exposure to banks and investment banks. As seen from the data presented hereunder, about 87% of the exposure as of December 31,
2019, is to financial institutions rated "A-"rating or higher.

The states in respect of which the Bank has exposure as stated above as of December 31, 2019, include, inter-alia the United States and
Great Britain.

In 2019, impairment of securities was not made with respect to the exposure to financial institutions.

Present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions, on a consolidated basis

Present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions®
External credit rating”!

AAA to AA- 667 102 769
A+ to A- 2,750 468 3,218
BBB+ to BBB- 401 6 407
BB+ to B- 8 8 11
Not rated 155 27 182
Total present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions 3,976 611 4,587
Balance of problematic bonds 37 - 37

Present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions"®
External credit rating”

AAA to AA- 709 100 809
A+ to A- 3,301 365 3,666
BBB+ to BBB- 518 3 521
BB+ to B- 3 57 60
Not rated 37 35 72
Total present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions 4,568 560 5,128
Balance of problematic bonds 69 = 69
Notes:

(1) Foreign financial institutions include: banks, investment banks, brokers/dealers, insurance companies, institutional entities and entities controlled by the said entities.
) Deposits with banks, credit to the public, investment in bonds, securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements and other assets in respect of derivative instruments.
(3) Mainly guarantees, including guarantees securing third party indebtedness.
) Credit exposures and problematic credit risk are presented before the effect of allowance for credit losses and before deductions as defined in Section 5 of Proper Conduct of Banking
Business Directive No. 313.
(5) For further information regarding the composition of the credit exposure reflected in the table showing derivative instruments in relation to banks/dealers/brokers, see Note 28 to the
financial statements.
(6) Credit exposure does not include exposure to financial institutions that have explicit and full government guarantees, and does not include investment in assets backed securities (for
additional details regarding assets backed securities, see Note 12 to the financial statements).
(7) According to Moody's rating, and in its absence, the Fitch rating or S&P.

In addition to the exposure presented in the above table, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 a potential off-balance sheet exposure
exists in respect of derivative instruments of foreign banks (as defined in Section (4)(a) to the definition of indebtedness in Proper
Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 313 regarding "Restrictions on indebtedness of a single borrower and of a group of
borrowers"), namely, variable percentage of the outstanding balance of a future transaction, in the amount of NIS 94 million and NIS
167 million, respectively.

Credit Risk in Housing Loans

General. The data presented hereunder relate to all the activity of the Group in this field: the Bank, MDB and IDB New York (hereinafter
will be named together as "the Group"). It is noted though, that the data relating to IDB New York are negligible (housing credit in the
amount of NIS 184 million as of December 31, 2019 and NIS 147 million as of December 31, 2018).

Developments in the field of housing loans. A growth was recorded in recent years in the demand and in the volume housing loans
granted. This stemmed from increasing demand in the housing market and from rising prices resulting from the shortage in the supply
in residential units in relation to the said demand.
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The growth recorded in the volume of housing loans granted by the banking industry, which exceeds the economic growth rates and the
growth rates in the standard of living and in household income, together with a scenario of a rise in unemployment and in interest
rates, may lead to impairment in the quality of the housing credit portfolio and may increase exposure to credit risk in the banking
industry. The granting of mortgage loans in 2019 registered a high record amounting to NIS 67 billion. Inter alia, the progress made by
projects relating to the "Price to the purchaser" plan contributed in 2019 to approx. 12% of total loans granted.
Measures taken by the Group. The credit policy defines the criteria required for ensuring the quality of credit and reducing the risks
derived there from, including the rules for examination of the repayment ability of borrowers and guarantors for the debt, the hierarchy
of authority, classes of collateral securing the credit, the pricing of credit as well as the principles of management, monitoring and
control over the credit and collateral. Limits and restrictions have also been determined with respect to the repayment ratio, the
financing rate, the rating of the transaction, mix of the credit portfolio, bridging loans, and geographical distribution. Furthermore,
cross limits have been determined in respect of a part of the said parameters.

In addition, the following actions are taken:

- The Group conducts credit quality control prior to the granting of the credit, by means of a back-office layout, which includes credit
underwriting unit, legal underwriting and an examination unit. Mortgage loans having a high risk profile are approved by means of
a specialized approval center;

- The use of "safety factors" (durability tests) in the loan approval process. Prior to approval of the loan facility, the Group studies
possible implications that might arise from theoretical changes in market variables (principally, an increase of 2-3 basis points in
the annualinterest rate in loans bearing variable interest rates) on the repayment ability of the borrower.

Reduction in the volume of credit granted in loan lanes where the interest rates changes in accordance with the restriction
determined by the Supervisor of banks;

- Determination of exposure policy in respect of special segments: acquisition groups, foreign residents, all-purpose loans, etc. In
loans financing the purchase of luxury properties, the Bank applies a stringent scale of authority;

- Current use of theoretical scenarios, including stress tests, for the sensitivity analysis of anticipated changes in the Bank’s exposure
to credit risk, as a derivative of changes in the tested parameters;

- Conducting the monitoring of key risk indicators (KRI's), and additional parameters including, in the case of developments in the
housing market, the employment market and the volume of arrears concerning loans granted by the Bank and by the banking
industry;

- Entering into specific arrangements with borrowers who meet difficulties in honoring the periodic repayment terms of the original
loans;

- Updating credit application rating model for mortgages;

- Use of computerized tools in order to mitigate credit risks and mitigate operational risks.

The volume of the Group’s housing loan portfolio as of December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 37,392 million (December 31, 2018 - NIS

33,159 million).

Certain risk characteristics of the Group’s housing loans portfolio

Rate of housing loans financing over 75% of the value of the property 2.0 2.5
Rate of housing loans, the monthly repayment amount of each exceeds 35% of the income of the borrower 8.8 9.6
Rate of housing loans carrying variable interest rate of the total amount of the housing loan portfolio 59.2 59.4
Footnote:

(1) Loans in which the interest rate change frequency exceeds five years were also included in computing the ratio.

Amount of loans and average financing ratios

Average amount of loan (in NIS thousands) 800 752
Average financing ratio for housing loans (in %) 54.7 55.1
Average financing ratio for general purpose loans (in %) 28.2 34.5
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Division of housing credit balances according to size of credit to borrowers

December 31,

2019 2018
% of total % of total

InNIS  Housing InNIS Housing
Credit limit net"@ (in NIS thousands) millions Credit millions Credit
Up to 1,200 29,342 78.9 26,345 79.9
Between 1,200 and 4,000 7,408 19.9 6,212 18.8
Over 4,000 434 1.2 414 1.3
Total 37,184 100.0 32,971 100.0
Of which:
Housing loans that were granted abroad 184 147
Footnotes:

(1) The balance of credit is after deduction of allowance for credit losses in the amount of NIS 208 million (31.12.2018: NIS 188 million).

(2)  The outstanding balance of credit to the public includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 233 million, which are integrate in the transactions and security
layout of the business of commercial borrowers, or which have been granted to acquisition groups, the projects being constructed by them are in stage of
construction (December 31,2018:NIS 235 million).

Volume of problematic debts in housing loans

Balance Balance of
of credit Balance of allowances Ratio of
to the problematic  for credit problematic
As at public® credit”  losses®?® debt
Change in
December 31 In NIS millions %
2019 37,392 4378 78 1.0
2018 33,159 4340 72 1.0

Footnotes:

(1) Recorded amount.

(2)  As at December 31, 2019 the balance of the allowance includes an allowance in accordance with the extent of arrears in an amount of NIS 74 million, and also
an allowance over the extent of arrears in an amount of NIS 4 million (as of December 31, 2018: NIS 68 million and NIS 4 million, respectively).

(3)  Not including group allowance in a percentage of 0.35% from the credit balance in respect of which on allowance in accordance with the extent of arrears
was not made, in amount of NIS 130 million as at December 31, 2019.(as at December 31, 2018: NIS 116 million).

(4)  Including an amount of NIS 19 million, defined as problematic credit, which is not in arrears (December 31, 2018: NIS 24 million).

(5)  The outstanding balance of credit to the public includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 233 million, which are integrate in the transactions and security
layout of the business of commercial borrowers, or which have been granted to acquisition groups, the projects being constructed by them are in stage of
construction (December 31,2018:NIS 235 million).

Distribution of housing credit granted, according to financing ratios and as a ratio of credit granted

2019 2018

% of total % of total
In NIS Housing In NIS Housing
Loan to value (LTV) ratio” millions Credit millions Credit
Up to 45% 2,265 27.8 1,979 27.1
Between 45% and 60% 2,906 35.6 2,780 38.2
Over 60% 2,980 36.6 2,531 34.7
Total 8,151 100.0 7,290 100.0

Footnote:
(1) The loan to value (LTV) ratio is computed in respect of the purchased asset and does not include additional collateral, if granted.

The average loan period of housing loans at the Bank in 2019, was 20.5 years, compared with 21.8 years in the industry. The amount of
credit for a period of over twenty years amounted to 48% of the whole credit portfolio of housing loans.

The data regarding the distribution of extended credit as of December 31, 2019, by period of loan shows that the granting of loans in
2019 for periods of over twenty years reached a rate of 58% of the portfolio.
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Developments in housing credit balances according to linkage segments

2019 10,199 14,889 67.5 4,597 7,332 32.1 21 146 0.4 37,184
2018 8,605 13,357 66.6 4,411 6,402 32.8 2 194 0.6 32,971
Footnotes:

(1) The outstanding balance of credit to the public includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 233 million, which are intergrated in the transactions and security
layout of the business of commercial borrowers, or which have been granted to acquisition groups, the projects being constructed by them are in stage of
construction (December 31,2018:NIS 235 million).

(2)  The balance of credit is after deduction of allowance for credit losses of NIS 208 million (December 31,2018: NIS 188 million).

Most of the loans are granted for an initial period of up to 25 years. The average period of the loan at the Bank is slightly lower than that
of the industry.

The outstanding balance as of December 31, 2019, of the housing loans portfolio according to the present period to maturity of over 20
years, amount to NIS 12.3 billion, comprising 46% of the total housing loans portfolio.

Composition of loans granted for housing purposes, divided by the ratio of repayments to earnings

Up to 40% 7,266 99.6 6,670 99.9
Over 40% 31 0.4 6 0.1
Total 7,297 100.0 6,676 100.0
Footnote:

(1) The amount of loans granted do not include loans secured by a mortgage on a residential unit, balloon loans and bullet loans.

In accordance with the directives, the repayment ratio is restricted to 50%. The capital allocation required for loans with a repayment
ratio in excess of 40% stands at 100%, with this not being connected to the requested financing rate. Against the background of these
requirements, the granting of housing loans at a rate in excess of 40% is negligible.

Credit Risk of Private Individuals (excluding Housing Credit Risk)

General. The data presented in his item comprise data of operation in Israel, excluding housing loans, and they include the Bank and
MDB. Certain data relating to credit to private individuals at ICC is presented separately hereunder, in accordance with available data of
ICC.

Definitions. Following are the definitions used in the preparation of this report:

"Amount of income per account" - average income of a recurring pattern from salaries, annuities, transfers and deposits, after
elimination of exceptional amounts.

"Balance-Sheet credit upper limit" - in accordance with the reporting to the Supervisor of Banks under Reporting to the Supervisor of
Banks Directive No. 836 - current account balances, credit cards and loans. Excluding non-utilized facilities of current account and
credit cards.

"Financial assets portfolio" - the financial assets portfolio related to the account of the customer: financial deposits (including current
account balance), securities portfolio and other financial assets.
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Distribution by customer's fixed income and by financial assets portfolio related to the account

Balance Sheet Credit Risk

Financial assets

portfolio
Greater
Less than than Total Total off- Total
NIS 50 NIS 50 balance balance credit
thousand thousand credit risk credit risk risk
Balance in NIS million
December 31, 2019
Level of income to the account
Excluding permanent income to the account 1,507 198 1,705 541 2,246
Less than NIS 10 thousand 5,072 948 6,020 3,379 9,399
Greater than NIS 10 thousand, but less than
NIS 20 thousand 4,394 1,567 5,961 3,251 9,212
Greater than NIS 20 thousand 3,692 2,442 6,134 3,909 10,043
Total 14,665 5,155 19,820 11,080 30,900
December 31, 2018
Level of income to the account
Excluding permanent income to the account 1,253 175 1,428 746 2,174
Less than NIS 10 thousand 5,320 974 6,294 3,218 9,512
Greater than NIS 10 thousand, but less than
NIS 20 thousand 4,238 1,485 5,723 3,013 8,736
Greater than NIS 20 thousand 3,305 2,183 5,488 3,569 9,057
Total 14,116 4,817 18,933 10,546 29,479
Additional quantitative characteristics
Distribution by the average remaining period to maturity
December 31,
2019 2018

Balance of loans

Fixed maturity date

in NIS millions

Up to 1 year 1,591 1,522
Over 1 year and up to 3 years 5,210 4,950
Over 3 years and up to 5 years 4,648 4,509
Over 5 years 2,482 2,435
Total 13,931 13,416

Itis noted that the above Table presents the distribution relating only to loans, while the remaining Tables present distribution relating
to the maximum balance-sheet credit, which includes also current account balances and credit cards.

Distribution by size of credit to the borrower

December 31,

2019 2018
Balance sheet credit upper limit (NIS thousands) in NIS million
Up to 40 3,942 3,870
Between 40 and 150 10,227 9,638
Over 150 5,651 5,425
Total 19,820 18,933
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Distribution by exposure to changes in interest rates

December 31,

2019 2018

in NIS million
Fixed interest credit 6,071 5,930
Variable interest credit 13,749 13,003
Total 19,820 18,933

Distribution of collateral securing the credit

December 31,
2019 2018
Total collateral

Type of collateral in NIS millions

Liquid financial assets 1,514 1,492
Other collateral 821 819
Total 2,335 2,311

Development of problematic credit risk in respect of private individuals

Rate from total
balance-sheet to credit

to the public

December 31, December 31,
2019 2018 Change in 2019 2018

in NIS million % %

Problematic credit risk 262 255 2.7 1.3 1.3
Of which: impaired credit risk 133 109 21.5 0.7 0.6
Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 57 61 (6.6) 0.3 0.3
Net accounting write-offs 150 160 (6.5) 0.8 0.8
Balance of allowance for credit losses 401 376 6.4 2.0 2.0

Credit risk regarding the purchase of motor vehicles. The balance of credit granted for the purchase of motor vehicles (in the Bank
and MDB), pledged, amounted to NIS 956 million at December 31, 2019, compared with NIS 720 million as of December 31, 2018, an
increase of 32.8%.

Background

Credit products. The credit activity in this field is conducted in three principal channels: current account credit facilities, credit card
facilities and loans. The loans comprise the major part of consumer credit balances, and are usually granted in amounts of less than NIS
50 thousand and for short periods (mostly up to five years). The market share of loan operations conducted outside the branch premises
rises gradually year by year and constitutes a central layer of the total consumer credit activity.

Credit underwriting. Over the years, the Bank has developed advanced models for the assessment of risk relating to a customer seeking
credit. The underwriting processes in respect of consumer credit at the Bank are accompanied by wide use of the model products and are
conducted in accordance with the Bank's credit policy, carefully modifying the product to the needs of the customer.

Credit underwriting at the branches is comprised of two layers: the one - underwriting under authority, performed at the discretion of
an authorized factor using indications and products of models as to the risk rating of the customer, his repayment ability, as well as
additional indications required in accordance with the customer's risk and the amount of the loan. The other — automatic underwriting,
being performed generally in the case of loans in relatively small amounts and in accordance with the recommendation of the model,
which takes into consideration the risk level of the customer, his repayment ability and the past experience of the Bank with the
borrower.
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The rate of credit to households has grown significantly since the beginning of the previous decade. This growth was accompanied also
by the growth in borrowers' leverage (as transpires from the Bank of Israel reviews). Most of the growth in credit to households in Israel
stems from housing loans (about two thirds of credit granted to households). At the same time, the credit to households granted by off-
banking entities continued to grow, though its share is still low in relation to banking credit.

Determining underwriting thresholds. Within the framework of determining the risk appetite, underwriting thresholds have been set,
which reflect the maximum level of risk in which new consumer credit may be provided. Deviation from these rules is possible only in
exceptional cases and in limited amounts, while ascending the authorization scale.

Models and analytical tools. The process of determining the consumer credit risk at the Bank is accompanied by statistical models,
which calculate the credit risk assessments (LGD and PD) that forecast the customer's risk level and the marginal transaction. The
models are based upon variables referring to the characteristics of the customer, his repayment ability, financial stability and his
banking past. The models are being updated from time to time in accordance with market changes, state of the borrowers and additional
factors.

Effective measurement. All business units at the Bank are being measured on a current basis by the quality of the consumer credit
portfolio under their responsibility, and by their adherence to the underwriting rules. All functions related to credit underwriting have
defined indices, the aim of which is maintaining the quality of the portfolio and the wide distribution of credit to the extent possible.
Use of information obtained from the credit data base. Credit underwriting if performed using information obtained from the data
base, subject to minimum levels of materiality, as defined by the Bank and to limitations set by law.

In accordance with guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, criteria for the initiation and marketing of credit to the private individual
customer population were defined, in respect thereof the Bank is permitted to initiate offers for the granting of credit. The rules are
based upon the risk level of the customer as well as on the advisability of accepting the loan on the part of the customer.

The approach to the customer is made according to conversation scenarios that include proper disclosure of the loan terms, needs of the
customer and his characteristics as well as mention of the assets and liabilities stated in the customer's account.

It is noted that the fairness principle as regards the customer, has been defined both as part of the risk appetite of the Discount Group
and as part of the credit underwriting policy regarding private customers.

The principle of fairness and decency as regards debtors is being applied both while they are being handled under the responsibility of
the managing branch as well as after passing them on for legal proceedings by the law offices engaged by the Bank. The guideline is to
try and reach an arrangement with each debtor in default, which meets his capabilities and his repayment ability.

The Bank implements the requirements of the Fair Credit Act. For details regarding this Act, see "Legislation and supervision"
hereunder.

The Bank performs on a current basis, control over the quality of underwriting, adherence to policy rules and proper disclosure rules.
Controlis performed by means of compliance officers in the business units, credit controllers and the internal audit.
Current monitoring is also performed with respect to the quality of the consumer credit portfolio at the Bank.

For details regarding loans to private individuals portfolio (excluding housing loans), see the risks report.

A growth at the rate of 15.1% was recorded in 2019 in the balance of credit granted to private individuals in ICC. This credit amounted
on December 31, 2019 to NIS 9,113 million, compared to NIS 7,890 million on December 31, 2018. The interest bearing credit to private
individuals as of December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 5,460 million, compared with NIS 4,744 at the end of 2018 (an increase of



72

15.1%), and comprises 59.9% of total credit to private individuals at the responsibility of ICC, most of which is credit carrying variable
interest rates regarding credit transactions, revolving credit card transactions, loans, designated credit for the purchase of vehicles and
other transactions. The remaining credit to private individuals amounted to NIS 3,653 million, as compared to NIS 3,146 million as of
December 31, 2018 (an increase of approx. 35.6%). This credit does not carry interest, reflecting balances of regular transactions,
installment transaction on account of the trading house and other transactions. The major part of credit losses stems from interest
bearing credit.

A decline was recorded in 2019 in the volume of credit losses in respect of private individuals. Credit losses in respect of private
individuals amounted in 2019 to NIS 137 million, compared to NIS 147 million in 2018, a decrease of 6.8%. As estimated by the
Management of ICC, credit losses have increased in recent years due to the growth in the credit portfolio of ICC and from the average
volume of credit granted to the individual customer in this portfolio, from a decline in the rate of debt collection, mainly through law
offices, which, inter alia, resulted from heavier regulation in the field of debt collection procedures as well as from changes in market
practices in relation to accepted past practices. ICC has made and continues to make arrangements to cope with these changes through
various means.

Credit risk in relation to the Construction and Real Estate Sector

The construction and real estate sectors are a central component in the Bank’s credit portfolio, and most of the credit to these sectors is
managed by the Real Estate and Infrastructure department in the Corporate Division, which possesses a high level of expertise and
considerable experience in this field. The Bank’s activities in this field are subject to a regulatory limit that prescribes that the weight of
local real estate activities shall not exceed 20% of the total credit; in addition, the Bank has set itself a more stringent internal limit
that serves as a threshold alert. The Bank complies with the said limitations.

Moreover, the credit policy for the sector focuses on financing activities in Israel, while giving priority to long-established borrowers
having a high level of financial strength, with whom the Bank has positive business experience. The financing of entrepreneur
residential construction projects and income generating real-estate projects is conducted by the closed loan method, under minimum
requirements, including equity capital, minimal estimated profitability, compliance with stress tests (inter alia, price reduction
scenarios), price reduction absorption ability, early sales and more - for a fuller explanation, see the “Construction and Real Estate
Activity” under “Additional Details Regarding the Business of the Banking Corporation and Management Thereof” chapter.

Total credit and percentage of problematic credit in the construction and real estate sector

Income generating real estate 11,363 244 2.1 10,406 283 2.7
Construction — general building contracting 2,186 126 5.8 1,545 165 10.7
Residential projects financing 24,294 b5 0.2 19,988 41 0.2
Acquisition of building land 5,605 26 0.5 4,851 19 0.4
Subcontracting 2,615 137 5.2 2,625 114 4.3
Civil engineering work 2,858 30 1.0 3,462 58 1.7
Other 4,602 83 1.8 4,921 92 1.9
Total@ 53,523 701 1.3 47,798 772 1.6
Footnotes:

(1) Balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet credit to the public, excluding financial derivatives.

(2)  The data in this table are more expansive than the data reported according to economic sectors, in conformity with the Bank'’s internal reporting, and include
additional activities correlating largely with the activities in the construction and real estate sector. The data in the table include activity in Israel only.

Credit risk in respect of Leveraged Finance

Definition of leveraged finance. Defined as credit for the finance of capital transactions by corporations, granted at a high financing
ratio and credit granted to borrowers typified by a high leverage finance level which significantly exceeds accepted norms in this sector
of operations. According to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 327 the definition of leveraged loans has been set, and it
includes, among other things, transactions for the acquisition of another corporation, purchase of own shares and the distribution of
capital.
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Credit risk in respect of leveraged finance. The Bank's credit policy determines strict guidelines regarding underwriting and
restrictions on the scope of exposure to leveraged finance. In addition, developments in leveraged finance and compliance with the
determined limitations are reported once in each quarter to the Bank's Management and the Board of Directors, this, in order to
monitor the risks inherent in such financing.

Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives determined restrictions regarding the finance of capital transactions, which the Bank
abides by.

Following are data regarding credit risk pertaining to leveraged finance as of December 31, 2019. Disclosure is focused on exposure
leverage transactions, each of which exceeds the threshold set in the Bank's policy and subject to Proper Conduct of Banking Business
Directives.

The Bank's exposure to leveraged finance according to economic sectors

Industry - - - - 15 76 91 -
Construction and real estate 78 62 140 - 509 106 615 -
Transportation and storage - - - - 153 20 173 -
Other Business Services 147 - 147 - - - - -
Total 225 62 287 - 677 202 879 -

Exposure to leveraged finance as of December 31, 2019 amounted to NIS 225 million, compared to NIS 677 million at the end of 2018, a
decrease of 66.8%. The aforesaid decrease stemmed, primarily, from a decrease in the volume of credit to existing customers and the
removal from the definition of leverage financing.

The balance of exposure presented in the table above, is after accounting write-offs in accordance with the directive regarding impaired
debts.

The off-balance sheet exposure in respect of leverage finance transactions as of December 31, 2019, amounted to NIS 62 million
(December 31, 2018 - NIS 202 million).

For additional details, see "Credit risk" in the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information
regarding risks", which is available for review on the MAGNA website of the Israel Securities Authority and on the MAYA website of the
Tel Aviv Stock Exchange as well as on the Bank's website.

Additional disclosure regarding credit risk in respect of significant exposure
to borrower groups

As at December 31, 2019, there is no borrower group whose indebtedness exceeds 15% of the capital, as defined in the Directive.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk of impairment in the value of the Group and its ability to attain its goals, as a result of changes in economic

parameters in the financial markets and their fluctuations, which affect both its economic value and the regulatory capital ratio.

- Interest risk. The risk of impairment, as stated, as a result of parallel and non-parallel movements in the return graph, and the
impact of the optionality embedded in different financial instruments.

- Inflation and exchange rate risk. The risk of impairment, as stated, as a result of the impact of changes in inflation rate or in
exchange rates, including the effect of derivatives and future transactions on the difference between the assets and liabilities.

- Share prices risk and credit margin in the holding of securities risk. The risk of impairment, as stated, as a result of erosion in
value of securities having a credit risk and in the value of non-financial assets, including funds, due to price fluctuations.

Market risks are presented in this review on a Group basis that includes the Bank, Mercantile Discount Bank, IDB New York, ICC and the

severance pay fund for the Bank’s employees (hereafter in this section: “the Group”). Other Group companies do not have any material

market risk.
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Strategy and Policy

The policy document for market risk management constitutes a framework for the management of the market risks at the Bank and the
Group and defines the responsibility and authority of the parties involved in the processes for managing the market risks that the Group
accepts.

Management of the risk is intended to minimize, as much as possible, the materialization of unexpected risks and harm stemming from
the uncontrolled acceptance of risk.

The policy and the principles in the policy document are on a Group basis, with each of the subsidiaries, on an individual basis, adapting
the policy to its own administrative structure, to local regulations and to its business environment. The risks are managed from an
overall Group standpoint and within a framework of mandatory professional guidance.

As part of the updating in 2019 of the market risk management policy, the effectiveness of restrictions on market risk was examined at
the Bank, at the Group and with respect to the trading portfolio, from the aspect of the completeness of the exposure population,
completeness of the coverage of vulnerable areas and level of actual exposure in relation to the restriction. A number of restrictions
have been updated in order to improve effectiveness, with no change in the risk appetite.

Risk Appetite

The appetite for market risks, as defined in the policy, reflects the willingness of the Bank and the subsidiaries in the Group to accept
market risks for the purpose of achieving their strategic goals. The fundamental concept in managing the risk is that the balance sheet
will be managed with the aim of maximizing the economic capital from a long-term perspective, given the risk appetite and subject to
accounting considerations and to considerations affecting the capital planning.

The policy defines the quantitative and qualitative limitations in relation to the characteristics of the market risks exposure at the Group
companies and in the markets and instruments in which they are active through the banking portfolio and the trading portfolio.

The risk appetite is determined taking into consideration the two measurement approaches - accounting and economic, as well as the
various management tools - sensitivity analyses, normal business situation scenarios (intermediate testing) and stress tests, while
taking into consideration different time spans — short-term and long-term.

The numerous indices could complicate the analysis and presentation for the decision-makers and for this reason two categories of risk
indices have been defined - primary risk indices, which serve the first line of defense in taking ongoing or periodic decisions regarding
exposure scopes, and additional risk indices, which are the remaining risk indices, in respect to some of which the Board of Directors
has set limits while, in respect to others, limits are set at division head level, while others are only subject to monitoring without any
limits being set.

The Bank and the subsidiaries manage and monitor compliance with the limits for both the primary risk indices and also for the
additional risk indices. Details regarding the scope of the exposures and the limits set will be presented below within the framework of
the quantitative disclosure.

Structure and Processes

The market risk management policy defines an organizational structure for managing the risks, which ensures a proper balance and
non-dependence among the parties involved in managing the risks. Three lines of defense are defined in relation to the market risks, for
the purpose of ensuring this balance, as follows:

First line of defense. The collective Group management of interest, is being conducted by means of Global Treasury at the Financial
Markets Division. The Group investment risk management is conducted by the investments unit at the Financial Markets Division. The
Group management refers to all market risk acceptors at the Group including the asset and liability management activity, the
investment activity and the trading activity at the Bank, at IDB New York and at MDB. Within the framework of the first line of defense,
measurement, control and operating units operate independently from the risk acceptors.

Second line of defense. The risk management function is an independent function and its role is to complement the risk management
activity performed by the business lines. This function has the necessary standing and authority to enable it to affect decisions that
impact on the risk exposure, including involvement in the main strategic processes that affect the risk appetite, risk identification,
mandatory professional guidance for the subsidiaries, policy updates and validation of the principal models used in risk management.
Third line of defense. The internal audit function at the Bank and at the Group companies is responsible for conducting an independent
self-assessment of the degree of effectiveness of the implementation of the risk management processes at the Bank and at the Bank
Group companies, on the basis of findings from the audits conducted in accordance with a work plan that is approved by the boards of
directors of the Bank Group companies.
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Management supervision. Current management and supervision in the area of market risks management are performed, inter alia, by
the following committees: the assets and liabilities management committee (ALM committee), the Group assets and liabilities
management committee and the financial forum.

Mechanisms that enable an immediate response to exceptional market
developments

The Board of Directors has approved the plan for strengthening capital adequacy in times of crisis and the plan for dealing with a
liquidity crisis. In this context, the manner in which such crises are to be identified and dealt with has been defined, as has the forum
authorized to deal with the crises and the powers and tools have been defined, available to it in doing so. Inter alia, it was defined that,
where exceptional developments take place in the markets, a special financial forum, to be headed by the Head of the Financial Markets
Division or by the Bank’s President & CEQ, depending upon the severity of the incident, will immediately be convened in order to discuss
the market developments and the possible courses of action. The emergency plan also includes a contingency plan for fast reduction of
the market risk and the scope of the risk assets.

Measurement and Reporting

Measurement of exposure to market and liquidity risks, including the calculation of the various risk assessments is and is performed by
the first line of defense at the Bank on a weekly basis, using a designated system for market risk management.

The second line of defense controls exposure to market risks by an independent calculation of stress tests on a monthly basis.

The risk management system is used as a data base for financial data, which contains the financial information regarding the range of
financial instruments operated by the Bank, including embedded options, for market data (such as indices, exchange rates and interest
rates), their volatility level and the statistical correlation between them, as well as financial and behavioral models. In addition,
simulations are conducted by the system, regarding the overall operations at the Bank and Group levels, regarding operations/files.
Likewise, additional risk indices and interest rate exposure are computed and measured (it should be noted that the system is also used
for fair value measurement for the purpose of the accounting report).

This system is also used by MDB in computing its exposure to market and liquidity risks.

IDB New York. Measurement of the exposure to market and liquidity risks is performed by the first line of defense (Treasury) by means
of a designated system for the management of market and liquidity risks. This system is an advanced system which increases the
analysis capabilities and enables a weekly monitoring of the central risk assessing factors.

The measurement results are reported on a current basis within the framework of the relevant Management and Board of Directors
committees.

Models and Risk Indices

Management of market risks is performed by several models and indices. Internal measurement takes into account factors additional to
those that are used for disclosure purposes in the reports published for the public. The main indices in managing market risk have been
defined by the Board of Directors. Since the models on which the risk indices are based are dependent on assumptions, the Bank has
established a corporate governance structure and a framework for managing model risks, including challenging and validation
processes.

The main indices used in managing market risks include indices of economic value sensitivity to changes in interest in various scenarios
and an index of accounting value sensitivity in intermediate scenarios.

The additional indices and models include the Value at Risk (VaR), the potential losses in Stress Tests, an analysis of anticipated interest
income - the NII (Net Interest Income) and in the Earnings at Risk (EaR). In addition, there are models that express assumptions
regarding customers’ behavior in various scenarios, including a model for spreading credit balances having no maturity dates, and
models for estimating early repayments of credits and deposits.

All the risk models and indices are regularly reviewed in an organized manner for definition purposes within the framework of
cataloging the models and their validation or independent testing by risk management parties. These processes are carried out in
accordance with the Bank’s policy on the subject of model risk management, including the validation dates and the frequency thereof
that are determined in accordance with the level of risk attributed to each model on a specific basis.
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Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Tables presented in this Chapter have been prepared in accordance with the principles for the preparation of financial statements,
and they differ from the data used for the current management of interest rate exposure.

Quantitative information regarding interest risk — sensitivity analysis

Net adjusted fair value of financial instruments - consolidated

Net adjusted fair value™ 10,885 5,375 16,260 10,189 4,739 14,928

Of which: the banking book 11,087 5,862 16,949 9,855 3,604 13,459

Footnotes:

(1) Net fair value of financial instruments, excluding nonfinancial items and net of the effect of liability for employee rights and allocation to periods of on-call
deposits.

(2)  Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.

The impact of scenarios of changes in interest rates on the net adjusted fair value - consolidated

Parallel changes

A parallel increase of 1% 70 (89) (19) (43) (182) (225)
Of which: the banking book 61 (76) (15) (35) (166) (201)
A parallel decrease of 1% 99 (74) 25 98 88 186
Of which: the banking book 98 (93) B 85 66 151

Non-parallel changes

Curving? (256) (13) (269) (215) (46) (261)
Flattening® 217 (47) 170 188 (18) 170
Interest rise in the short-term 217 (144) 73 116 (70) 46
Interest decline in the short-term (202) 25 (177) (25) 75 50
Footnotes:

(1) gl:;;ziiisvalue of financial instruments, excluding nonfinancial items and net of the effect of liability for employee rights and allocation to periods of on-call

(2)  Curving — decline in interest in the short-term and increase in interest in the long-term.
(3)  Flattening —increase in interest in the short-term and decline in interest in the long-term.
(4)  Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.

The gap between the exposure to interest change as reported in the above table and the one reflected in the detailed disclosure by
periods in the risks report is due to the fact that there are financial instruments whose fair value and economic value vary in a non-
linear and non-symmetrical mannerin the increase and decrease in interest scenarios, mostly current account balances that to not carry
interest.

The fair value of on-call deposits with IDB New York, part of which carry interest, amounted at December 31, 2019, to approx. NIS 17
billion, the average maturity thereof being 4.27 years, so that the theoretical sensitivity of their fair value to a 1% change in interest
amounts to NIS 739 million. In actual fact, as a result of assumptions of the model and the effective minimum levels of interest, the
sensitivity of fair value to a rise of 1% in interest amounted to an increase of approx. NIS 266 million in their fair value, while sensitivity
of fair value to a decline of 1% in interest amounted to a decrease of NIS 357 million in the fair value of such deposits.
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The impact of scenarios of changes in interest rates on net interest income and on non-interest financing income -
consolidated

Parallel changes

A parallel increase of 1% 638 36 674 576 16 591
Of which: the banking book 619 70 6389 559 46 606
A parallel decrease of 1% (825) (39) (864) (636) (11) (647)
Of which: the banking book (815) (73) (887) (620) (48) (668)
Footnote:

(1) During the reported period, the assumptions used in the calculation of the effect of changes in interest rate were reviewed and improved accordingly. The
data as of December 31, 2018 was recalculated on the basis of the updated assumptions.

As of December 31, 2019, the estimated effect of a corresponding 1% rise in interest income amounted to an increase of NIS 674
million, while the estimated effect of a corresponding 1% fall in interest income amounted to a decrease of NIS 864 million. This
compares to the estimates as of December 31, 2018, which amounted to an increase in interest income of NIS 591 million under a
corresponding 1% increase scenario and a decrease in interest income of NIS 647 million, under a corresponding 1% decrease scenario.
The gap between the estimates under the corresponding increase scenario and the corresponding decrease scenario widened in 2019
due to the low interest environment and due to the assumption that the interest on some of the Bank’s deposits would not fall below a
certain minimum, whereby the Bank’s financing expenses under the corresponding 1% decrease scenario would not be able to decrease
by the same percentage as that by which the Bank's financing income would decrease under this scenario.

For additional quantitative and qualitative details about the interest risks, see the “Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and
additional information regarding risks” document, which is available for perusal on the Bank’s website, on the MAGNA site of the Israel
Securities Authority and on the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd.

Sensitivity analysis to the effect of changes in interest rate based on the fair value of financial
instruments

Fair value of financial instruments. Most of the Bank’s balance sheet financial instruments do not have a quoted “market price” as
they are not traded on an active market. Accordingly, in accordance with the directive, the fair value is estimated using accepted pricing
models, and in particular through the calculation of the present value of the discounted cash flows using a discount interest rate
appropriate to the level of risk embodied in the instrument.

The determination of the discount interest rate is subjective. Thus, for most of the financial instruments, the fair value estimate
presented below does not necessarily constitute an indication of the realizable value of the financial instruments on the reporting date.
The assessment of the present value of future cash flows was done in accordance with the interest rates in effect on the reporting date,
without taking into consideration fluctuations in interest rates. Using different discount rates assumptions, may result in significantly
different fair value amounts. This relates particularly to financial instruments bearing a fixed interest rate or non-interest bearing.

It should be further noted, that the differential between the book value of the financial instrument and its fair value, may never be
realized, as the Bank usually holds the financial instrument to maturity.

In consequence of the above, it should be stressed that the data included in this Note, is no indication of the Bank's value.

Furthermore, due to the broad spectrum of possible assessment techniques and estimates in implementing the reporting directives with
regard to the fair value, care should be taken when examining the fair value data itself as well as when comparing it with the fair value
data presented by other banks.

Hybrid financial instruments are debt instruments, in which are embedded derivative components that have not been separated there
from. In providing information regarding fair value, the Bank is not required to classify financial instruments as hybrid financial
instruments, because, according to the Bank of Israel's guidelines, the interest rate exposure of these instruments included the division
of such transactions according to maturity dates, while separating the option component from these instruments. Following are details
of the hybrid financial instruments, where in the disclosure regarding exposure to changes in interest rates, the separated option and
the host instrument have been treated as standalone instruments (the effect on the financial statements is not material): deposits with
the option of a fixed rate of interest or of a variable rate of interest, savings deposits linked to the CPI or linked to foreign currency with
an option for changing the linkage base and an option securing the Shekel principal sum deposited, deposits and loans linked to the CPI
or linked to foreign currency with an option for securing the Shekel principal sum.
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For further details regarding the main methods and assumptions used in assessing the fair value of financial instruments, see Note 34 to
the financial statements.

For details regarding the effect of changes in interest rates on the fair value of problematic debts, see Note 34 c.
No weekly cumulative change occurred in the past ten years, which had it occurred in the reported period would have adversely affected
the "going concern" assumption used at the basis of preparation of the financial statements.

Sensitivity analysis according to data used for interest exposure management (hereinafter:
"economic exposure")

The data presented above, was computed on the basis of fair value, as required by the public reporting directives of the Supervisor of

Banks and in accordance with the calculation of the table “Exposure to interest rate changes”, which is presented within the framework

of the document “Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks”.

The current management of exposure to interest rates applies to all of the Bank's operations, and takes into consideration additional

data that represent the economic approach to the management of exposure of the economic value of the Bank's equity to changes in

interest rates.

The principal differences between the computation of exposure according to accounting fair value and the managed economic exposure

are as follows:

(a) The computation of the accounting fair value made use of graphs that take into consideration credit margins. Computation of the
economic exposure made use of graphs representing the transfer prices.

(b) Items relating to liabilities for employee rights are included in the economic measurement in the CPI-linked segment, while in the
accounting measurement they are presented in the unlinked segment;

(c) Economic exposure takes into consideration expected future cash flows, such as deposits in savings schemes, in contrast to the
calculation on the fair value basis, which does not take into account such future deposits;

(d) An impaired non-interest bearing debt is related in economic exposure to the non-linked segment, as it does not carry interest,
while in fair value calculations, itis presented in its original segment;

(e) Optional savings schemes are presented at fair value in their principal linkage segment, while in economic exposure each
componentis presented in its related linkage segment.

Effect of hypothetical changes in interest rates of 100 base points on the Group's economic value

An increase of 100BP in interest rates (263) (107) (136) 25 (481)
A decrease of 100BP in interest rates 441 93 (76) (44) 415
An increase of 100BP in interest rates (223) (137) (212) = (572)
A decrease of 100BP in interest rates 293 137 77 (5) 501

In addition to a scenario of a parallel move in the interest graphs, the exposure to non-parallel changes in the various interest graphs is
also being studied.

As of December 31, 2019, the estimated effect of a 100 basis points decrease in the unlinked shekel segment would be a profit of
NIS 441 million, compared with a NIS 293 million profit as of December 31, 2018. The increase in the aforesaid estimate is due to the
fact that the Group assumes that shekel interest will not fall to a negative level, an assumption whose impact has only grown greater in
light of the continued fall in the shekel yields curve. As of December 31, 2019, the estimated effect of a 100 basis points fall in the
dollar segment amounted to a loss of NIS 76 million, compared with a gain of NIS 77 million as of December 31, 2018. The change in the
aforesaid estimate is due to the way in which the on-call deposits at IDB New York, some of which bear interest, are spread. The model
assumes that the interest on these deposits will not be less than a certain minimum, which went into effect in the “fall in interest”
scenarios as a result of the prolonged fallin the yield curve in the United States.
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Replacement of foreign interest benchmarks (base rates) and its
repercussions

General. On March 20, 2019, the Supervisor of Banks addressed a letter to the banking corporations, in which they are requested to
prepare for the anticipated discontinuation of the publication of interest benchmarks existing around the world and their replacement
with other benchmarks. On February 13, 2020, the Supervisor of Banks published a letter regarding disclosure of the preparations made
with respect to the discontinuation of the use of the LIBOR rate, on the background of disclosure guidelines published by the SECin the
matter.

Discontinuation of the use of LIBOR. In accordance with the pronouncement made by the UK's Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) in
July 2017, it was decided to discontinue the use of LIBOR in stages through the end of 2021. Further to this decision, various work
teams have been set up around the world in order to determine interest indices, as an alternative to the LIBOR interest rates, for each of
the five following currencies:

- USdollar - to be replaced by SOFR (Secured Overnight Financing Rate);

- Pound sterling - to be replaced by SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average);

- Euro - to be replaced by ESTR (Euro Short-Term Rate);

- Swiss franc - to be replaced by SARON (Swiss Average Rate Overnight);

- Japanese Yen - to be replaced by TONAR (Tokyo Overnight Average Rate).

Furthermore, the Internal Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) holds discussions regarding the adjustments required for
agreements concerning derivative in the case of discontinuation of the publication of the LIBOR rate.

The main risks and the Bank’s preparations therefor. The discontinuation of the use of LIBOR and the transition to alternative
interest indices create various risks - operational, IT systems, the Bank-customer relations, financial and legal, that arise from the
Bank’s operations with its customers. The Bank is making preparations to identify the risks, inter alia, by means of mapping all the
relevant contracts and exposures.

The Bank has begun the process of examining the expected effect of discontinuing the publication of LIBOR interest rates, including
examining the possible alternatives for each of the currencies mentioned above, the financial implications likely to result from the
transition to using the above currencies and the preparations necessary from the business aspect, from the aspect of the risk
management of the new exposures as well as from the legal aspect.

The Bank has begun making preparations to manage and mitigate the identified risks. As part of these preparations, the Bank has
established a steering committee and a designated team whose purpose, inter alia, is to develop work processes for the purpose of
identifying the risks, examining the effects of each risk, proposing alternatives for mitigating the risks, and monitoring the risks and
their effects. The Bank intends to give training to the relevant employees. Regular updates are being provided to Management and the
Board of Directors.

Material exposures. The Bank has various contracts that continue beyond 2021 which relate to LIBOR.

Discount Group's exposure to the LIBOR interest rate in respect to exposures that will continue beyond 2021

Loans 2,204 10,108
Deposits 12 43
Securities 16 548
Total 2,232 10,699
Derivatives (volume transactions) 1,269 72,699

The Table includes data of Discount Bank, MDB and of IDB New York.

Inflation and exchange rate risk

Exposure to base risk is measured in the CPI linked segment and in the foreign currency segment (including Israeli currency linked to
foreign currency). For details regarding assets and liabilities according to linkage terms, see Note 32 to the financial statements.
Capital sensitivity to changes in exchange rate. The capital's sensitivity to changes in exchange rate is presented in the following
table, which provides details regarding the impact of changes in exchange rates of the major currencies on the equity as of December
31, 2019.
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Effect of hedging relations and transactions in derivative instruments on the exposure. The exposure in the CPI-linked segment is
created due to an excess of applications in relation to sources in this segment. In order to hedge the exposure in the CPI-linked
segment, the Bank makes use of contracts on the consumer price index. As a general rule, the Bank’s policy is not to create an exposure
to foreign currency exchange rates in its ongoing activity. Coverage of the built-in foreign currency position, which arises from the
investmentin IDBNY, was canceled several years ago, in order to reduce the sensitivity of the capital ratio to changes in exchange rates.

The Bank's capital sensitivity of changes in exchange rates

As of December 31 2019
in NIS millions

Segment 10% 5% -5% -10%
uUsD 324 160 (151) (299)
EUR 4 1 6 15
Other Foreign Currencies 17 8 (6) (10)

This effect has been computed on the basis of the expected change in the fair value of the Group in the various currencies, given the
scenario determined by the Supervisor of Banks.
Sensitivity of the capital to changes in the CPI. The sensitivity of the capital to changes in the CPI is presented in the following Table,

which details the effect of a 3% change on the capital as of December 31, 2019.

Sensitivity of the capital to changes in the CPI

December 31, 2019
in NIS millions

Scenario Increase 3% Decrease 3%
109 (120)

This effect has been computed as the difference between the net fair value based on the "known" CPI, including off-balance sheet
items, and the net fair value after raising/reducing the CPI by 3%.

Share Price Risk
Shares Position in the Banking Book

Strategy and processes

Within the framework of the policy for the diversification of investments, the Bank acts in two principal areas:

- Private equity funds, venture capital funds and a fund of hedge funds;

- Directinvestments in companies considered as non-financial investments.

For details as to the investment policy and the entities in which the Bank invests, see below "Investments in non-financial companies "
under "Activity of the group according to requlatory segments of operation - additional details".

Investments in shares

December 31
2019 2018
In NIS millions

Investments in shares of affiliated companies:

Non marketable shares 171 135
Shares in the available-for-sale portfolio:

Marketable shares 128 57
Non marketable shares 839 923
Total shares in the available for sale portfolio 967 980
Total investment in shares 1,138 1,115
Footnote:

(1) For additional information, see Note 15 to the Financial Statements.
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Capital requirement regarding share position

In respect of investments in venture capital funds, in private equity funds and in a fund of hedge funds®? 191 181
In respect of investments in other shares® 63 61
Total capital requirement regarding share position'? 254 242
Footnotes:

(1) The capital requirement was computed according to 12.7% and does not include capital requirment in respect of investment in shares in the trading portfolio.
(2) These investments are weighted at risk weight of 150%.
(3) These investments are weighted at risk weight of 100% and 250%.

For additional quantitative and qualitative details about share price risk, see the “Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and
additional information regarding risks” document, which is available for perusal on the Bank’s website, on the MAGNA site of the Israel
Securities Authority and on the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd.

Management of Positions in the Trading Portfolio

The Group distinguishes between exposure created in the course of managing the Bank's assets and liabilities and exposure to trading.
Generally, trading exposures exist only at the parent company and they are the result of the Bank’s activity as a market maker and are
concentrated mostly in the dealing room as part of the activity of the Bank as a "market maker" and the dynamic management of the
liquid financial assets portfolio. Occasional trading exposures occur at the subsidiaries in immaterial volume. The trading activity is
intended at creating income while creating exposure within the approved risk limits for this activity, and maintaining daily and sub-
daily monitoring and control.

As stated, trading activity is mainly focused on the dealing room, which both conducts trading with customers and transactions hedging
the risks, and operations to generate profit as part of the management of market risks. In addition, a non-significant trading portfolio
exist at the investments unit.

In this connection, it should be noted that the Group investment policy prescribes that the Group should not invest in entities most of
whose business is transactions in derivative financial instruments and short selling, such as hedge funds.

The Board of Directors has determined additional sets of limits pertaining to trading activities and to asset and liability management
activities. Limitations on various trading activities were determined in terms of scope of activity, and in terms of sensitivity to risk
factors including the VaR and the theoretical loss involved in stress tests. The limitations are monitored on a daily and intra-day basis
by the control units of the Financial Markets Division. The Head of the Division has set a series of internal limits, within the framework of
the limits set by the Board of Directors, aimed at providing advance warning when the Board of Directors’ limits are approached and
thereby preventing such limits being exceeded.

In 2019, no material deviations from limitations set by the Board of Directors were recorded.

Liquidity and Financing Risks

Liquidity risk is a risk to the stability of the Group, stemming from the inability to provide for its liquidity needs and the difficulty to
honor its obligations, due to unexpected developments, as a result of which, the Group would be forced to raise funds and/or dispose of
assets in a manner that would cause it a material loss. The Bank has determined the limitation of maximum exposure to liquidity risk.
Liquidity risk is perceived as one of the material risks for any financial institution. The objective in managing this risk is to avoid a
situation in which the Bank will have difficulty in meeting its obligations as a result of unavailability of liquid resources. The underlying
assumption is that the materialization of liquidity risk, in most cases, will cause losses because of the need to raise funds at high prices
or to realize non-liquid assets at a loss. Accordingly, the Discount Group has formulated a liquidity risk management policy that, inter
alia, meets the requirements as set forth in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives No. 342 (The Internal Liquidity Model) and
No. 221 (Liquidity Coverage Ratio).

The “Liquidity Risk Management Policy” document is updated and approved once each year by the Management and the Board of
Directors.

Within the framework of the policy, the following subjects are prescribed: the liquidity risk appetite, including a set of limits, the
organizational structure for managing the risk and the core processes both in routine circumstances and on the occurrence of a liquidity
event.
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As part of the routine management, the liquidity risk is estimated using an internal model for different periods, from one day to one

year. The internal model computes the liquidity ratio and the liquidity gaps under various stress scenarios. These scenarios simulate

specific liquidity events for the Bank/the Group and various systemic events. In addition, the liquidity risk is also measured by means of

the uniform regulatory model (LCR).

Theinternal model, over its various scenarios, constitutes core of the liquidity management, although the Bank makes use of additional

indices and tools to monitor the liquidity risk:

- The mix and concentration of the sources, the mix and concentration of the assets, supplementary scenarios for the internal model
and a comparison with other banks;

- Within the framework of the current management of the liquidity risk, the Risk Management Division measures a large number of
indicators for the purpose identification of and warning against changes in trends of liquidity risk (KRI's; "Red lights"). This being
an additional tool for the identification and warning against possible changes in the liquidity position.

Plan for dealing with a Liquidity Crisis

In Principle 11 of the Basel Core Principles document from 2008, it is prescribed that a banking corporation should have a formal
contingency funding plan (CFP) that clearly sets out the strategies for addressing liquidity shortfalls in emergency situations. According
to the document, the plan should outline policies to manage a range of scenarios, establish clear lines of responsibility, include
reporting procedures, including reporting in the event of escalation, and should be regularly tested and updated to ensure its
operational validity.

From the aspect of the Directive, materialization of the liquidity risk occurs in a situation where a banking corporation is compelled to
raise funds at high prices or to realize assets at a loss in order to meet its liabilities.

The establishment of an orderly process to deal with possible crisis situations raises the level of awareness and readiness of the various
parties in the organization, and hence its importance and contribution in mitigating the risk of crises occurring and in their correct
management should a crisis occur. The Bank’s Management conducts exercises from time to time to test the contingency plan, while
drawing conclusions.

The Bank’s CFP clearly describes the range of practical measures required to be implemented in times of emergency. The plan describes
the processes and the parties that will be responsible for identifying a crisis situation, for managing the crisis, including prescribing
spheres of responsibility and authority, for reporting processes and frequency of reporting, for Group management and coordination,
for declaring the restoration of a normal business situation, and for establishing processes for lesson learning. In addition, the plan
presents at every level a variety of alternatives for action which require great consideration before their activation, through examining
their implications.

The plan for managing a liquidity crisis constitutes a set of defaults and focal points that the organization will activate when a liquidity
crisis develops. Nevertheless, it does not constitute an alternative to exercising judgment and taking real time decisions- at the various
levels of the Bank’s management and which are obligatory given the reality of a volatile and unexpected crisis situation, such as a
liquidity crisis.

The main focal points to which the plan provides a solution are:

- Identifying and announcing a liquidity crisis;

- Measures to improve the liquidity level;

- Measurement and monitoring of the liquidity level;

- Announcements;

- Group management.

The plan differentiates between different types of liquidity crises, including systemic crisis, a specific crisis and a crisis combining
different levels of intensity of each type. In addition, the plan needs to address a situation defined as a pre-crisis situation, a situation
of higher specific/systemic liquidity risk prior to an event being defined as a crisis event, as well as the transition between different
levels of stress or transition between different types of crises. In addition, it provides a response to a liquidity crisis that materializes in
a Group subsidiary and risk that impacts on the subsidiaries/the Group as a whole.

The plan is reviewed and approved each year within the framework of approving the liquidity risk management policy document.
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Group management

The policy document also regulates the management of the Group liquidity risk. In general, the guiding principle is that the material
subsidiaries of the Group will independently manage their liquidity risk with the aid of mandatory professional guidance and in
accordance with models approved by the parent company. The internal model of the parent company requires maintaining liquidity in
case the subsidiaries” models exceed the thresholds defined in the policy document. The model does not include reliance on the transfer
of liquidity from the subsidiaries to the parent company. Most of the liquidity surpluses in the Group are currently concentrated in the
parent company.

Reporting

Daily -measurement of liquidity risk is performed on a daily basis by an internal liquidity model and by a regulatory model (LCR), by
means of the Bank’s market and liquidity risks management system. Measurement results are reported to the risk managers and control
parties. As from January 1, 2017, the Group has a daily Group LCR computing and reporting capabilities.

Weekly - a special purpose liquidity forum convenes once a week and discusses current liquidity topics. Material effects are reported
once a week to the financial forum, headed by the Head of the Financial Markets Division.

Monthly - the Bank’s Management reports within the framework of the ALM Committee on the liquidity position of the Bank, the
subsidiaries and the Group as a whole.

Quarterly - Managements of the Bank and of the subsidiary companies report to the Group's asset and liability management committee
(GALCO) once in every quarter, the liquidity condition of each company, as well as trends and the status of the Group's liquidity
situation.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

As of December 31, 2019, the liquidity coverage ratio of the Discount Group, on the basis of 77 observations average, stood at 121.2%,
compared with 124.8% as of December 31, 2018, higher than the minimum requirements according to the instructions. For additional
details, see Note 25 to the financial statements, item 3.

During 2019, the Bank continued to maintain liquid assets at a high level in relation to its liquid liabilities and, accordingly the results

of the Bank’s internal liquidity model showed substantial reserves of liquidity. The following trends were observed during the year:

- Anincrease of approx. NIS 8.3 billion in the volume of non-linked and CPI linked shekel deposits, comprising a rate of approx.
8.4%, of which an increase in retail deposits of approx. NIS 5.9 billion and an increase in corporate deposits of approx. NIS 1.3
billion, and the raising of debt amounting to approx. NIS 1.5 billion, which was issued by Discount Manpikim and deposited with the
Bank. On the other hand, redemption of debt notes totaling approx. NIS 400 million;

- A transfer of approx. NIS 4.7 billion from fixed term deposits to on-call deposits, in the shekel segment, as a result of the low
interest environment;

- The amount of foreign currency deposits increased by approx. US$ 370 million, comprising a rate of approx. 4.6%, of which retail
deposits in the amount of approx. US$ 115 million. Including the exchange rate effect, foreign currency deposits rose by approx.
NIS 3.5 billion.

Transferability of liquidity within the Group is conducted on the basis of transfer prices mechanism and in accordance with market

prices. Group companies may not rely in their liquidity model on the transfer of funds from other group companies where no liquidity

framework had been defined which is taken into account in the liquidity model at the counterparty.
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Deposits from the public

Non-linked shekels 107,645 101,146 6,499 6.4
CPl-linked shekels 5,446 4,631 815 17.6
Foreign currency and foreign currency linked shekels 33,068 30,623 2,445 8.0
Total 146,159 136,400 9,759 7.2
Foreign currency and foreign currency linked shekels - In US$ millions 9,568 8,170 1,398 17.1

Deposits from Banks

Non-linked shekels 1,330 1,235 95 7.7
CPl-linked shekels 36 40 (4) (10.0)
Foreign currency and foreign currency linked shekels 396 605 (209) (34.5)
Total 1,762 1,880 (118) (6.3)

For additional details regarding liquidity risks and the management thereof, see the “Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel
and additional information regarding risks” document, which is available for perusal on the Bank’s website, on the MAGNA site of the
Israel Securities Authority and on the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd., and also Note 33 regarding Assets and liabilities
according to linkage terms and maturity periods.

For additional details regarding financial risk, see the “Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information
regarding risks” document.

Operational Risks

Operational risk is the risk of loss caused by impropriety or by the failure of internal procedures, individuals and systems or as a result of
external events

The operational risk is inherent in all business lines, products, systems and the work processes performed at the Bank. Accordingly,
awareness and management of the operational risk at all levels of duty are of importance.

The framework for the management of operational risk includes the policy document for risk management, which is approved once in
each year by the Management and by the Board of Directors, and adopted by the subsidiary companies, and the risk tolerance
statement, which determines qualitative and quantitative limitations regarding material risks existing at the Bank Group. The Board of
Directors recently approved updates to the operational risk tolerance and, within the framework thereof, reducing some of the risk
limits. The Group operates an automated system for managing the risk, which measures and assesses the overall operational risks and
reports operating failure events in all risk centers.

Operational risks are being managed on the basis of the current identification of processes, risks and controls, as well as on the basis of
failure events data base, the monitoring thereof and the drawing of conclusions there from and identification of the factors causing the
failure. Moreover, material risks are being reduced by means of the formation of recommended controls, monitoring or transfer to a
third party (by purchase of different insurance policies).

Once every three years (or during the three years) a comprehensive operational risks survey is conducted that includes, inter alia,
relating to fraud and embezzlement risks, outsourcing and supplier risks, cyber risks and business continuity risks. In 2017, a new
survey, as stated, begun.

During 2019, no material changes were observed in the number of reports on the realization of risks and the resulting amounts of
damage caused in their respect, which might affect the overall operational risk profile.

The year 2019 has been characterized by a growing trend of fraud and impersonation attempts, both in the traditional and online
service channels, inter alia, as a result of expanding the digital services that the Bank provides to its customers. Moreover, the trend is
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continuing of implementation of changes in work procedures stemming from the realization of the strategic plan. All these increase the
risk, partly in the short term and partly comprising continuous trends. The quality of management is improving at the same time by the
promotion of the operational risk survey, the growth in and integration of awareness to the reporting of events and the strengthening
of interfaces and controls and automation of processes.

No deviations were recorded during the year from the limitations on operational risks.

Malfunction in the PayBox Application. Following a malfunction in the installation of a server for the PayBox payment application
("PayBox"), partial information regarding users of PayBox has leaked out. The malfunction was rectified within a few hours since
discovery.

Based on the enquiry made, the said information included a part of the items of information existing in PayBox, though it did not
include items of information the use thereof might cause users direct financial damage.

PayBox is being operated separately from the Bank's computer systems and from the Bank's regular banking services. The server, in
which the malfunction had been discovered, is not connected to the operation of the Bank, and the malfunction as a whole has no
relation to the accounts held with the Bank and to other information existing in the hands of the Bank with respect to customers
holding accounts with the Bank. The Bank estimates that no material effect on the Bank is expected as a result of the malfunction.

The Bank conducts a process of drawing and implementing conclusions with respect to PayBox in order to ensure that such malfunction
does not happen again.

A notice regarding this event has been delivered to users of PayBox.

All as detailed in an immediate report dated January 29, 2020 (reference no. 2020-01-009258), the information provided in it is
included herewith by way of reference.

For details regarding lawsuits filed with respect to the said event and motions for their approval as class action suits, see Note 26 B item
13.4 to the financial statements.

Business continuity. The issue of business continuity is managed by means of the policy for the management of business continuity,
which defines the solution concept for facing a crisis, by means of the business continuity management program (BCM), which is
designed to ensure the continuation of the regular functioning of the Bank as regards its business transactions and as regards services
defined as essential.

At the base of the assessments for business continuity stands the backup for the vital technological infrastructure established by the
Bank, and the providing to customers of supporting layouts and services. Mapping of the business continuity risks and the assessment
and monitoring thereof is performed as part of the identification and evaluation of operational risks.

Outsourcing and Supplier Risk

This risk is managed as part of the operational risk. Against the background of activities being outsourced and due to collaborations
that are occurring with non-banking entities in relation to core banking activities, outsourcing and supplier risks require that the
monitoring and control processes be upgraded. The Bank’s preparations for managing the risk, in accordance with the new Proper
Conduct of Banking Business directive regarding the policy for managing outsourcing and supplier risks, includes a revised definition of
the policy document and risk tolerance, and the work processes relating to essential material outsourcing, including reference to
essential service providers (in both routine and emergency situations), including upgrading the monitoring and control processes
relating to such activities, taking a risk-based approach.

For additional details regarding operational risks and the manner of management thereof, see the document "Disclosure according to
the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks" available on the Bank's Internet website, on the MAGNA website of
the Israel Securities Authority and the MAYA website of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd.

Other Risks
Cross-border Risks

The Group's activity with customers in Israel and abroad involves risks stemming, among other things, from exposure to liability for
evasion by the Group's customers from reporting and payment of taxes in Israel or abroad, made incidentally to using the Bank's
services, as well as the violation of the provisions of foreign laws applicable to the services and products provided by the Group to its
customers.

Exposure to cross-border risks has grown significantly in recent years, against the background of adding regulatory requirements,
alongside enhanced enforcement in Israel and abroad, applying to financial institutions and their customers, as part of the increased
efforts of the authorities in the fight against tax evasion.
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Realization of this risk may have considerable implications on the Bank's operations and image. Therefore, as part of the current risk
management, this risk has been defined as a separate risk category in the ICAAP process and within the framework of the risk review
contained in the Annual Report, and the risk level thereof has been assessed as "medium-high".

Further to the activity carried out in recent years in the Bank and the Group with respect to U.S. customers and other foreign resident
customers, concurrently with the developments in regulation and enforcement regarding cross-border risks in Israel and around the
world, a Group policy on this matter has been formulated, this risk appetite has been determined and identification, monitoring,
control and reporting processes have been added. The action for reducing the Group's international presence, within the framework of
the implementation of the strategic program of the Bank, also contributed to the reduction of cross-border risks exposure. In addition,
in view of the intensification of regulation and enforcement trend, led by the Tax Authority, relating to funds of Israeli resident
customers, the origin of which may be in tax evasion orin income not reported to the Tax Authority in Israel, as required, amendment of
the Money Laundering Prohibition Act to include tax offences as a predicate offence, as well as for the purpose of reducing money
laundering risks, also in circumstances of a voluntary disclosure process, the Group acts towards the integration of a risk-based
approach, for identifying and monitoring accounts and activities of Israeli resident customers, in response to that stated above.

FATCA. The income Tax Ordinance and the Prohibition of Money Laundering Act, 2000, were amended in 2016. The aim of the
amendment to the Income Tax Ordinance is to establish the implementation of the inter-state FATCA agreement between Israel and the
United States dated June 30, 2014, and the implementation of the AEOI/CRS information exchange agreements of the OECD. Following
the amendment of the Ordinance, the Regulations required under it were also published.

The Act and the regulations detail the identification, regularization and reporting required regarding existing and new customers,
including the duty of informing those customers included in the reports, delivery to the Tax Authorities of information which the
Authority is required to deliver to the tax authorities of a foreign country. The Act prohibits use of the said information by the Tax
Authority for the purpose of enforcing the tax laws, otherwise than the delivery of which to foreign tax authorities for the purpose of
implementing the agreement. In addition, the Ordinance determines monetary sanctions in respect of non-requirement of information,
the non-examination thereof as required, orin respect of deficiencies in the complete delivery thereof.

The indirect amendment of the Prohibition of Money Laundering Act, amends the definition of "controlling interest" in accordance with
the global standards in this respect.

The FATCA regulations require the closing up of bank accounts of those customers who refuse to cooperate with the financial
institutions and which had been opened in the transitional period between date of signature of the State of Israel on the FATCA
agreement and date of entry into effect of the regulations. A draft of the regulations regarding the closing down of accounts of
American customers who refuse to cooperate, was distributed in June 2018.

The Bank implements the legislation requirements relating to the implementation of FATCA in Israel. The Bank has completed the
annual report to the Israeli tax authorities in the matter of FATCA for the year 2018.

Automatic exchange of information (CRS). By power of the said amendment to the Income Tax Ordinance, the Income Tax Regulations
(Application of a uniform standard for the testing and reporting the propriety of information regarding financial accounts), 2019, were
published on February 6. In accordance with Regulations and the guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks in the matter, the Bank
continues in identifying countries serving as tax residence for its customers and in the implementation of the CRS standard, including
identification, classification and automatic exchange of information regarding financial accounts of foreign residents. The Bank has
completed the first CRS annual report to the Israeli Tax Authority in respect of the years 2017 and 2018.

Information Technology Risks

The IT layout is a central component in the proper operation and management of a banking corporation, in view of the information,
including all its aspects and ramifications, having a decisive influence over the stability of the corporation and its development.
Information technology risks are risks deriving from the use or the non-use by a corporation of information technology and/or the
dependence of a corporation thereon.

Core processes for risk management. The core processes are based on the risk management principles, with adjustments required with
respect to the IT world, with a view of enabling efficient focusing on areas and systems identified as having higher risk of disrupting the
business activity, maintenance of the fitting of the technological development to the business strategy and to changes in the
operational environment, as well as the adequacy of the ability of the technology to recover from crisis situations to the Bank's needs
and to the regulation to which the Bankis committed.
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Strategic Risk

The strategic risk is being managed by the Discount Group in accordance with the risk management concept of three lines of defense,
and the Head of the Planning, Strategy and Finance Division acts a manager of this risk. Challenges of the competitive environment,
development of digital banking and expected changes in the concept of operation of the banking industry, constitute a challenge in the
management of this risk.

The Bank and the Group continue in promoting a multi-annual strategic plan which includes different projects that are expected to
provide solutions for the principal challenges. The plan is examined once in each year, with attention being paid to changes in the local
and global competitive environment, while studying the need for the updating of focal items and/or introduction of new projects at the
Bank and at the subsidiaries. Within this framework, the Bank continues the emphasis on innovation, digital and customer experience,
alongside the improvement and maximization of Group synergy and the value created by the activities of the subsidiaries.

Reputation Risk

The reputation risk is being managed by the Discount Group in accordance with the risk management concept of three lines of defense.
Due to its importance and complexity, this risk is being managed by the highest echelons in the organization. The President & CEO is
responsible for the risk management in times of crisis, and the Head of the Planning, Strategy and Finance Division is responsible for its
management in normal times. This, in addition to the responsibility of each member of Management for the field under his control and
the functions that support risk management (spokesperson, investor relations, the Regulation Unit, the Officer in charge of approaches
made by the public, etc.).

As support for risk management, operates a reputation forum that includes representatives from the principal subsidiaries, which meets
on a quarterly basis, discusses internal and external risk issues and monitors indices and indicators regarding various risk areas, which
might have possible relation to the reputation risk.

Data and cyber protection risks

The principal risks involved in the impairment of data and cyber protection may lead to impairment of the privacy and confidentiality of
the information of the Bank, its customers and employees, the realization of cyber threats, hostile use of information by users of the
system, distortion of data in the systems, impaired availability and survivability of systems and data, impairment of the Bank's business
and its reputation.

For additional details, see above under "Leading and developing risks" and under "Data protection and cyber defense risks" in the
document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks".

Environmental Risks

The Bank has an organized credit methodology regarding environmental risks that is intended to monitor the risk of credit losses that
might be caused as a result of provisions pertaining to environmental quality hazards and the enforcement of such provisions (such as a
deterioration in a customer’s business position due to penalties resulting from non-compliance with the provisions of the law). Within
the framework of the methodology, the Bank has defined an evaluation process for the environmental risk level of customers in
economic sectors that might be exposed to environmental risks and for the quality of risk management conducted by these customers.
This process is conducted upon the granting the credit and at the time of the periodic assessment of the quality of customers and the
quality of the collateral and in accordance with the level of materiality.

Legal Risks

A legal risk is the risk of loss, loss of income or damage to the business caused, inter alia, by the absence of power to legally enforce
execution of a contract or by ignorance of the provisions of the law or by a mistaken interpretation of the provisions of the law,
including principal or secondary legislation, directives of supervisory authorities, etc., requiring the Bank to act in accordance
therewith, or from exposure to legal proceedings against the Bank or any of its employees or officers within the framework of their work
at the Bank or on its behalf, on the criminal, administrative or civil plain.

The legal risk includes, inter alia, exposure to penalties, fines or other punitive damages, as a result of supervisory enforcement actions
as well as private settlements.

According to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 350, the legal risk forms part of the operational risk, defined therein as
risk of losses due to improper or failure of internal processes, employees and systems, or due to external events.
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The principal risk factors for legal risk exposure are: absence of knowledge of the law applying to the operations of the Bank and the
Group, mistaken legal advice, activity without legal support, mismatch of standard documents and procedures to changes in the law,
non-compliance with the law and/or regulations.

The Bank's operations are regularized by various regulatory directives and by legislative instructions, regulations and rules imposing on
the Bank various duties and restrictions on the part of the supervisory authorities to which the Bank is subject in its operations, this,
inter alia, due to its status of a "banking corporation". Any action in contravention of these provisions, or the non-implementation
thereof, may expose the Bank to legal risks.

The Chief Legal Adviser is the chief legal risks manager at the Bank and at the Group.

The Bank maintains a Group legal risk management policy, which had recently been updated and was approved by the Board of Directors
in March 2018. The policy has been adopted by the principal subsidiaries in Israel and by the Bank's extensions abroad, mutatis
mutandis.

Compliance Risks

Compliance risk is the risk of the imposition of legal or regulatory sanctions, of a material financial loss or of reputational harm, which
the banking corporation might sustain as a result of failing to comply with the laws, the regulations, the regulatory directives, the
internal procedures and the ethics code that apply to its banking operations.

Discount Group’s activities with banks acting in the Palestinian Authority. During 2017, different meetings were held between the
Bank and the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Justice and the Supervisor of Banks with a view of forming tools for the hedge of the
risk involved in the provision of services to the banks acting in the Palestinian Authority, through the granting of a letter of
commitment not to institute criminal charges and by providing a letter of indemnity in respect of possible monetary claims. During the
second quarter of 2018, the Bank received immunity and indemnity letters signed by the State of Israel. In the letter of immunity, the
State of Israel undertook not to file an indictment against the Bank, Mercantile Discount Bank, its officers and employees for certain
offenses in the area of the prohibition of money laundering and the financing of terror, in connection with the provision of services to
the banks acting in the Palestinian Authority during the period from March 28, 2016, until May 31, 2019 ("the period of immunity and
indemnity"). In the letter of indemnification, the state of Israel has undertaken to indemnify the Bank and MDB in an amount of up to
NIS 1.5 billion for the expenses (liability under a peremptory ruling and court costs), which will be incurred by the banks in connection
with the conduct of civil proceedings or criminal proceedings (that had not concluded with a conviction), which will be brought against
the banks, their officers or their employees, in connection with the provision of services to banks acting in the Palestinian Authority in
the period of immunity and indemnity. The aforesaid immunity and indemnity undertaking from the state was subject to reservations
and conditions with which the banks need to comply, and which were specified in the letters of immunity and indemnity.

On June 26, 2018, the Supervisor of Banks informed the Bank and MDB that she would not take any enforcement measures in respect of
everything relating to the operation of the banks regarding the correspondence services provided by them to which the immunity letter
applies. On October 21, 2018, the Government Secretariat published an announcement stating that the government had decided to
establish a government company, wholly-owned by the State of Israel, which will provide correspondence services to the Palestinian
banking system via the Palestinian Monetary Authority, using the payments array in Israel, with this replacing to a certain extent the
service that some of the commercial banks are currently providing, and in light of their having announced their intention to cease
providing such service.

On February 20, 2019, the Director-General of the Ministry of Finance contacted the Bank and informed it, inter alia, that the earliest
that the government company would be able to provide services to banks operating in the Palestinian Authority territories would be the
first half of 2021, with this being a cautious assessment. The Director-General at the Ministry of Finance emphasized the supreme
importance of the Bank continuing to provide - during the interim period until the government company begins its operations -the
correspondent services to the banks acting in the Palestinian Authority, with this, taking into consideration the possibility of extending
the letters of indemnification and immunity, at the discretion of the Accountant-General and the Attorney-General.

On June 30, 2019, the Bank received a letter of indemnity signed by the Accountant General, which extends the indemnification period
through February 28, 2021 (with the State being authorized to extend this date to May 31, 2021). Inter alia, the State has undertaken
in the letter of indemnity to indemnify the Bank and MDB in an amount of up to NIS 1.5 billion for each indemnifiable event. Moreover,
the State has also undertaken to indemnify the banks for proceedings that conclude in a mutually agreed fine in the United States
(without conviction). The State’s undertaking of indemnity is subject to qualifications and terms with which the banks must comply,
which are similar to the qualifications and terms prescribed in the original letter of indemnity.
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On May 30, 2019, the Bank received a notice from the Attorney-General regarding the extension of the immunity period, according to
the current letter of immunity, through May 31, 2020. In light of the aforesaid, the Bank for the moment is continuing to provide
services to banks operating in the Palestinian Authority. On March 2, 2020, the Bank was informed that the Attorney General had
extended the validity of the letter of immunity for a further month, through June 3, 2020, so as to allow for discussion on this topic to
be held at the Security Cabinet.

Conduct Risk

Conduct risk is the risk created by violation of fairness, decency and transparency values vis-a-vis the Bank's customers, including
forbidden discrimination of customers. The risk might materialize as a result of unfair treatment of customers and the harmful
exploitation of the corporation’s position. The conduct risk, including fairness, decency, transparency and nondiscrimination values, is
an integral part of the definition of compliance risk at the Bank, as integrated in the policy document on the matter. The Bank acts
constantly to integrate these values within the array of relevant processes and increases the awareness of its employees to their
importance.

Risk Factors Table

Banking corporations in Israel are required to present the risk factors in the framework of the annual report and to classify according to
categories their impact on the business of the banking corporation, to the extent possible in respect to each risk factor. The Group uses
a five grade evaluation scale for the rating of the impact of each risk (High, Medium-High, Medium, Low-Medium and Low).

Within the framework of risk management processes at the Discount Group and in accordance with requlatory requirements in the
matter, mapping, identification, analysis and evaluation processes are conducted in respect of the risks to which the Group is exposed,
in accordance with an orderly Group methodology for the evaluation of the risk profile as part of the capital adequacy assessment
process. At the base of the assessment, the Bank tests the implications of changes in the risk environment, in the inherent risk, in risk
centers, in the quality and effectiveness of the risk management processes and in the control environment, the examination of
implications from a forward looking view and more.

All these, as well as the methodology that had been formed for the internal capital adequacy assessment process, comprise, among
other things, a basis for the assessment of capital requirements coinciding with to the Group's unique risk profile.

Due to the complexity of the risks discussed, as well as the ability to assess their impact, the Group uses various assessment tools,
including expert assessment, risk cards, models and stress tests, which include different assumptions regarding the impact of exposure,
the magnitude of future events and the probability that such events would materialize. Notwithstanding, no standardized objective
grading exists for the conversion of the results received by use of the assessment tools, as stated, to the categories used in the table. It
is also noted that each risk factor is tested independently of other risk factors, which are detailed in the Table.

In view of that stated above, it is emphasized that the assessment of the impact of each risk factor is a subjective assessment made by
the Bank's Management, of the material risk factors and their impact, in accordance with the unique characteristics of operations of the
Discount Group, and therefore, extra care should be taken in examining the impact of the risk factor, as stated in the table, and in
comparing this data with that of other banks.



90

Risk Factors Table

1. Riskenvironment’  \jedium-High

2. Overall impact of Medium
credit risk

The competitive environment and in the regulatory environment continue to be
dynamic and complex.

Technological developments, the growing interest in digital services and
developments in customer expectations result in an increase in competition and lead
to expected changes in the activity model, through continuing expanding the
cooperation with third parties. A subject that might be accelerated in the future,
together with the expansion of the open banking field.

The continuation of regulatory moves, increased enforcement (both domestic and
international) and focusing on fairness, transparency and privacy protection
requirements.

Cyber and data protection risks continue to present a significant threat on the
financial system, and require a continuous investment of resources and inputs. In the
internal risk environment, the improved performance of the Group continues, beyond
the strategic outline took place in the internal risk environment, while reducing the
gaps existing in relation to the industry and increasing the Group's market share as
regards credit. Notwithstanding, similar efficiency measures taken by the industry
create a continuous challenge regarding the reduction of the gap.

A continuing growth in credit in all Group companies in accordance with the strategic
plan, alongside the activity improving the quality of the portfolio. Improvements are
being made in the supporting tools and models, including promotion of integrating a
Group project for the development of advanced models and risk adapted pricing. All
this alongside improvements in underwriting processes and in monitoring and control
tools.

2.1 Quality of borrowers  pjedium
and collaterals risk

2.2 Industry Medium
concentration risk

In view of the business and regulatory environment, which might impact the growth
in risk, and the accelerated growth in credit at the Group, the Bank is acting to reduce
the credit risk by preparing for regulation, improving models, updating its credit
policy, tightening of controls while maintaining the quality of the portfolio and proper
processes for the management of the credit portfolio.

The Group complies with the regulatory restrictions.

2.3 Borrower/groups of  \jedium
Borrowers
concentration risk

3.  Overall impact of Low-Medium
market risks

3.1 Interest rate risk Low-Medium

The Group complies with the regulatory restrictions.

The level of risk has not changed. Exposure is stable and is closely managed in a
wide range of sensitivity tests and BIS adapted assumptions (Basel 4). Financial
management is Group based (Global treasury) and undergoes a continuing process
for improvement of tools and models, inter alia, assisted by the upgrading of the
system.

The scope of the interest exposure (both economic and accounting) compared to the
capital of the Bank is not large. However, in view of the lengthening of the average
maturity period of the portfolio, a higher economic risk has been created for a rise in
the market interest rate. The risk management quality is in a continuous
improvement trend.

3.2 |Inflation and Low
exchange rate risk

3.3. Share price and credit | o\v-Medium
spreads risks relating
to the holding of
securities

4. Liquidity risk Low

Maintaining a low exposure level alongside the strict monitoring of its effect.

The risk level has not changed, principally on the background of the fluctuations on
the equities markets and the reduction in credit margins of corporate bonds.

The risk profile remains low, as is revealed by the level of the risk indices (the
liquidity coverage ratio, the liquidity gap, the internal model, etc.), despite a controlled
reduction in the liquidity surplus, concurrently with the growth in credit. The Group
continues to enjoy robust liquidity, is implementing a clear funding strategy and is
taking further measures to improve the tools that support risk management.

3 Relates to the evaluation of the risk environment impacts: domestic, global, the local and international competition environment and the regulatory risk environment.
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Risk Factors Table (continued)

6. ITrisk

Medium

The computerization plan commensurates with the strategic focal points and is being
updated accordingly. Accelerated development is performed on the background of the
competition environment, while combining new technologies and advanced
management method, such as Agile*, the integration of development tools and
automated examinations DEVOPS, and more. This, alongside the adaptation and
improvement of monitoring and control processes and the strengthening of the
technological infrastructure and redundancy. The Bank acts towards the continuing
advancement of open banking and cooperation with startup companies, while stressing
performance of strict risk management processes, focused on privacy protection and
information security aspects.

7. Data protection and
cyber risks

Medium-High®

The growth in threats and the increase in power, ingenuity, complexity and level of
probability of cyber risks continue. The Group continues to allocate significant
resources for the reduction of exposure, which includes: the focusing on stronger
protection of the network and its components, improvement of forestallment and
monitoring tools, improving the ability to contain and manage events, management of
cyber risk applying to the supply chain, reducing exposure applying to money outflow
routes, central management of authorization concepts, and more. At the same time,
the Bank continues to develop aspects of policy and risk appetite, including
determination of indicators and thresholds in qualitative and quantitative terms,
alongside the conduct of exercises and improvements in the security layout and data
protection at the Bank and at the Group.

The establishment continues of risk management operations in the second and third
lines of defense.

8. Legal and regulatory
risk

9. Cross-border risks

10. Compliance, Money
Laundering and
Financing of Terror
risks

Medium

Medium-High

Medium

The profuse regulation alongside increased enforcement in Israel and around the world
and the expansion of activity in the digital and innovation field, require close legal
assistance and readiness at short time schedules. On the other hand, management
quality is constantly improving, inter alia, by means of the establishment of a
designated function for the management of the regulatory risk, adaptation of the
supporting organizational infrastructure, integration of quantitative indicators and more.
The evaluation reflects the level of risk of the system in the light of the risk's dynamics
and the increased enforcement. The continuation of regulation development requires
investment in the continuation of mechanization and the adaptation thereof to the
domestic and global regulation (FATCA, CRS, Ql). Management and monitoring is
conducted with respect to operations of the Group focused on controls, improvement
and organization of customers, training and integration as well as the continuing
mechanization of the requirements into systems and processes.

The continuation of regulatory changes and increased competition lead to changes in
new processes and products, which are strictly accompanied by compliance and AML
aspects, while emphasizing fairness and privacy protection aspects. Likewise, the
Group is preparing for the updating and implementation of an internal enforcement plan
with respect to competition legislation.

The Group continues to put together resources in order to promote integration of the
compliance culture, while emphasizing training and application of controls in a risk
based approach and the integration of fairness and decency aspects in the processes
of credit sales and debt collection, in all Group companies.

Emphasis is put on regulation and policy regarding providers of financial services, as
well as improvement of identification abilities, risk based monitoring and control with
respect to the activities of increased risk populations, an increase exists in the
structured risk, both due to the reasons mentioned above and in view of the expanded
activity in areas such as hi-tech and complex credit transactions, facing the challenges
existing in the opening and management of accounts for companies engaged in the
fintech field, the cryptographic coins field and such like. The Group has acted to
assemble operations involving risk (foreign residents, currency converting services,
loan charity organizations, etc.) in branches specializing in these fields.

4 lterative software development methodology in a flexible production process conducted by small teams, while focusing on efficiency, agility and maintaining product quality in a controlled

manner.

5 Evaluation of the risk impact derives mostly from the identification of risk as developing and system risk and as a derivative of an increase in their risk environment, and not on the
background of identification of risks that are singular to the Group.
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Risk Factors Table (continued)

Risk factor Risk Factor Impact Basing the assessment

11. Reputation risk Low-Medium The continuing improvement in the performance of the Group achieves investors' and
stakeholders' trust, which is reflected in the performance of the share and in
successful raisings of capital, alongside leadership in customer satisfaction from the
Bank's application. The Bank's Board of Directors has decided to change the dividend
policy so as to enable a dividend distribution at a higher rate than the profit.

Current processes for management of the risk exist, including a quarterly Group forum
and the monitoring of supporting indicators.

12. Strategic risk Medium The increased competition and the entry of new players (off-banking entities and
(including risk of the technology and fintech entities) into the traditional banking market, alongside changes
business model) in public preferences and in customer needs, lead to expected structural changes in

the banking industry and raise the business model risk in the industry. The Group acts
for the formation and implementation of the future banking concept for the Group, as
part of the realization of the strategic plan and periodic initiation of new projects in the
fields of innovation, the open banking, digital and technology.

The Group presents a continuing improvement in the strategic focus points and
improvement is noticed in efficiency ratios and in the return on equity, yet the
challenges continue to be significant.

Challenging strategic plans exist in ICC and in IDB New York, which are being managed
under Group methodology and supervision.

e CHAPTER "D” - ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, CONTROL
AND PROCEDURES

Critical Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates
General

The Bank's financial statements are prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles (summarized in Note 1 to the
financial statements) and according to instructions and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks.

The level of regulation regarding the financial reporting of banking corporations is among the highest in the financial reporting field in
Israel. The instructions and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks are comprehensive, detailed and sometimes even dictate the wording
to be used by banking corporations. Nonetheless, there are areas where application of the accounting policy involves a high level of
evaluation and assessment performed by Management of the banking corporation in the course of preparation of the financial
statements.

Application by Management of the accounting principles and the instructions and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, requires
sometime various assumptions, evaluations and assessments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including
contingent liabilities, as well as the financial results reported by the Bank. It is possible that when the evaluations and assessments
materialize in the future, their results may be different than those anticipated at the time the financial statements were prepared.
Certain of the evaluations and assessments applied involve uncertainty or sensitivity to various variables to a large extent. Such
evaluations and assessments, changes in which might have a considerable effect on the reported financial results, are considered
evaluations and assessments of "critical" matters.

Management believes that the evaluations and assessments used in the preparation of the financial statements are fair and were made
in accordance with the best of its information and professional judgment.

Following is a summary review of evaluations and assessments made as regards "critical" matters.

Allowances for Credit Losses

The process of assessing the loss inherent in the credit portfolio, as described in Note 1D 4 regarding the accounting policy, is based on
significant assessments involving uncertainty, and on subjective assessments, both at the stage of identifying and classifying the debts
and at the stage of measuring the allowance for credit losses. A change in assessments or in estimates may have a material effect on the
allowance for credit losses as presented in the Bank's financial statements.
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The Bank examines the overall adequacy of the allowance for credit losses. The adequacy evaluation, as stated, is based on the
judgment of Management, which takes into consideration the risks inherent in the credit portfolio and in the evaluation methods
applied in the determination of the allowance.

For details regarding the accounting policy, see Note 1 D 4 to the financial statements. For details regarding the credit and its quality,
see Note 31 to the financial statements. For details regarding the overall credit risk for which the Group is responsible in respect of
problematic borrowers, see above under "Structure and Developments of Assets, Liabilities, Capital and Capital Adequacy". For details
regarding the credit risk management at the Bank, including the Bank’s preparations for the adoption of updates to the generally
accepted accounting principles at banks in the U.S. - allowances for credit losses (CECL), see "Credit risks" above in Chapter C - "Risks
review" and in the document "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and additional information regarding risks".

Contingent Liabilities

The accounting treatment of contingencies is implemented in accordance with the U.S. Standard ASC 450 and its related guidelines, and
in accordance with the guidelines and clarifications of the Supervisor of Banks, including public reporting directives in the matter of
"Accounting for Contingencies". In assessing the required allowance, it is necessary to examine the probability of a loss and to assess
its amount. These evaluations affect both the duty itself of creating an allowance in respect of the claim and the mode and scope of the
disclosure in the financial statements.

For the purpose of assessing possible losses as a result of actions filed against the Bank, the Bank's Management and the managements
of other banks and companies in the Group rely on opinions of Counsels representing them in these matters. In the nature of things,
such opinions are subjective and face objective evaluation difficulties. Such difficulties grow immensely in cases of class action suits.
Accordingly, it is possible that the actual results of certain of the actions would be different from those estimated based on the opinions
of Counsels. In view of the volume of actions pending against the Bank, other banks and companies in the Group, it may transpire that
the non-materialization of such estimates would have a material effect on the financial results of the Discount Group.

The Bank is exposed to unasserted claims. In assessing the risk associated with unasserted claims/lawsuits, the Bank relies on internal
assessment by the handling entities and by Management, which weigh the estimated probability of a claim being made, the chances of
such claim, if made, to prevail and any settlement payments. Such assessment is based on past experience with regard to similar claims
filed, and on an analysis of the actual allegations. By nature, in view of the preliminary stage of inquiring of the legal allegation, the
actual outcome objective difficulties exist, which may result in the impossibility of making an assessment. Even if an assessment is made
the actual outcome may differ from assessment conducted prior to filing of the claim.

It should be noted that where the Bank is one of the defendants in an action, and the claimants have not attributed an amount to each
of the defendants, the evaluation of the claim amount relevant to the Bank has been made to the best of ability, taking into account
that consideration of the total amount might mislead and is incorrect in the circumstances, and that the evaluation does not necessarily
represent the allocation as finally determined by the Court.

See Note 26 C to the financial statements for details of material legal actions pending against the Bank and against other companies in
the Group. For details as to additional proceedings and claims settled during the year, see "Legal proceedings" in Chapter "Corporate
governance, audit and additional details regarding the business of the Banking corporation and management thereof". For details
regarding the criteria relating to the disclosure of legal actions and the accounting treatment adopted in their respect, see Note 1 D 16
to the financial statements.

Impairment of Available for Sale Securities

According to directives and guidelines issued by the Supervisor of Banks and to accepted accounting principles applying to banking
corporations, unrealized gains or losses on adjustment to fair value of available for sale securities, net of the tax effect, are directly
recorded as a separate item in equity within the framework of other comprehensive income, and are taken to the statement of profit and
loss in certain cases, including upon realization of the securities. Unrealized losses recorded as a separate item in equity within the
framework of other comprehensive income, are losses of a temporary nature only. Other than temporary losses (OTTI) are taken directly
to the statement of profit and loss.

The Bank’s management is therefore required to examine and evaluate the nature of losses accumulated in respect of the said
securities.

For the purpose of determining the nature of losses accumulated in respect of securities as above, managements of the Bank and/or of
the relevant subsidiaries, base themselves on the security’s various characteristics on which losses have been accumulated and on the
company that had issued this security, such as: The loss rate in relation to cost/amortized cost, the period in which the fair value of the
security was lower than its cost, the credit rating of the security and changes that had taken place in its rating and attributing
impairment to the deterioration in the financial condition of the issuer or to market conditions as a whole, etc.
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The said characteristics and assessments are to a large extent subject to subjective judgment and accordingly changes in assessments,
assumptions and features upon which they are based may have a significant effect upon the financial statements.

For further details, and including the criteria, the fulfillment of which would require recognition of impairment other than temporary,
see Note 1 D 5.7 to the financial statements.

Measurement of Financial Instruments according to their Fair Value

Directives of the Supervisor of Banks. The Bank implements the directive regarding Measurement of fair value based on the U.S.
financial accounting standard ASC 820. Fair value is defined as the amount that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between voluntary seller and voluntary purchaser at date of measurement. Among other
things, the Standard requires that for the purpose of assessing fair value maximum use should be made, to the extent possible, of
observable inputs, while reducing the use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect information available on the market,
received from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the assumptions of the banking corporation.

ASC 820 details the hierarchy of measurement techniques based on the question whether inputs used for the determination of fair value

are observable or unobservable.

These types of inputs create a fair value grading according to levels: 1, 2, and 3. For additional details, see Note 1 D 7.

Determination of the fair value of financial instruments of level 2 and level 3, is based upon estimates and assumptions relying, among

other things, on subjective considerations. Accordingly, a possible deviation in the said estimates and assumptions may change the fair

value of the financial instruments.

For additional details regarding the distribution of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value,

based on the scale of quality determined in the Standard see Note 34 to the financial statements.

The assumptions, according to which the Bank had classified assets and liabilities to the various quality groups, as detailed above,

included:

- Inthe highest quality group (Level 1) are included financial instruments and derivative financial instruments, traded on an active
market (typified by a large number of participants and by a high trading turnover), the prices quoted thereon reflect actual market
price;

- Inthe medium quality group (Level 2) are included financial instruments that are not traded on an active market, the fair value of
which is based on quotations received from independent entities (hereinafter: Instruments, the fair value of which is determined by
"pricing services"), and assessment models, all significant data used therein are observable in the market and are supported by
observable market inputs. The financial instruments (including derivative instruments) the fair value of which is determined using
"pricing services" include non-marketable securities denominated in Israeli currency and bonds of foreign financial institutions,
corporations and governments;

- Inthe lowest quality group (Level 3) are included derivative financial instruments, the fair value of which is determined based on
significant unobservable inputs included in the assessment model.

This class includes also significant derivative financial instruments, the adjustment for credit risk in respect thereof is not based on

observable inputs.

For details regarding transfers between levels of fair value hierarchies, see Note 34 G to the financial statements.

As seen from the data presented in Note 34 E 1 to the financial statements, the ratio of instruments classified to Level 3, to the total of

assets and liabilities in respect of derivative financial instruments, was 12% at December 31, 2019, compared with 14.1% at December

31, 2018.

The income on assets and liabilities, measured recurrently on the basis of fair value, included in level 3 in Note 34 F (1), amounted to

NIS 535 million in 2019, compared to an income of NIS 140 million for 2018.

Estimate of fair value of securities. Securities, excluding bonds held to maturity, are stated in the balance sheet at fair value, except

for shares and option warrants in respect of which fair value is not readily available, which are stated at cost. Differences between the

fair value and the stated cost of securities available for sale, are recognized in a capital reserve.

The market value of securities traded on an active market and which have a market price, represents their fair value. The stated fair

value relating to securities which are not traded on an active market and which do not have a market price, is a calculated fair value as

explained hereunder.

The fair value of bonds issued by foreign financial institutions, corporations and governments is based on price quotations by

international providers of securities prices that are independent of the Bank, and independent of the issuing entities as well as the

marketing entities. These providers are leading international companies that provide price quotation and evaluation services to
hundreds of leading financial institutions around the world. For control purposes the Middle Office performs crosschecks of securities
prices, as received from the provider with those published by the Bloomberg system (financial data system) and as the case may be, also
to broker quotations that are not the issuers of the securities (in the case of a material change in the monthly level), which comprise an
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indication of the price for the execution of the transaction. Whenever differences arise between the valuation of the provider and prices
quoted by brokers, the matter is brought before the control committee, which decides as to the fair value of the security.

Calculation of fair value of Israeli currency non-marketable securities is performed by the present value of future cash flows method, on
the basis of the discount interest rate obtained from a quotation company (elected by the Capital Market, Insurance and Savings
Division at the Ministry of Finance). For control purposes, the Middle Office performs, to the extent possible, tests which compare the
resultant fair value amount with prices of other marketable securities of the same issuer or similar securities traded on the market.
Furthermore, an examination is performed of the reasonableness of changes in fair value, including in relation to quotations of recent
known transactions.

Estimate of fair value of derivative financial instruments. The Bank is active to a considerable extent in the derivative financial
instruments field, which are presented in the financial statements on a fair value basis as different from the accrual basis. Where the
derivative financial instruments are traded on an active market and have a market value, then the market value represents their fair
value.

Where the derivative financial instruments are not traded on an active market and do not have a market value, fair value is assessed by
means of accepted models for the pricing and revaluation, which take into account the risks inherent in the instrument, such as: the
present value of future cash flows expected to be received from the instrument, the Black and Scholes model, etc.

The calculation of the fair value of derivative financial instruments, in respect of their foreign currency component, is based on interest
rates and prices prevailing in the international money markets, and with respect to their Israel currency component, on non-linked
interest rates and linked interest rates, determined by the Bank's asset and liability management department and through the Bank’s
dealing room, as the case may be, taking into consideration market prices, liquidity and the existing trading level in the local market.
The margin between the sales interest rate and the purchase interest rate comprises a subjective factor, which affects the computation
of the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

The fair value of options is based, for the most part, upon the Black and Scholes Model and it is being affected by the volatility inherent
(standard deviations) in exchange rates, interest rates and by the indices relevant to the option bought or written by the Bank. The
volatility data of the foreign currency to Shekel exchange rate and of foreign currency to foreign currency exchange rate are determined
by the Bank’s dealing room in accordance with the money markets and are supervised by the Middle Office, being compared with several
sources of information.

Establishing the model to be used in computing the fair value of derivative financial instruments, the pricing methodology and the
computation of fair value amount, is the responsibility of the Middle Office, serving as a factor independent of the business units that
execute the transactions (hereinafter: "the factor responsible for determining fair value"), by using designated systems (hereinafter:
"process of determining fair value"). For derivative financial instruments the volume of transactions therein is material, the process of
determining fair value is validated and verified by the department in charge of evaluation of market and liquidity risks at the Risk
Management Department, which functions at a suitable professional level and serves as a factor independent of the factor responsible
for determining fair value. Validating the said process includes an examination of the compatibility of the model to the type of
instrument in question, the fairness and reasonableness of the parameters used in determining fair value, the reasonableness of the
resultant fair value amounts, sample examinations of the computations, etc. Validating the models used for the computation of fair
value is performed at least once a year, or whenever a material change takes place in the process of determining fair value. The
validation process, which mostly includes the reasonableness tests and the sample computation tests, is performed once in every
quarter. In addition to the verification and validation process, control measures are being adopted by the Accounting Division in order
to secure the appropriateness and fairness of the fair value of all derivative financial instruments.

An interface exists for the transfer of the results of the validation and verification between the Middle Office and the Liquidity and
Market Risks Evaluation Department. In case of disagreements between the said factors, the matter will be brought for discussion in the
Control Committee (a committee in the Risk Management Division, in which a representative of the Accounting Division also takes part).
In addition, the Bank performs on a current basis an assessment and examination of the risk pertaining to the process of determining
fair value. Within this framework the Bank has defined a limitation whereby it would not enter into a transaction involving a new type of
financial instrument in a material amount, and would not increase the amount of an existing type of instrument, unless a structured
process exists in respect thereof for determining fair value at a reasonable level of assurance (hereinafter: "the exceptional
instruments"). It is noted that, in general, the Bank does not engage in transactions involving instruments in respect of which there is
insufficient liquidity in the market, except for back-to-back transactions.

Notes 28 and 34 to the financial statements includes comprehensive data regarding the Bank's derivative financial instruments activity
and information regarding fair value of these instruments, according to the type of instrument.
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The credit risk. In measuring the fair value of a debt, including derivative instruments that had been issued by the Bank and are
measured at fair value, the Bank reflects credit risk and non-performance risk. For additional details regarding the manner of assessing
credit risk, see Note 1D 7 to the financial statements.

Where in respect of the exposure, satisfactory liquid collateral exists that specifically secures the derivative instrument at a high level of
legal certainty, the Bank assumes a zero inherent credit risk, and does not make adjustments to fair value in respect of the credit quality
of the counterparty.

The Bank conducts reasonableness tests with respect to assessments of credit risk, which include also the testing of exceptional ratios.
The assets and liabilities credit risk adjustment in respect to derivative instruments was negligible in 2018-2019. It should be noted
that, from the fourth quarter of 2019, the Bank also takes into consideration the potential exposure component in calculating the credit
risk adjustment. The change did not have a material effect on the operating results.

Details regarding the adjustment of the assets and liabilities in respect of derivative instruments

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 4,558 3,738
Adjustment in respect of credit risk regarding assets relating to derivative instruments (10) (12)
Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 4,866 3,282
Adjustment in respect of credit risk regarding liabilities relating to derivative instruments 6 (3)

In addition, the Bank performs reasonableness tests of the results obtained from the internal evaluation of changes in market spreads,
and perform the necessary adjustments, as the case may be.

Employee Rights

The Bank applies U.S. accounting principles as regards employee rights. For additional details, see Note 1 D 15.1. The Bank recognizes
amounts relating to pension and severance plans and other post retirement plans on the basis of computations that include actuarial
and other assumptions.

Certain aspects regarding the implementation of the accounting policy. As stated, the use of actuarial computations requires use of

statistical tool and assessments as regard the future and is based on past experience and on the limitations determined in this respect

by the Bank's Management. The limitations determined by the Management are detailed in Note 1 D 15.7 to the financial statements.

The actuarial computation is based on several parameters, including: life expectancy, retirement age of employees prior to the

retirement date, the rate of employee retirement prior to the prescribed retirement date, the rate of increase in salary anticipated and

the discount rate. These parameters were determined, inter-alia, based on forecasts prepared by the actuary and the experience
accumulated in the Bank. The actuarial computation was based on a computed discount rate, in accordance with instructions of the

Supervisor of Banks.

Furthermore, implementation of the accounting policy involves assessments and judgment with respect to the following matters:

- The definition of return to maturity of Israeli government bonds, relevant to the determination of the discount rate, taking into
consideration, among other things, the average period to maturity of the liabilities in respect of which the actuarial computation is
made;

- Definition of the spread added to the basic return, as stated, being an assessment of the risk rate, based on relevant U.S. securities
data, as defined in the instruction;

- In each year, it is required to assess the forecasted return on assets of the plan for the coming year. The difference between the
computations based on the most recent assumption of return and those based on the actual return in the reported period, shall be
included in other comprehensive income and taken to the statement of profit and loss in accordance with the assessed average
period of service. (It is noted in this respect, that the format of this treatment may result in certain fluctuations in the reported
annual profit, including in respect of changes in the assessment of the average service period).

Updated actuarial opinion. The Bank has ordered an updated actuarial assessment as of December 31, 2019. The actuarial opinion also

includes a computation of the actuarial provision amount that would have been required were the cap rate to be determined in

accordance with the Israeli Securities Authority’s “deep market” guideline.
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Presenting the actuary's opinion for perusal. The opinion of the Actuary® is available for perusal on the MAGNA website of the Israeli
Securities Authority, on the MAYA website of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. and on the Bank's website, together with the Bank’s 2019
Annual Report (this Report).

Possible impact of changes in parameters and in assumptions. For details regarding the effect of a change of one percentage point,
in the capitalization rate, in the rate of retirement and in the rate of increase in remuneration, on the liability for the forecasted
benefit, before the tax effect, see Note 23 C to the financial statements, item 3.2.

Examination of impairment in value of non-financial assets

The Bank's Management examines from time to time whether circumstances exist requiring provisions for impairment of non-financial
assets owned by the Bank. The said evaluation, by its nature, involves assumptions and estimates which retroactively might appear
biased.

Impairment of costs of internal development of computer software. Examining the existence of impairment with respect to the own
development of computer software shall be made also where the signs noted in the generally accepted accounting principles for banks
in the United States. For additional details regarding the said indicators, see Note 1 D 13 to the financial statements.

The written down balance of in-house software development costs amounted at December 31, 2019 to NIS 835 million (December 31,
2018: NIS 735 million).

Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures. In the spirit of Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the instructions published in
accordance therewith by the SEC in the United States, the Supervisor of Banks issued a directive regarding a declaration as to disclosure
in quarterly and annual reports of banking corporations.

In order to establish these declarations, the Bank has examined the principal processes of production and delivery of information
related to the financial statements by the Bank's various units, as well as the controls applying to these processes. As part of this
review, the processes of data communication have been mapped and documented in detail, including the controls implemented in these
processes. Additional new controls have been formed, and absorbed in the work processes.

Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 309. On September 28, 2008, the Bank of Israel issued Proper Conduct of Banking
Business Directive No. 309, in the spirit of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which requires bank managements to comply
with the following requirements: assuring the establishment of controls and procedures regarding disclosure and internal control over
financial reporting; evaluation of the effectiveness of the controls and procedures as to disclosure at the end of each quarter;
evaluation of the internal control on the financial reporting at the end of each year, as well as evaluation at the end of each quarter of
the changes that have occurred in internal control during the quarter, which have had or might have had a material effect on the
internal control over financial reporting.

During 2019, the Bank conducted a process of validation and updating of existing processes and addition of new processes and
effectiveness examinations to the internal control layout over financial reporting, by means of the SOX unit established within the
Accounting Division.

Based on the findings of the said examination of the effectiveness of internal control, the Bank's Management together with the
President & CEO and the Bank's Chief Accountant have assessed the effectiveness of controls in the reported period over the Bank's
financial reporting. On the basis of this assessment, the Bank's President & CEQ and the Chief Accountant arrived to the conclusion that
as of the end of the reported period, the controls and procedures regarding financial reporting are effective in order to: record, process,
conclude and report the information included in the annual financial statements, in accordance with the public reporting directives of
the Supervisor of Banks and on the date prescribed by these directives.

6 The English translation of the Opinion is available for perusal at the Bank's website.
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Changes in Internal Control

During the fourth quarter ended on December 31, 2019, no change has occurred in the Bank's internal control over financial reporting,
which materially affected, or is reasonably to materially affect, the Bank's internal control over financial reporting, except for the
merger of Municipal Bank with and into MDB. The legal merger was indeed consummated on December 1, 2019, however, the
operational merger is being conducted gradually, with a gradual absorption of operations and controls.

The Board of Directors wishes to thank the President & CEQ, the members of Management, the Bank’s employees and employees of the
Group’s companies and their management for their work towards the advancement of the Bank and the Group.

March 15, 2020 Shaul Kobrinsky Uri Levin
Chairman of President &
the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer
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I, Uri Levin, certify that:

1. Ihave reviewed the annual report of Israel Discount Bank Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Bank") for 2019 (hereinafter: "the Report");

2. Based on my knowledge, the Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by the Report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in the Report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Bank as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Other officers of the Bank providing this certification and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the public reporting instructions regarding "Directors’
Report"), and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Bank, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within the Bank and those entities, particularly during the period of preparing this report;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accepted accounting principles and directives and guidelines of
the Supervisor of Banks;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in the Report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by the Report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the Report any change in the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during this quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The other officers of the Bank providing this certification and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Bank’s Auditors, to the Board of Directors and to the audit committee of the Board of
Directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Bank’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Bank’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Nothing in that stated above derogates my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person under any law.

March 15, 2020 Uri Levin,
President & Chief Executive
Officer
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I, Joseph Beressi, certify that:

1. Ihave reviewed the annual report of Israel Discount Bank Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Bank") for 2019 (hereinafter: "the Report");

2. Based on my knowledge, the Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by the Report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in the Report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Bank as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Other officers of the Bank providing this certification and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the public reporting instructions regarding "Directors’
Report"), and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Bank, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within the Bank and those entities, particularly during the period of preparing this report;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accepted accounting principles and directives and guidelines of
the Supervisor of Banks;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in the Report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by the Report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the Report any change in the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during this quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The other officers of the Bank providing this certification and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Bank’s Auditors, to the Board of Directors and to the audit committee of the Board of
Directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Bank’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Bank’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Nothing in that stated above derogates my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person under any law.

March 15, 2020 Joseph Beressi
Senior Executive Vice President
Chief Accountant
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The Board of Directors and Management of Israel Discount Bank Ltd. (hereinafter - "the Bank") are responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the public reporting instructions regarding "Directors’
Report"). The Bank's internal control system has been designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Board of Directors and
Management regarding the preparation and the fair presentation of financial statements published in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in Israel and directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. Regardless of the quality of their level
of design, all internal control systems have inherent limitations. Therefore, even if these systems are determined effective, they can
provide only a reasonable degree of assurance regarding the preparation and presentation of the financial report.

Management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors, maintains a comprehensive system of controls intended to ensure that
transactions are made in accordance with authorization of Management, assets are protected and the accounting records are reliable.
In addition, Management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors, takes the necessary actions to ensure that communication
and information lanes are effective and monitor performance, including performance of internal control procedures.

Management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors, assessed the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the framework set forth in the Internal Control model of the Committee Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C0SO) since 2013. Based on that assessment, Management believes that as of December 31,
2019, the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting is effective.

The effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by the Bank's
independent auditors, Messrs. Somekh Chaikin and Ziv Haft, Certified Public Accountants, as stated in their report presented on page
107, which includes an unqualified opinion regarding the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2019.

Shaul Kobrinsky Uri Levin Joseph Beressi March 15, 2020
Chairman of the President & Senior Executive Vice President
Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer Chief Accountant
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KPMG IBDO,

Somekh Chaikin

Report of the independent auditors to the shareholders of Israel Discount
Bank Ltd. - In accordance with the public reporting directive of the
Supervisor of Banks regarding internal control over financial reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Israel Discount Bank Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Bank") as of December 31,
2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COS0). The Bank’s Board of Directors and Management are responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for their assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Directors” and Management’s reports on internal control over the attached financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the United States Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB),
regarding audit of internal control over financial reporting as adopted by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Theinternal control of a bank over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP) and directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. The internal control of a bank over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Bank's assets (including disposal thereof); (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statement in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP) and directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, and that the Bank's receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Bank's management and directors; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition (including disposal) of
the bank’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Bank maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with accepted auditing standards in Israel and certain auditing standards applied in the audit of
banking corporations as determined by directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, the Balance sheets - of the Bank and
consolidated - as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the statements of profit and loss, the Statements of Comprehensive income, the
Statements of Changes in Shareholders Equity and the Statements of Cash Flows — of the Bank and consolidated - for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and our report dated March 15, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on these
financial statements as well as calling attention to Note 26 C item 13 concerning motions for the approval of certain lawsuits as class
action suits and regarding other claims against the Bank and investee companies.

Somekh Chaikin Ziv Haft
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)

March 15, 2020



KPMG IBDO_

Somekh Chaikin

Auditor's report to the Shareholders' of Israel Discount Bank Ltd. - Annual
Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Israel Discount Bank Limited (hereinafter: "the Bank") and the consolidated financial
statements of the Bank and consolidated: Balance sheets as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, statements of profit and
loss, statements of comprehensive income, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and statements of cash flows for the three
years, the last of which ended December 31, 2019. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank’s Board of Directors and
Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including those prescribed under the
Israeli Auditors’ Regulations (Auditor’s Mode of Performance), 1973, and certain auditing standards applied in the audit of banking
corporations as determined by directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Bank’s Board of Directors and Management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position - of the Bank and consolidated - as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of operations, the changes in shareholders’
equity and cash flows - of the Bank and consolidated - for the three years the last of which ended December 31, 2019, according to
generally accepted accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP). Furthermore, in our opinion, the abovementioned financial
statements were prepared in accordance with the directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks.

Without qualifying our above opinion, we call attention to the Note 26 C item 13 regarding different proceedings filed against the Bank
and against investee companies.

We have also audited in accordance with standards prescribed by the United States Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB) regarding the audit of internal control over financial reporting, as adopted by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
Israel, the internal control of the Bank over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C0S0O), and our
report of March 15, 2020, included an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of the Bank.

Somekh Chaikin Ziv Haft
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)

March 15, 2020

Somekh Chaikin, an Israeli partnership and a member firm of the
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG IBD

International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity g e

Ziv Haft
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Statement of Profit and Loss for the Year ended December 31
Consolidated
Notes 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions
Interest income 7,567 7,053 6,213
Interest expenses 1,674 1,527 1,238
Interest income, net 2 5,893 5,626 4,975
Credit loss expenses 13,31 690 540 574
Net interest income after credit loss expenses 5,203 4,986 4,401
Non-interest Income
Non-interest financing income 3 742 586 595
Commissions 4 2,972 2,851 2,676
Other income ) 57 57 87
Total non-interest income 3,771 3,494 3,358
Operating and other Expenses
Salaries and related expenses 6 3,343 3,385 3,204
Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and equipment 16 1,098 1,039 1,044
Other expenses 7 1,858 1,724 1,446
Total operating and other expenses 6,299 6,148 5,694
Profit before taxes 2,675 2,332 2,065
Provision for taxes on profit 8 932 789 747
Profit after taxes 1,743 1,543 1,318
Bank's share in profit of affiliated companies, net of tax effect 15 16 6 1
Net profit:
Before attribution to non-controlling rights holders 1,759 1,549 1,319
Attributed to the non-controlling rights holders (57) (44) (60)
Net Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders 1,702 1,505 1,259
Earnings per share of NIS 0.1 par value attributed to the Bank's shareholders (in NIS) 9,24 1.46 1.29 1.09
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part thereof.
Date of approval of the Shaul Kobrinsky Uri Levin Joseph Beressi
financial statements: Chairman of the President & Senior Executive Vice President,
Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer Chief Accountant

March 15, 2020
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Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended December 31 (continued)

Interest income 4,257 3,996 3,621
Interest expenses 985 907 764
Interest income, net 2 3,272 3,089 2,757
Credit loss expenses 18,31 828 300 258
Net interest income after credit loss expenses 2,949 2,789 2,499
Non-interest Income

Non-interest financing income 3 566 403 371
Commissions 1,224 1,246 1,193
Other income ) 108 115 131
Total non-interest income 1,898 1,764 1,695
Operating and other Expenses

Salaries and related expenses 6 1,995 2,015 1,998
Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and equipment 16 729 698 726
Other expenses 7 725 662 586
Total operating and other expenses 3,449 3,375 3,310
Profit before taxes 1,398 1,178 884
Provision for taxes on profit 8 492 415 310
Profit after taxes 906 763 574
Bank's share in profit of affiliated companies, net of tax effect 15 796 742 685
Net profit attributed to bank's shareholders 1,702 1,505 1,259
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part thereof.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended
December 31

Net profit before attribution to non-controlling rights holders 1,759 1,549 1,319
Net profit attributed to non-controlling rights holders (57) (44) (60)
Net profit attributed to the Bank's shareholders 1,702 1,505 1,259
Other comprehensive income (loss), before taxes:

Adjustments, net, for presentation of available-for- sale bonds at fair value®® 790 (377) 33
Financial statements translation adjustments, net (283) 252 (335)
Adjustments of liabilities in respect of employee benefits®? (259) 259 (17)
Net income (loss) in respect of cash flows hedge 4 (1) (1)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before taxes 252 133 (320)
Effect of attributed taxes (176) 23 (2)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before attribution to non-controlling rights holders, after

taxes 76 156 (322)
Other comprehensive loss, attributed to non-controlling rights holders (4) = (2)
Other comprehensive income (loss), attributed to the Bank's shareholders, after taxes 80 156 (320)
Comprehensive income, before attribution to non-controlling interests holders 1,835 1,705 997
Comprehensive income, attributed to non-controlling interests holders (53) (44) (58)
Comprehensive income, attributed to the Bank's shareholders® 1,782 1,661 939

Footnotes:
(1) See Note 10.

(2) Reflects mostly adjustments in respect of actuarial assessments as of the end of the period of defined benefits pension plans and amortization of amounts

recorded in the past in other comprehensive income.
(3) In 2017 and 2018 - available-for- sale securities.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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Balance sheet as at December 31
Consolidated The Bank
Notes 2019 2018 2019 2018
in NIS millions

Assets
Cash and deposits with banks 11,27 26,044 21,858 19,996 18,499
Securities (of which: 2,897, 4,767, 2,354, 4,105 respectively, pledged to
lenders) 12,27 37,745 37,898 23,640 21,442
Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements 531 774 531 774
Credit to the public 13,31 182,991 167,078 118,016 109,825
Provision for credit loss 13,31 (2,524) (2,274) (1,477) (1,377)
Credit to the public, net 180,467 164,804 116,539 108,448
Credit to Governments 14 3,615 3,336 3,615 3,336
Investment in investee companies (consolidated — affiliated companies) 15 171 135 10,317 9,617
Buildings and equipment 16 2,577 2,437 1,698 1,671
Intangible assets and goodwill 17 164 160 = =
Assets in respect of derivative instruments 28 4,545 3,726 4,256 3,501
Other assets 18 4,064 4,048 2,242 2,531
Total Assets 259,823 239,176 182,734 169,819
Liabilities and Equity
Deposits from the public 19 201,450 188,916 146,159 136,400
Deposits from banks 20 6,419 6,886 1,762 1,880
Deposits from the Government 181 257 16 28
Securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements 346 1,126 - -
Bonds and Subordinated debt notes 21 13,129 8,476 3,891 4,131
Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 28 4,839 3,249 4,513 3,027
Other liabilities' 22 14,266 12,597 7,715 7,202
Total liabilities 240,630 221,507 164,056 152,668
Equity capital attributed to the Bank's shareholders 18,678 17,151 18,678 17,151
Non-controlling rights in consolidated companies B1% 518 - -
Total equity 19,193 17,669 18,678 17,151
Total Liabilities and Equity 259,823 239,176 182,734 169,819
Footnote:

(1) Of which NIS 223 million and NIS 176 million in the consolidated, and NIS 171 million and NIS 126 million in the bank, as of December 31, 2019, and
December 31, 2018, provision for credit loss in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments. See Note 31 (E).

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof.



112

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Capital reserves

Total
paid up
share Accumulative Equity Non-
Paid up capital other attributed to controlling
share Share and comprehensive Retained the Bank's rights Total
capital premium Other reserves income (loss) earnings shareholders holders equity
in NIS millions

Balance at December 31, 2016 673 3,958 291 4,922 (397) 9,987 14,512 424 14,936
Net Profit for the year - - - - - 1,259 1,259 60 1,319
Dividend to non-controlling interests
holders - - - - - = = (8) (8)
Exercise of options to Shares!" 3 216 (76) 143 - - 143 - 143
Other comprehensive loss after tax
effect = = = = (320) = (320) (2) (322)
Balance at December 31, 2017 676 4,174 215 5,065 (717) 11,246 15,594 474 16,068
Net Profit for the year - - - - - 1,505 1,505 44 1,549
Dividend paid - = = = = (118) (118) o (118)
Other comprehensive income, net
after tax effect? - - - - 156 14 170 - 170
Balance at December 31, 2018 676 4,174 215 5,065 (561) 12,647 17,151 518 17,669
Changes in 2019:
Net Profit for the year - - - - - 1,702 1,702 57 1,759
Dividend paid - = = = = (255) (255) o (255)
Dividend to non-controlling interests
holders - - - - = = = (56) (56)
Other comprehensive income, net
after tax effect - - - - 80 - 80 (4) 76
Balance at December 31, 2019 676 4,174 215 5,065 (481) 14,094 18,678 515 19,193

Footnotes:

(1) As discussed in Note 24 D to the financial statement as of December 31, 2017.
(2) Including the effect of adopting ASU 2018-02, "Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income" and the adoption of
ASU 2014-09, “Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers” - IDB New York, in negligible amounts.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net profit before attribution to non-controlling rights
holders in consolidated companies 1,759 1,549 1,319 1,702 1,505 1,259
Adjustments necessary to present cash flows from
current operations:
Bank's share in undistributed profits of affiliated
companies. (14) (7) (5) (884) (802) (740)
Depreciation of buildings and equipment (including
impairment in value) 466 424 433 304 273 298
Provision for impairment in value of securities not for
trading 31 14 11 = 8 2
Credit loss expenses 690 540 574 323 300 258
Gain on sale of credit portfolio, net (7) (6) (20) (7) (6) (19)
Profit on sale of available-for-sale bonds and shares not
for trading! (250) (154) (369) (98) (64) (162)
Realized and non realized loss (gain) from adjustment
to fair value of trading securities, net 2 (63) 18 10 (64) 17
Non realized profit on adjustment to fair value of shares
no for trading (39) - - (38) - -
Gain from realization at an investment in investee
companies (13) = (5) (13) = =
Gain on realization of buildings and equipment (42) (46) (64) (34) (46) (68)
Net deferred taxes (115) 34 (84) (91) 77 (85)
Severance pay — increase (decrease) in excess of
provision over the deposits 336 (151) 81 144 (32) 43
Net change in current assets:
Assets in respect of derivative instruments (816) (771) 330 (755) (651) 290
Trading securities (252) (659) 1,406 (550) (251) 1,362
Other assets (40) (374) 9 268 (554) 152
Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash
equivalent balances (145) 188 (181) (204) 186 (169)
Accrual differences included in investment and
financing activities 1,440 (1,161) 1,957 544 9 501
Net change in current liabilities:
Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 1,590 16 (338) 1,485 (48) (326)
Other liabilities 1,049 873 911 235 26 658
Adjustments in respect of exchange rate differences
on current assets and liabilities (185) 239 (185) = = =
Dividends received from affiliated companies 13 37 3 175 191 148
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 5,458 522 5,801 2,516 57 3,419
Footnote:

(1) 2017 and 2018 - available-for-sale securities .

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31 (continued)

Consolidated The Bank

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

in NIS millions

Cash Flows to Investing Activities

Net change in Deposits with banks 42 (45) 228 (130) (57) 70
Net change in Credit to the public, net (8,930) (13,798) (8,925) (5,903) (8,250) (7,301)
Net change in Credit to the Governments 571 (393) (756) 571 (393) (761)
Net change in Securities borrowed or purchased under

resale agreements 243 180 (514) 243 180 (514)
Acquisition of held-to-maturity bonds (766) (2,676) (91) (615) (2,485) =
Proceeds from redemption of held-to-maturity bonds 1,715 1,333 648 1,473 973 191

Purchase of available-for-sale bonds and shares not for

trading” (13,133) (14,240) (10,271) (8,212) (8,821) (6,367)
Proceeds of sale of available-for-sale bonds and shares

not for trading” 10,739 5,794 9,195 5,929 3,725 6,565
Purchased credit portfolios (4,162) (3,838) (1,104) (4,162) (3,838) (1,104)
Gain on sale of credit portfolio 940 254 1,149 787 137 866
Proceeds of redemption of available-for-sale bonds 3,197 5,676 4,029 871 2,866 1,235
Purchase of shares in affiliated companies (62) (12) - (5) - -
Business combinations - see Annex A 449 - - - - -
Net Proceeds of the sale of investments in affiliated

companies 27 - 9 27 - -
Dividend from a subsidiary in liquidation = = = = = 154
Investment in deferred debt notes of a subsidiary

company - - - (160) - (100)

Proceeds of redemption of a subordinated debt note

issued by a subsidiary company. - - - 13 63 6
Acquisition of buildings and equipment (592) (473) (521) (347) (266) (347)
Proceeds from sale of buildings and equipment 65 59 125 52 59 114
Net Cash Flows to Investing Activities (9,657) (22,279) (6,799) (9,568) (16,107) (7,293)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net change in Deposits from banks (488) 2,082 (538) (118) 390 (216)
Net change in Deposits from the public 7.453 13,867 2,883 8,862 11,869 1,330
Net change in Deposits from the Government (76) (10) (36) (12) (22) (18)
Net change in Securities borrowed or purchased under

resale agreements (780) (817) (1,600) - - -
Issuance of subordinated debt notes 3,899 1,493 811 - - 811

Redemption of subordinated debt notes (1,327) (773) (1,753) (261) (164) (147)
Receipts from conversion of options to shares - - 143 - - 143

Dividend paid to the shareholders (255) (118) - (255) (118) -
Dividend to non-controlling rights holders (56) = (8) = - -
Net cash flows from Financing Activities 8,370 15,724 (98) 8,216 11,955 1,903
Increase (decrease) in cash 4,171 (6,033) (1,096) 1,164 (4,095) (1,971)
Cash balance at beginning of period 21,549 27,762 28,819 18,218 22,499 24,301

Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash

equivalent balances 57 (180) 39 203 (186) 169
Cash balance at end of period 25,777 21,549 27,762 19,585 18,218 22,499
Interest and taxes paid and/or received

Interest received 7,576 27,074 6,275 4,301 4,016 3,690
Interest paid (1,712) 12(1,563) (1,212) (1,006) (1,049) (863)
Dividends received 26 48 27 177 193 149
Taxes on income paid (1,265) (927) (926) (837) (563) (526)
Taxes on income received 37 280 90 18 213 38
Footnotes:

(1) 2017 and 2018 - available-for-sale securities .
(2) Improvement in computing of the data.
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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2019
in NIS
millions
Acquired assets and liabilities and cash paid, as of merger date:

Acquired cash 1,142
Assets (excluding cash) 5,811
Liabilities (6,264)
Identified assets and liabilities 689
Goodwill and customer relations 4
Total cost of acquisition 693
Consideration paid in cash 693
Less Acquired cash (1,142)
Net cash flow from the merger with Municipal Bank (449)

Appendix B - Non-cash Asset and Liability Activity during the Reported year

2019 2018 2017
The Bank:
Purchase of fixed assets - 16 14
Lending of securities (121) 486 (241)
Consolidated:
Purchase of fixed assets 9 30 26
Lending of securities 173 648 (328)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

1) Israel Discount Bank Ltd. (hereinafter: "the Bank') is a banking corporation incorporated in Israel.

2) The financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Israel and in accordance with
directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks regarding the preparation of a banking corporation's annual financial
statements.

3) The Notes to the financial statements relate to the Bank's financial statements and to the consolidated financial statements of the
Bank and its subsidiaries, except where it states that the note relates to the Bank only, or to the consolidated statements only.

4) The financial statements were approved for publication by the Bank’s Board of Directors on March 15, 2020.

In these financial statements —

International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter: 'IFRS") — standards and interpretations adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that include International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Accounting
Standards (IAS), including

interpretations of such standards determined by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC), or
interpretations determined by the Standing Interpretation Committee (SIC), respectively.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles by banks in the U.S. — Accounting principles which U.S. banks traded in the U.S. are
required to adopt according to a hierarchy determined by the U.S. Financial Accounting Standard ASC 105-10 (FAS 168). In addition,
the Supervisor of Banks has clarified that despite the hierarchy determined by FAS 168, any position announced publicly by the bank
supervisory authorities in the U.S., or by a team of the bank supervisory authorities in the U.S., regarding the manner of
implementation of generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (U.S. GAAP), shall be deemed a Generally Accepted Accounting
Principle by banks in the U.S..

‘Interested party" and "Related party" - within their meaning in section 80 of the Reporting to the Public Directives.

‘Consolidated subsidiaries" - Companies the financial statements of which are fully consolidated, directly or indirectly, with those of
the Bank.

'Affiliated companies" - companies, other than consolidated subsidiaries and including partnerships, the investment in which is
included in the financial statements, either directly or indirectly, on the equity basis.

‘Investee companies" - consolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

"CPI" - the Consumer Price Index in Israel published by the Central Bureau of Statistics.

1. Principles of financial reporting
The Bank's financial statements are prepared according to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP) and
according to the instructions of the Reporting to the Public Directive of the Supervisor of Banks. In most of the subjects, these
instructions are based on accounting principles accepted by U.S. banks. As regards other matters, of lesser materiality, the
instructions are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Israel
(Israeli GAAP).
2. Functional Currency and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in New Israel Shekels (NIS), which is the Bank's functional currency, being rounded off to
the nearest NIS million, except where otherwise stated. The NIS is the currency representing the principal economic environment
in which the Bank operates. For details regarding the functional currencies of banking overseas extensions, see item D 1, below.
3. Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except for the following assets and liabilities:
- Derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss (such as:
investment in securities included in the trading portfolio);
- Bonds classified as available-for-sale;
- Non-current assets held for sale and a group of assets held for sale;
- Deferred tax assets and liabilities;
- Provisions;
- Assets and liabilities in respect of employee benefits;
- Investments in affiliated companies.
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4.

Use of estimates

In preparing the financial statements, the Management of the Bank and of the investee companies are required to use discretion

and apply estimates, evaluations and assumptions that affect the implementation of the accounting policies and the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from such estimates. Upon the formation of
accounting estimates applied in the preparation of financial statements, the Management of the Bank and of the investee
companies are required to make assumptions with respect to circumstances and events involving significant uncertainty. When
considering such estimates, the Managements of the Bank and of the investee companies base their selves upon past
experience, various facts, external factors and reasonable assumptions according to the circumstances applying to each estimate.

The estimates as well as the underlying assumptions are being reviewed on a current basis. Changes in accounting estimates are

recognized in the period in which the estimates were changed and in each affected future period.

Initial implementation of accounting standards, updates of accounting standards and Directives of the Supervisor of Banks

Starting with the period beginning January 1, 2019, the Bank implements accounting standards and instructions as detailed

hereunder:

(1) Recognition and measurement of financial instruments (see item 1 below);

(2) Derivatives and hedging (see item 2 below);

(3) Receivables (see item 3 below);

Starting with the period beginning April 1, 2019, the Bank implements accounting standards and instructions as detailed

hereunder:

(1) Impairment of available-for-sale bonds (see item 4 below).

Following is a description of the nature of changes in the accounting policy and a description of the manner of initial

implementation and its effect, if at all:

1. Recognition and measurement of financial instruments. Adoption of updated standard ASU 2016-01. The principal objects
of the new rules are to improve the model of reporting financial instruments and to provide users of these reports more
practical information for the purpose of decision making.

At date of initial implementation, the net unrealized gains on shares classified in the past as available-for-sale shares, which
were recorded in other comprehensive income, were reclassified to retained earnings (in negligible amounts). Changes in the
required disclosures have been applied by way of "from now onwards".

The initial implementation and its effect. The Standard will be implemented as from January 1, 2019, and thereafter. The
implementation of the Standard did not have material effect.

2. Derivatives and hedging. Adoption of the updated standard ASU 2017-12. The object of the new rules is to improve the
financial reporting of hedge relations, in a way that would reflect in a better form the economic results of the risk
management activity of a banking corporation in the financial statements.

Where made possible by the update of the U.S. Standards, the subsidiary, IDB New York has adopted the updated rule by
earlier application, starting with the interim financial statements as of June 30, 2018 (see also Note 5 D).

The initial implementation and its effect. The standard was implemented as from January 1, 2019 and thereafter. The
principal impact of the implementation of the standard was the reclassification of securities, classified in the past as held-to-
maturity, to available-for-sale and the modification of the disclosure format to that of U.S. banks.

3. Receivables. In March 2017, U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) published an update (2017-08) regarding the
amortization of the premium paid on the purchase of debt instruments having a premature redemption option, which
comprises an amendment of Item 310-20 of the Codification regarding receivables — non-refundable fees and other costs
(hereinafter: "the Amendment"). According to the Amendment, the period of amortization of the premium paid on debt
instruments having a premature redemption option by the issuer, shall be shortened and computed in accordance with the
earliest premature redemption date.

The initial implementation and its effect. The Standard will be implemented as from January 1, 2019, and thereafter. The
implementation of the Standard did not have material effect.

4. Impairment of available-for-sale bonds. In accordance with the Public Reporting Directives, starting with the financial
statements as of June 30, 2019, the Bank has elected, in concurrence with the Supervisor of Banks, to adopt Standard FSP
FAS 115-2, regarding the recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairments of securities. This, alongside the
continuing implementation of the relevant guidelines included in Appendix P to the Public Reporting Directives.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

119

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In the implementation of the Standard, with regard to bonds having an inherent credit risk, with regard to which the Bank will
determine that there is an other-than-temporary impairment, no differentiation will be made between an impairment that
relates to credit risk and an impairment that relates to other risks, and the gap between the fair value and the amortized cost
as of the reporting date will be carried in full to profit and loss.

The tests deciding whether the impairment is of a nature other than temporary and the cases in which an impairment of a
nature other than temporary would be recognized, have been updated accordingly.

The initial implementation and its effect. The implementation of the Standard did not have material effect.

Foreign currency and linkage

Foreign currency transactions. At date of recognition of a transaction in foreign currency, any asset, liability, income, expense,

profit or loss deriving from such transaction are translated, at date of initial recognition, to the Bank's functional currency in

accordance with the exchange rate in effect on date of the transaction. Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currency at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency in accordance with the exchange rate ruling on that date.

Non-financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured according to fair value are translated into the

functional currency according to the exchange rate ruling on the date on which fair value has been determined. Non-financial items

stated in foreign currency and measured according to historical cost are translated according to the exchange rate ruling at the

date of the transaction.

Profits or losses on translation of transactions in foreign currency, which stem from fluctuations of the currencies in the period

between the date of the transactions and the date of settlement/balance sheet date, are recognized in the statement of profit and

loss as translation differences profits or losses (non-interest financing income), excluding:

- Changes in fair value of components included in the evaluation of the effectiveness of hedge in respect of a hedge
instrument hedging a net investment in foreign operations or hedging cash flows;

- Exchange rate differences in respect of items comprising a part of a net investment.

Foreign activity. Assets and liabilities of foreign activities, including goodwill and adjustments to fair value made upon acquisition,

are translated into NIS on the basis of the exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Income and expenses as well as the profits

and losses of foreign activities are translated into NIS on the basis of exchange rates ruling at dates of the transactions. Exchange

rate differences on translation are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented under "financial statements

translation adjustments".

Upon the realization of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange rate differences relating to that foreign operation,

which had been recognized in other comprehensive income, are reclassified to the statement of profit and loss in the period in

which the profit or loss from the realization of the foreign operation is recognized.

Foreign banking extensions. The banking extension Bancorp is classified as foreign operations the functional currency of which

is different from the shekel.

CPI (in points):

Known at balance sheet month 100.7 100.4 99.3 0.3 0.4 (0.3)
Representative exchange rate (in NIS) at the balance sheet date

of the:

U.S. Dollar 3.456 3.748 3.467 (7.8) (9.8) (1.5
Euro 3.878 4.292 4.153 (9.6) 2.7 (4.8)

2. Principles of consolidation and the implementation of the equity method

2.1 Goodwill. The Bank recognizes goodwill at acquisition date on the basis of the fair value of the consideration given, including

amounts recognized in respect of any rights that do not confer control in the acquired entity, as well as the fair value at

acquisition date of capital rights in the acquired entity held previously by the purchaser, after deduction of the net amount

attributed at acquisition date to identifiable acquired assets and accepted liabilities.

2.2 Subsidiary companies. These are entities controlled by the Bank, the financial statements of which are consolidated with

those of the Bank from date of obtaining control until control is discontinued.
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Non-controlling rights. These are rights representing the equity capital of a subsidiary company which may not be attributed,
directly or indirectly, to the parent company and which include additional components, to the extent existing which are
classified to equity. Non-controlling rights are measured at fair value at date of the business combination.

Allocation of comprehensive income to shareholders. Profit or losses and any component of other comprehensive income
are allocated to the Bank's shareholders and to the non-controlling right holders in consolidated subsidiaries therein. Total
profit and other comprehensive income are allocated to the Bank's shareholders and to the non-controlling right holders
therein even if, as a result, the outstanding balance of the non-controlling rights will be negative.

Transactions with non-controlling right holders while maintaining control. Transactions with non-controlling right holders
while maintaining control are being treated as capital transactions. The difference between the consideration received or paid
and the change in the non-controlling rights in consolidated subsidiaries is charged to the owners' share of the Bank, directly
to capital.

Investments in affiliated companies. Affiliated companies are entities in which the Bank has a material influence over their
financial and operational policies, though not control. Investments in affiliated companies are treated by the equity method
and are initially recognized at cost. The cost of investment includes transaction costs. The consolidated financial statements
include the share of the Group in income and expenses, in the profit or loss and in other comprehensive income of affiliated
companies treated by the equity method, after adjustments required to modify the accounting policy to that of the Group
from date on which material influence has been obtained and until the date on which material influence no longer exist. It is
clarified that the Bank does not make adjustments to accounting policies adopted by the public reporting directives
implemented by a non-financial affiliate, which applies the IFRS rules.

Transactions eliminated upon consolidation. Intercompany balances within the Group and unrealized income and expenses
stemming from intercompany transactions, were eliminated upon consolidation of the financial statements. Unrealized profits
derived from transactions with affiliated companies were eliminated against the investment according to the rights of the
Group in the affiliated companies. Unrealized losses were eliminated in the same manner in which profits have been
eliminated, as long as no evidence of impairment exists.

The treatment in the Bank's standalone financial statements. In preparing the standalone financial statements, the Bank is
treating investee companies by the equity method of accounting. This, in accordance with directives and guidelines of the
Supervisor of Banks. The Bank's standalone financial statements include the financial statements of property and service
companies wholly owned by the Bank, and which assets are mostly used by the Bank.

basis of recognition of income and expenses

Income and interest expenses are included on an accrual basis, except for interest accrued on problematic debts classified as
not occurring interest income debts which is recognized on cash basis, when there is no doubt that the remaining recorded
amount of the impaired debt will be collected. In cases where such doubt exists, all amounts collected serve to reduce the
outstanding balance of the loan. Furthermore, interest on amounts in arrear in respect of housing loans is recognized on the
basis of actual collection.

Commission income in respect of the granting of services are recognized in the Statement of profit and loss upon accrual of
the Bank's entitlement to such income. Certain commissions, such as commission in respect of guarantees and certain
commission relating to project financing, are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the period of the transaction.

In respect of hybrid capital instruments, which include a structured step-up redemption, the interest rates used to compute
the interest cost are the interest rates in effect prior to the step-up, based on Management's evaluation that the instruments
would be redeemed at date of increase in the interest rate.

Commissions regarding the setting-up of credit facilities. Commissions charged upon the setting-up of credit facilities,
except for loans for periods of up to three months, are not recognized immediately as income in the statement of profit and
loss, but are deferred and recognized over the period of the loan as a yield adjustment. Commission income, as stated, is
recognized by the effective interest method and is reported as part of interest income.

Credit allocation commissions. Credit allocation commissions are treated in accordance with the probability of the
commitment to grant credit being realized. Where the probability is remote, the commission is recognized on a "straight-line"
basis over the period of the commitment, otherwise, the Bank defers recognition of such commission income until date of
realization of the commitment or until date of expiry thereof, whichever is earlier. Where the commitment has been realized,
then the commission income is recognized by way of adjustment of the yield over the period of the loan, as stated above.
Where the commitment expires without being realized, the commissions are recognized on date of expiry and are reported as
part of commission income. In this respect, the Bank assumes that the probability of the commitments being realized is not
remote.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

121

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

4.

3.6 Changes in terms of loans. In cases of refinancing or of restructuring of non-problematic loans, the Bank examines the
materiality of the changes in terms of the loan. Accordingly, the Bank examines whether the present value of future cash
flows under the revised terms of the loan differs by at least 10% from the present value of the remaining cash flows under
the original terms. In such cases, the outstanding commissions not yet amortized as well as early repayment commissions
collected from the customer in respect of the change in the terms of credit are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.
Otherwise, the said commissions are included as part of the net investment in the new loan and are recognized as an
adjustment of the yield, as stated above.

3.7 Early repayment commission. Commissions charged in respect of early repayments are recognized immediately as part of
interest income.

3.8 With respect to securities — see sub-section 5 below; with respect to derivative financial instruments - see sub-section 6
below.

3.9 In periods following an impairment of an other than temporary nature, interest income on investments in debt instruments are
recognized based upon the anticipated surplus cash flows of the debt instrument (the base amount of a debt instrument at
date of impairment of an other than temporary nature, is its fair value).

3.10 Other income and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis.

Impaired debts, credit risk and allowance for credit loss
General. In accordance with a Directive of the Supervisor of Banks regarding "Measurement and disclosure of impaired debts,
credit risk and allowance for credit losses", the Bank applies the U.S. accounting standards in this matter (ASC 310) and the
positions of the bank’s supervisory authorities in the U.S. as well as of the SEC, in statements of position and guidelines of the
Supervisor of Banks. Furthermore, the Bank is implementing the guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks regarding "Dealing with
problematic debts".
Credit to the public and other debt balances. The Directive is being implemented with respect to all debt balances, such as:
deposits with banks, bonds, securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements, credit to the public, credit to the
government, etc. Credit to the public and other debt balances, in respect of which the public reporting instructions do not include
specific rules as regards the measurement of the allowance for credit losses (such as: credit to the government, etc.) are stated in
the Bank's books at their recorded amount. The recorded amount of a debt is defined as the debt balance, net of accounting
write-offs, but before deduction of an allowance for credit losses in respect of the said debt. The recorded amount of a debt does
not include unrecognized accrued interest or accrued interest recognized in the past but reversed at a later date.
Identification and classification of impaired debts. The Bank has established procedures for the identification of problematic
credit and the classification of debts as impaired. According to these procedures the Bank classifies problematic debts and off-
balance sheet credit items under the following classifications: special mention, substandard or impaired. A debt is classified as
impaired when based on information and updated events, the Bank does not expect to collect all amounts due to it under the
contractual terms of the debt agreement. The decision regarding the classification of a debt is based, among other things, on the
arrears situation of the debt, evaluation of the financial position and repayment ability of the borrower, evaluation of the primary
repayment source of the debt, the existence of collateral and the state thereof, the financial position of guarantors, where
applicable, and their undertaking to support the debt and the ability of the borrower to obtain finance from a third party.

A debt is classified as impaired when the principal amounts or interest in its respect are in arrears for 90 days or over, except

where the debt is well secured and is in the process of collection. Debts (including bonds and other assets) are in arrears when

the principal amount or the interest thereon has not been paid upon their due date. In addition, current loan accounts or current

accounts are reported as debts in arrears for 30 days or over, when the account exceeds the approved credit facility for a

consecutive period of 30 days or over, or if during a period of 180 days, no amounts covering the debt within the framework of the

credit facility, have been credited to the account. Starting with the date on which a debt is classified as impaired, it is treated as a

debt that does not accrue interest income (hereinafter: "non-performing debt").

Furthermore, any debt, the terms of which had been changed within the framework of a reconstruction of a troubled debt, is

classified as an impaired debt, unless prior to the reconstruction and thereafter, a minimum allowance for credit losses according

to the extent of arrears method has been made in accordance with the Appendix to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive

No. 314 regarding "Proper assessment of credit risks and proper measurement of debts".
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Definition of the primary source of repayment upon the classification of a problematic debt. Determination of the proper
classification of a debt, until a default event occurs or until expectation for such an event becomes highly probable, is based on
the repayment ability of the borrower, namely: the expected strength of the primary repayment source (a sustainable source of
cash over a period of time that must be under the control of the borrower and which must be explicitly or in substance separated
for the repayment of the debt), and this, despite the support of second and third place repayment sources (such as: collateral,
guarantor support, refinancing by a third party).

Reinstatement of an impaired debt as an unimpaired debt. An impaired debt returns to be classified as an unimpaired debt if

one of the two situations exists:

- There are no principal or interest components which remain unpaid on their due date and the Bank expects the repayment in
full of the remaining principal balance and of the interest due according to the terms of the agreement (including amounts
which had been written off accounting wise or an allowance was made in their respect).

- The debt becomes well secured and is in the process of collection.
The rules regarding the reversal of classification as impaired credit, as stated, do not apply to debts classified as impaired as a
result of a restructure of a troubled debt.
Reinstatement of an impaired debt as an impaired debt accruing interest. A debt, which has been formally reconstructed, so
that after the reconstruction reasonable assurance exists that the debt would be repaid and would perform according to its new
terms, is being treated again as an impaired debt accruing interest income, on condition that the reconstruction and any
accounting write-off made in relation to the debt are supported by an updated and well documented credit assessment with
respect to the financial position of the borrower and a repayment forecast according to the new terms. The assessment is based
on the cash and cash equivalent consecutive historical repayment performance of the borrower during a reasonable period of at
least six months, and only after amounts which have materially reduced (at least 20%) the recorded amount of the debt
determined following the reconstruction, have been received.
Allowance for credit losses. The Bank has determined procedures for the classification of credit and for the measurement of the
allowance for credit losses in order to maintain an allowance at a level adequate to cover anticipated credit losses. The allowance
covering credit losses anticipated is assessed in one of two ways: "specific allowance" or "group allowance".
The said examination of debts for the purpose of determining the allowance and the treatment of the debt, is consistently applied
in respect of all debts in accordance with the quantitative level and the Bank's credit management policy, and no changes are
being made between the specific examination track and the group basis examination track during the life of the debt, unless a
restructure of a troubled debt had been made as stated below.
Specific allowance for credit losses. The Bank has elected to identify for the purpose of a specific examination debts the total of
their contractual amount, grouped at the borrower level, is over NIS 1 million (in one consolidated company — in respect of debts
exceeding NIS 500 thousand, and in a consolidated credit card company — debts in respect of credit cards exceeding NIS 500
thousand, and in respect of debts of trading houses — of any amount). A specific allowance for credit losses is recognized in
respect of any debt examined on a specific basis and which is classified as impaired. Furthermore, any debt, the terms of which
had been changed under a reconstruction of a troubled debt shall be classified as an impaired debt, unless prior to the
reconstruction and thereafter, a minimum allowance for credit losses according to the extent of arrears method has been made in
accordance with the Appendix to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 314 regarding "Proper assessment of credit
risks and proper measurement of debts".

The specific allowance for credit losses is assessed on the basis of anticipated future cash flows, capitalized using the original

effective interest rate pertaining to the debt. Where the debt is collateral dependent or when foreclosure of property is expected

by the Bank, the specific allowance is assessed on the basis of the fair value of the collateral pledged to secure the debt in
question, after taking into account conservative and consistent coefficients reflecting, among other things the volatility of the fair
value of the collateral, the time period until its actual realization and expected costs involved in the selling of the collateral.

A collateral-dependent debt is defined as a debt, the recovery of which is expected to be exclusively effected by the collateral

pledged in favor of the Bank, or when it is expected that an asset held by the borrower would serve to repay the debt, even if no

specific pledge exists on the asset, and everything when the borrower has no other material available and reliable repayment
sources.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

123

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Group allowance for credit losses. Computed in order to reflect allowances for impairment in respect of credit losses, that are
not specifically identified inherent in large groups of small debts having similar risk characteristics, as well as in respect of debts
examined on a specific basis and found unimpaired. The allowance for credit losses in respect of debts assessed on a group basis,
is computed in accordance with the rules established in ASC 450 (FAS 5) "Accounting for contingencies"’, and in accordance with
instructions of the Supervisor of Banks, based on historical loss ratios in various economic sectors, differentiating between
problematic and non-problematic credit, within the range of years in the period beginning on January 1, 2011 and ending on the
reporting date. In addition to the calculation of the range of historical loss rates in various economic sectors, as stated, for the
purpose of determining the proper amount of the allowance, the Bank takes into account relevant environmental factors, including
trends in the scope of credit in each sector and conditions in the sector, macro-economic data, assessment of the general quality
of the credit to an economic sector, changes in volume and trends of balances in arrears and impaired balances and the effect of
changes in the credit concentration.

In accordance with the directives of the Supervisor of Banks, the Bank has formed a measurement method for the allowance on a
group basis, which takes into account both the rate of past losses and the adjustments in respect of the relevant environmental
factors. With respect to credit granted to private individuals, the rate of adjustment in respect of environmental factors shall not be
less than 0.75% of the outstanding balance of the non-problematic credit at each reporting date, with reference to the average
rates of loss in the range of the years. Excluded from the above is credit created by bank credit card transactions bearing no
interest charge.

Starting with January 1, 2011, the Bank is not required to maintain general, supplemental and special allowances for doubtful
debts, though it continues to calculate the supplemental allowance and verifies that in any event the amount of the allowance on a
group basis at the end of each reporting period is not lower than the amount of the general and supplemental allowances that
would have been required at that date, gross before tax.

The Supervisor of Banks published a circular on July 10, 2017 amending Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directives No. 314
and 315, intended, inter alia, to abolish the mechanism of the supplementary provision in respect of credit concentration
limitations, absence of up-to-date financial information and other characteristics expressed in other directives. Upon cancellation of
the supplementary provision, it is required to take into account risk characteristics concerning the absence of up-to-date financial
statements in forming the method of determining the allowance for credit losses.

The required allowance in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments - is assessed according to the rules determined by ASC
450 (FAS 5). The group allowance in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments is based on the rates of allowance
determined for balance sheet credit (as detailed above), taking into consideration the anticipated rate of realization to credit of the
off-balance sheet credit risk. The rate of realization to credit is computed by the Bank based on Credit Conversion Factors (CCF),
as detailed in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 203 "Measurement and capital adequacy — credit risk — the
standard approach".

Minimum allowance in respect of housing loans — is computed according to a formula determined by the Supervisor of Banks,
considering the extent of arrears, in a way in which the rates of the allowance increase in proportion to the extent of arrears.
Calculation of the allowance based on the extent of arrears applies to all housing loans, excluding loans that are not repayable in
periodic installments and loans that finance operations of a business nature.

In addition, the Bank implements the provisions of Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 329 in the matter of
"Restrictions on the granting of housing loans". Accordingly, the Bank verifies that the balance of the group allowance for credit
loss, in respect of housing loans shall not fall below a rate of 0.35% of the outstanding balance of such loans as of date of the
report.

In addition, the Bank studies the overall fairness of the allowance for credit losses. This fairness evaluation is based on the
Management's discretion, which takes into account the risks inherent in the credit portfolio and evaluation methods implemented
by the Bank in determining the allowance.

Recognition of interest income. On date of classification of a debt as impaired, the Bank defines the debt as not accruing
interest income and discontinues the accrual of interest income in respect of the debt, with the exception of that mentioned
below regarding certain reconstructed debts. Furthermore, at date of classification of a debt as impaired, the Bank cancels all
interest income accrued and recognized as income in the statement of profit and loss but not yet collected. The debt continues to
be classified as a debt that does not accrue interest so long as its classification as impaired has not been cancelled. A debt that
has formally undergone troubled debt restructuring and following the restructure it is reasonably certain that the debt would be
repaid and would perform in accordance with its new terms, shall be treated as an impaired debt that accrues interest income. For
details regarding the recognition of income on a cash basis in respect of debts classified as impaired, see item 3.1 above.
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The Bank does not discontinue the accrual of interest income in respect of debts examined and provided for on a group basis,
which are in arrears for 90 days or over. These debts are subject to assessment methods of an allowance for credit losses, which
ensure that the Bank's profit is not inclined upwards. Commission charged on arrears in these debts are recognized as income on
date on which the Bank is entitled to receive it, on condition that collection thereof is reasonably certain.
Accounting write-off. The Bank writes-off accounting wise each debt or part thereof examined on a specific basis and considered
a debt that is uncollectible and of a low value so that leaving it as an asset is not justified, or a debt in respect thereof the Bank is
conducting long-term collection efforts (defined in most cases as a period exceeding two years). With respect to debts that are
collateral dependent, the Bank records immediately an accounting write-off against the allowance for credit losses, of that part of
the recorded amount of the debt exceeding the fair value of the collateral.
With respect to debts assessed on a group basis, the write-off rules were determined based on their period of arrears (in most
cases over 150 consecutive days in arrears) and on other problem parameters. It should be clarified that accounting write-offs do
not involve a legal waiver and they reduce the reported balance of debt for accounting purposes only, while creating a new cost
base for the debt in the Bank's books.
Notwithstanding that stated above, the need for an immediate write-off is examined in respect of loans examined on a group
basis and classified as impaired due to the restructuring of a troubled debt. In any event, the accounting write-off of such debts is
made no later than the date on which the debt was sixty days or over in arrear, with reference to the restructuring terms.
Troubled debt restructurings. A debt that has undergone a formal troubled debt restructurings, is defined as a debt in respect of
which, due to economic or legal circumstances related to financial difficulties of the borrower, the Bank has granted a waiver by
way of changing the terms of the debt, so as to alleviate the burden of cash repayments in the short-term (a reduction in or
deferment of cash payments due from the borrower), or by way of accepting other assets of the borrower (in full or part) as
settlement of the debt.
For the purpose of determining whether a debt arrangement made by the Bank constitutes a restructuring of a troubled debt, the
Bank performs a qualitative review of all the terms of the arrangement and the circumstances in which it had been reached in
order to determine whether the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties and whether, within the framework of the
arrangement, the Bank had granted any waiver to the borrower.
In order to determine as to whether the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties, the Bank examines whether indications for
difficulties of the borrower exist at date of the arrangement or for the existence of a reasonable possibility that the borrower will
encounter financial difficulties in the absence of the arrangement.
The Bank does not classify a debt as a restructured troubled debt if within the framework of the arrangement the borrower has
been granted an immaterial deferment in repayments, considering the frequency of the installments during the contractual
maturity period and the expected average maturity of the original debt. In this respect, where several arrangements have been
made involving changes in the terms of the debt, the Bank takes into consideration the cumulative effect of prior arrangements
for the purpose of determining whether the deferment in repayments is not material.
The treatment of structured debts and of following debt restructuring. Debts, the terms of which have been changed under a
reconstruction of a troubled debt, including those debts which prior to the reconstruction had been examined on a group basis, are
classified as troubled debts and assessed on a specific basis for the purpose of performing the allowance for credit losses.
As a general rule, a restructured troubled debt continues to be measured and classified as an impaired debt until repaid in full.
Notwithstanding, under certain circumstances, when a debt had undergone troubled debt restructuring, and at a later date the
banking corporation and the debtor enter into an additional restructuring agreement, the banking corporation is not required to
treat the debt as a restructured troubled debt if the following two conditions apply:
- The debtor is no longer in financial difficulties at date of the following restructure;
- According to the terms of the following restructure, no waiver had been granted to the debtor (including no waiver of principal
amounts on a cumulative basis since the original date of the loan).
A debt as above, that has undergone a following restructure and the classification thereof as an impaired debt has been removed,
is to be assessed on a group basis for the purpose of determining the allowance for credit losses, and the recorded amount of the
debt has not changed upon the following restructure (except where cash had been received or paid).
If in following periods, a debt as above has been examined on a specific basis and is found to require the recognition of
impairment in value or where the restructure of a troubled debt is applied, the bank reclassifies the debt as impaired and treats it
as a restructured troubled debt.
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5. Securities

5.1

5.2
5.3

5.4

55

5.6

5.7

In accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, the Bank's investments in securities are classified as follows:

(@) Held to maturity bonds - bonds which the Bank intends and has the ability to hold until maturity, except for debentures
which may be called early or otherwise disposed, such that the Bank may not cover substantially all of its recognized
investment. Bonds are stated at cost with the addition of accumulated linkage differences or exchange differences and
interest, as well as the premium or discount component created upon acquisition and not yet amortized, and net of a
provision for impairment which is not of a temporary nature.

The transfer or sale of bonds classified to the held-to-maturity portfolio, is permitted in case of certain changes in

circumstances, in which the sale or transfer will not be considered as contradicting the initial classification of the bonds,

including evidence of material deterioration in the repayment ability of the bond issuer.

(b) Available-for-sale bonds — bonds not classified as held-to-maturity bonds or as trading bonds. Available-for-sale bonds are
stated in the balance sheet at fair value on the reporting date. Unrealized profits or losses on adjustment to fair value are
not included in the statement of profit and loss and are reported net, after deduction of provision for taxes, in a separate
item of capital in accumulated other comprehensive income, except for losses on impairment in value, which are of a
nature other than temporary.

(c) Trading securities - purchased securities held for sale in the near period or securities, which the Bank has chosen to
measure at fair value through the statement of profit and loss under the fair value alternative, except for shares with no
available fair value. The trading securities are presented in the balance sheet at their fair value at the reporting date.
unrealized profits or losses due to adjustments to fair value are recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

(d) Shares not for trading
- Shares, for which available fair value exists, are stated in the balance sheet at their fair value at the reporting date.

Unrealized and realized profits or losses on adjustment to fair value are stated in the statement of profit and loss;

- Shares, for which available fair value does not exist, are stated in the balance sheet at cost, net of impairment in
value with the addition or deduction of changes in observable prices of regular transactions in similar or identical
investments of the same issuer. Unrealized and realized profits and losses on adjustment to changes in observable
prices, as stated, are recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

The cost of realized securities is recognized in the statement of profit and loss on a "moving average" basis.
Dividend income, accrued interest, linkage differentials, amortization of premium or discount (according to the effective
interest method) as well as losses on impairment of an other than temporary nature are recognized in the statement of profit
and loss.
Interest income in respect of acquired beneficiary rights (such as: asset backed financial instruments of the MBS, CDO, CLO,
CMO types), excluding beneficiary rights of a high credit quality, is recognized according to the prospective interest method,
the rate of interest used for recognition of interest income being adjusted to changes in assessment of future cash flows. In
this respect, beneficiary rights of a high credit quality comprise beneficiary rights issued with U.S. government guarantee or
by U.S. government agencies, as well as asset backed securities the rating of which is at least "AA".
Investments in venture capital funds is treated at cost less losses on impairment of an other than temporary nature. Gains on
investments in venture capital are recognized in the statement of profit and loss upon realization of the investment.
For the treatment of transactions involving the transfer of financial assets (such as: repurchase agreements, lending of
securities, etc.), see subsection 9 below. In the matter of computing fair value, see subsection 7 below.
The Bank and its relevant subsidiaries examine, in each reporting period, in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles applying to banking corporations, as to whether the decline in the fair value of bonds classified to the available-for-
sale portfolio or to the held-to-maturity portfolio is of a nature other than temporary. And for which no fair value is available,
which are not measured according to fair value, a qualitative test is performed regarding the need for a provision for
impairment. In case the qualitative estimate indicates impairment in value of the investment in shares, then impairment is
recognized in the statement of profit and loss in an amount equal to the difference between the fair value of the investment
and its book value.

The review is based on the following considerations:

- Inthe case of bonds —

- The ratio of loss to depreciated cost, as of balance sheet date and examination date;

- Duration of the period in which the fair value of the bond is lower than its cost;

- The rate of yield to redemption in the case of bonds;

- The credit rating of the bond, including changes in its rating;
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The

- Comparison with a similar bond or with the average margin of bonds having similar terms in the market and in the
sector and with historical fluctuations embedded in the fair value of the bonds, and following changes in value
subsequently to balance sheet date.

- Events of default in the payment of interest and/or of principal in accordance with the terms of the bond, actions
taken by the Trustee/bondholders

- Forecast of changes in the expected cash flow from the bond;

- Relating the impairment in value to the deterioration in the financial position of the issuer, or to the change in general
market condition;

- The intent and ability of the Bank and its relevant subsidiary to continue holding the securities until such time that
the expected recovery of the fair value of the securities occurs or until redemption thereof;

- Relevant information regarding the financial condition of the issuer and changes therein, analysis of specific events
that might affect the activities of the issuer and his profitability and an analysis of the economic sector and of the
country in which the issuer operates.

- Analysis of changes in the financial condition of the debtors backing asset-backed bonds, as well as reference to
changes in quality of credit reinforcements.

In the case of shares:

- Events of reduction due to the distribution of dividends or its cancellation;

- Significant deterioration in profitability, in credit rating, or in the business forecasts of the corporation;

- Significant negative change in the economic, technological or regulatory environment of the corporation;

- Significant negative change in the geographical market terms and/or the industry of the corporation;

- The price for an identical or similar share is an amount lower than the book value of the investment;

- Factors that raise significant doubt as to the ability of the corporation to continue operations as a going concern.

Bank recognizes impairment of a nature other than temporary.

A security, the fair value of which at the end of the reporting period and also proximate to the date of publication of the

financial report for that period, was significantly lower than its cost (or written-down cost in case of bonds). This, unless

the bank has objective and solid evidence as well as a careful analysis of all relevant factors, which proves at a high level
of assurance that the impairment is of a temporary nature.

"Significantly lower" —

In the case of bonds — where their fair value is lower than the written down cost by 40% and over and the rate of return

to redemption is 20% and over, unless special circumstances exist;

In the case of shares - when their fair value is lower than cost by 20% and over and the shares are in a loss position for a

period of six months and over, unless special circumstances exist;

Special circumstances — circumstances that have been explained and documented, including: changes in market value

that mostly might be attributed to a change in market interest rate, a security issued by a government (Government of

Israel or government of an OECD country) in local currency, nationalization;

Securities which the Bank intends to sell until date of publication of the financial statements; and/or which the Bank

intends to sell within a short time following the date of publication of the financial statements; and/or it is more likely than

not that the Bank would be required to sell the securities prior to the recovery of their cost.

An intention or demand for the partial sale of a security would not in itself require recognition of a loss on impairment

with respect to that part of the security not sold and examination of impairment would be required in accordance with the

abovementioned considerations.

Notwithstanding the above, the impairment respecting that part of the security that is not intended for sale is subject to

an examination of the other events detailed above;

A bond, the rating of which at date of publication of the financial report for the period has been significantly reduced

compared to its rating on date of purchase by the bank (a significant downgrading — where the rating is lower than the

investment rating, and is at least 3 notches lower than the rating at date of acquisition);

A bond which following its purchase has been classified by the bank as problematic;

A bond in respect of which there has been a payment default subsequent to its purchase.
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Where impairment of an other than temporary nature occurs, the cost of the security is written down to its fair value, which
serves as a new cost basis. The cumulative loss in respect of a security classified as available-for-sale, which in the past had
been reflected as a separate item in equity within the framework of other comprehensive income, is reflected in the
statement of profit and loss when the impairment in respect of which is of an other than temporary nature. Increase in value
during consecutive reporting periods, are recognized as a separate item in equity within the framework of other
comprehensive income, and are not reflected in the statement of profit and loss (the new cost base).

6. Derivative financial instruments and hedge transactions. The Bank recognizes all derivatives as assets or liabilities on the
balance sheet and measures them at fair value. Changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument shall be reflected in the
statement of profit and loss, or shall be included in the equity as an "other comprehensive income" component, in accordance with
the designation of the derivative instrument.

Hedge of fair value - The change in the fair value of derivatives hedging exposure to the change in the fair value of an asset or a
liability, is recognized in the statement of profit and loss on a current basis, as well as the change in value of the hedged item,
which may be related to the hedged risk.

Hedge of cash flows - The accounting treatment of changes in the fair value of derivatives that hedge exposure to changes in the
cash flow generated by an asset or a liability: the change in the fair value of a derivative designated to hedge a cash flow risk, in
respect of components included in the hedge effectiveness assessment, is reported as a component of "other comprehensive
income", and thereafter, in the period in which cash flows have an effect on the statement of profit and loss, it is reclassified to
the statement of profit and loss.

For further details, see Note 28 hereunder.

7. Determination of fair value of financial instruments. Fair value is defined as the price that would have been received on a sale
of an asset or the price that would have been paid upon the transfer of a liability, in an ordinary transaction between participants in
the market at date of measurement. Among other things, the Standard requires that for the purpose of assessing fair value
maximum use should be made, to the extent possible, of observable inputs, while reducing the use of unobservable inputs.
Observable inputs reflect information available on the market, received from independent sources, while unobservable inputs
reflect the assumptions of the Bank.

Sub-Topic 820-10 of the Codification details the hierarchy of measurement techniques based on the question whether inputs used
for the determination of fair value are observable or unobservable. These classes of inputs create a fair value grading as detailed
below:
- Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (non-adjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities, to which the Bank has access
at date of measurement;
- Level 2 inputs: Inputs observable, directly or indirectly, for the asset or liability and which are not quoted prices that are
included in Level 1;
- Level 3inputs: unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities.
Securities. The fair value of trading securities, available-for-sale bonds and equity securities the fair value of which is readily
available is stated on the basis of market prices quoted on a principal market, where several markets on which the security is
traded exist, the assessment is made according to the quoted price at the most beneficial market. In such cases, the Bank's fair
value of the investment in securities is the multiplication of the number of units by that quoted market price. The quoted price
used for the determination of the fair value, is not adjusted in respect of the size of the position of the Bank in relation to the
volume of trade (size of holding factor). Where no quoted market price is unavailable, the assessment of fair value is based on the
best available information while making maximum use of observable inputs, taking into consideration the risk inherent in the
financial instrument (market risk, credit risk and such like).
Derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments that have an active market are assessed at market value
determined on the principal market, and in the absence of a principal market, according to the price quoted at the most beneficial
market. Derivative financial instruments that are not marketable are assessed on the basis of models that take into account the
risks inherent in the derivative instrument (market risk, credit risk and such like). For further details, see below for assessment
methodologies for credit risk and non-performance risk.
Additional non-derivative financial instruments. No "market price" is available in respect of most of the financial instruments in
this category (such as: credit to the public, credit to the government, deposits from the public, deposits with banks, subordinate
capital notes and non-marketable loans) because these are not traded on any active market. Accordingly, fair value is assessed
using accepted pricing models, such as the present value of future cash flows discounted at a discount rate reflecting the risk
level inherent in the financial instrument. For this purpose, future cash flows in respect of impaired debts and other debts have
been computed after eliminating the effect of accounting write-offs and allowances for credit losses in respect of the debts.
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Evaluation of credit risk and nonperformance risk. The Standard (ASC 820) requires to reflect credit risk and nonperformance
risk in measuring the fair value of a debt, including derivative instruments that were issued by the Bank and measured according
to fair value. Nonperformance risk includes the credit risk of the Bank but is not limited to that risk only.

For further details regarding the methods and principle assumptions used for assessment of fair value of financial instruments,
see note 34 below regarding balances and fair value assessments of financial instruments.

8. Offsetting assets and liabilities. The Bank offsets assets and liabilities deriving from the same counterparty and presents in the
balance sheet their net balance, where the following accumulated conditions exist: (1) in respect of the said liabilities, the bank
has a legally enforceable right of setoff of the liabilities against assets; (2) it is its intention to settle the liabilities and realize the
assets on a net basis or simultaneously; (3) Both the Bank and the counterparty owe to one another determinable amounts.

When assets and liabilities derive from two different counterparties, they are presented in the balance sheet at the net amount,
upon meeting all the conditions detailed above and on condition that there is an agreement between the three parties that
establish in a clear manner the Bank's right of set-off with respect to said liabilities.

The Bank does not offset the exposures in respect of derivative instruments in the balance sheet.

The Bank offsets deposits, the repayment of which to the depositor is conditional upon the collection of the credit and the credit
granted out of such deposits, where no credit loss risk to the Bank is involved.

9. Transfers and services relating to financial assets and settlement of liabilities. The Bank applies the measurement and
disclosure rules determined in accordance with Topic 860 of the Codification, for the accounting treatment of financial asset
transfers and extinguishments of liabilities.

According to the said rules, the transfer of certain financial assets shall be treated as a sale accounting wise, if and only if all the
following conditions exist: (1) the transferred financial asset had been isolated from the transferor, and are beyond the reach of the
transferor and his creditors, also in the case of bankruptcy or other type of receivership; (2) each acceptor has the right pledge or
exchange the transferred asset, and no conditions exist which also restrict the transferee from using his right to pledge or
exchange the asset and which grants the transferor a larger than just a trivial benefit; (3) the transferor does not maintain effective
control of the transferred financial assets.

In addition, in order for the transfer of a part of a financial asset to be considered a sale, the transferred part must fall within the
definition of participating rights, in addition to the conditions noted above.

In the event that the transaction meets the terms for treatment thereof as a sale transaction, the transferred financial assets are
removed from the Bank's balance sheet. The differences between the amount of consideration received and the amount of the
disposed assets are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. Accordingly, where sale conditions do not exist, the transfer is
treated as a collateralized debt. A sale of a part of a financial asset, which is not considered a participating right, is treated as a
secured burrowing with pledge of collateral. The Bank continues to record the transferred financial assets in the balance sheet,
with no change in their measurement.

Transactions involving the lending or borrowing of securities, in which the lending is made in consideration of the credit quality
and general collateral of the borrower, the lending or borrowing is treated as credit or as a deposit, which are measured at the fair
value of the related securities. Income on an accrual basis relating to these securities are recorded as interest income from credit,
while changes in fair value (over and above changes in the accrual basis) are recorded as part of non-interest financing income in
the case of securities included in the trading portfolio, or recorded in other comprehensive income in the case of available-for-sale
securities.

The Bank removes a liability if it had been extinguished, namely, if one of the following terms exists: (a) the Bank had paid the
lender and was released from its obligations regarding this liability; or (b) the Bank, under a legal process, had been legally
released from liability or, with the consent of the lender, had been released from being the principal debtor in respect of this
liability.

An overseas subsidiary conducts transactions for the sale of securities under repurchase agreements terms and for the purchase
of securities under resale agreements terms. Securities sold under repurchase agreements terms, according to which control over
the sold asset has not been lost, are treated as acceptance of a secured liability, so that the sold securities are not eliminated from
the balance sheet, being reflected in the item "Securities", against which a deposit, the repayment of which is secured by a pledge
of the said securities, is reflected in the item "Securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements". Securities purchased under
resale agreement terms, are treated as the granting of a secured loan, so that the securities so purchased serve as collateral for
the loan and are not reflected in the Balance sheet. The loan granted is reflected in the item "Securities borrowed or purchased
under resale agreements".
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10.

11.

12.

Fixed assets (buildings and equipment)

Recognition and measurement. Fixed asset items are measured at cost less depreciation and accumulated losses on
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that may be directly attributed to the acquisition of the asset, necessary costs involved in
bringing the asset to the condition and location required for the asset to operate in accordance with its designated use.

The cost of acquired software being an integral part of the operation of the related equipment is recognized as part of the cost of
such equipment. Furthermore, in accordance with the public reporting directives, the Bank classifies to the buildings and
equipment item the cost of purchased software assets or capitalized costs of software developed internally for own use.
Regarding the accounting treatment of software costs, see item 1 D sub item 12 below.

Depreciation. An asset is depreciated when it is available for use, namely, when it has reached the location and the condition
required for it to operate in the manner intended by Management.

Depreciation is charged to the Statement of profit and loss by the straight-line method over the assessed useful life span of each
part of the fixed asset items, since this system reflects in the best manner, the forecasted consumption format of the future
economic benefits embedded in the asset. Assets leased by way of a financial lease are amortized over the shorter of the period
of the lease or the period of use of the asset. Leasehold improvements are being amortized over the shorter of the period of the
lease or the useful life of the asset. Land is not amortized.

Assessments regarding the depreciation method, the useful life span of assets and their residual values are re-examined when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the present assessments are no longer appropriate, and are adjusted where
required

For details as to the depreciation rates in the current period and the comparative periods, see Note 16 below.

Leases. Leases, including the lease of land from the Israel Land Administration or from other third parties in respect of which the
Group essentially bears all risk and yield pertaining to the asset, are classified as financial leases. Upon initial recognition, the
leased assets are measured and a liability is recognized at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value or the present value of the
future minimum lease fees. Future payments to the Israel Land Administration in respect of the exercise of an option for
extension of the lease period are not recognized as part of the asset and the related liability, since they constitute conditional
lease fees derived from the fair value of the land at date of the future renewal of the lease agreement. Following the initial
recognition, the asset is treated in accordance with the accepted accounting policy in respect of such an asset.

All other leases are classified as operational leases, and the leased assets are not recognized in the balance sheet of the Group.
The Bank recognizes lease payments in respect of operating leases as an expense in the statement of profit and loss, on the
straight-line basis over the period of the lease, including the option period, where on date of signing the lease it is reasonably
certain that the option would be exercised.

Where the lease includes components of land and buildings, the Bank assesses the classification of each component separately
as an operating lease or a financial lease, in accordance with the classification instructions of IAS 17. In determining whether the
land component comprises an operating lease or a financial lease, the Bank takes into consideration that normally land has an
indeterminate economic lifespan.

Intangible assets

Goodwill. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Software costs. Software purchased by the Bank is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Capitalization of software costs for internal use. The Bank capitalizes costs related to the development of software for internal
use only when: (1) the first stage of the project has been completed; and (2) Management has approved and has committed to,
directly or indirectly, finance the software development project, and that it is expected that the project would be completed. The
Bank capitalizes the following costs: direct cost of materials and services consumed, payroll cost of workers directly engaged in
the development work or in obtaining the software. Other costs in respect of the development operations and costs incurred in
the first stage of the project are recognized in profit and loss as incurred.

Amortization. Amortization is charged to the Statement of profit and loss by the straight-line method over the useful life span of
intangible assets, including software assets, beginning with the date on which the assets are ready for use.

Subsequent costs. The cost of upgrades and improvement of software for in-house use are capitalized only if it is expected that
the costs incurred would lead to additional functionality. Other consecutive costs are recognized as an expense as incurred.
Guidelines in the matter of capitalization of in-house software development costs. Due to the accounting complexity involved
in the process of capitalizing in-house software development costs, and in view of the materiality of the amounts of software
costs capitalized, the Supervisor of Banks has determined guidelines in the matter of capitalization of software costs, as follows:
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- A minimum materiality level of between NIS 450 thousand and NIS 600 thousand, shall be determined for each software
development project, in respect of which software development costs are capitalized. Any software development project, the
total cost of which is lower than the determined materiality level, shall be recognized as an expense in the statement of
income (the materiality thresholds determined by the Bank: minimum costs per project — NIS 600 thousand, minimum
improvements and upgrading costs — NIS 450 thousand);

- The period of amortization of software development costs shall not exceed five years;

- Capitalization coefficients of lower that 1, shall be determined for hours worked, taking into consideration the potential for
deviation in computing the hours worked and the lack of economic efficiency;

- The grade of employees whose employment costs are capitalized to assets shall be restricted, so that the uppermost grade
would be that of a manager, demonstrably occupied for most of his time in actual development, is responsible for a small
number of employees, and it is possible to accurately measure the number of hours actually invested by him in each
development project;

- Costs, which are not attributed to a project according to specific reported hours, where the employee declares, on the basis
of a daily report, that the costs were specifically invested in the project, shall be recognized as an expense.

. Impairment of non-financial assets

Recognition of loss on impairment. Nonfinancial assets held for use are subject to review for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The carrying amount is not
recoverable if it exceeds the amount of the undiscounted cash flows expected to be derived from use of the asset and its sale.
Loss on impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset (group of assets) exceeds its fair value.
Impairment of costs of internal development of computer software. Examining the existence of impairment with respect to
the own development of computer software shall be made where the signs noted in the generally accepted accounting principles
for banks in the United States exist, SOP 98-1: "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internal Use (ASC 350-40):

(1) Itis not expected that the software will provide significant potential services;

(2)
(3)
(4) The costs of development or of modifying the software intended for internal use deviate materially from forecasted amounts;
(5) Itis no longer expected that the development of the software will be completed and use made of it.

If one or more of the above signs appear, the Bank examines impairment in accordance with the rules of ASC 360.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale. The Bank classifies a non-current asset (or a disposal group) as held for

A material change occurred in the manner or scope of use of the software or in the anticipated use of the software;
A material change in the software was made or will be made in the future;

sale if its carrying amount is settled primarily through a sale and not by way of continued use, in a period in which all the following
terms are fulfilled: (1) Management is committed to the planning of a sale of the asset (or the disposal group); (2) the asset (or the
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition; (3) an active plan has been initiated to locate a buyer and
other actions have been taken to complete the planning to sell the asset; (4) the sale of the asset (or the disposal group) is
probable and the transfer of the asset (or the disposal group) is expected to be classified as a sale completed within one year; (5)
the asset (or the disposal group) is being actively marketed for sale at a price reasonable in relation to its present fair value; (6)
actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that the plan will be significantly changed or withdrawn.
The Bank measures the held for sale assets (or the disposal group) at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less costs
to sell. Depreciable assets that are classified as held for sale are not subject to periodic depreciation.
An impairment loss recognized at the time of the initial classification of an asset (or a disposal group) as held for sale, as well as
subsequent remeasurement profits or losses are carried to profit or loss. Profits from an increase in value are recognized up to the
cumulative amounts of the impairment losses that were recognized from the time of the asset (or the disposal group) being
classified as held for sale.
Employee rights

15.1 Post retirement benefits — pension, severance pay and other benefits — defined benefits plans

- The Bank recognizes amounts relating to pension and severance plans and other post retirement plans on the basis of
computations that include actuarial and other assumptions, including: discount rates, mortality rates, early retirement
rates, forecasted long-term return rates on assets of the plan, remuneration increases and employee turnover;

- The Bank reviews its assumptions on a periodic basis and updates these assumptions where required. As a general rule,
the actuarial estimates are made once a year, unless material changes occur in the actuarial assumptions in the interim
period, which materially impact the actuarial liabilities. The Bank has decided to perform a quarterly actuarial assessment
of the severance pay liability;
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15.2

15.3

15.4

15.6

15.6

15.7

- Changes in assumptions are in general recognized, subject to the instructions stated above, firstly in accumulated other
comprehensive income, and are amortized to the statement of profit and loss in following periods;

- The liability is accumulated over the relevant period determined in accordance with the rules detailed in item 715 of the
codification;

- The Bank implements the guidelines issued by the Supervisor of Banks with respect to internal control over the financial
reporting process in the matter of employee rights, including with respect to examining the "liability in substance" of the
Bank to grant its employees benefits comprising increased severance pay and/or early pension.

Post retirement benefits — defined deposits plans

A defined deposit plan is a plan that provides post-retirement benefits in consideration for services provided, maintains a

personal account for each participant in the plan, defines how deposits to the account of the employee should be determined

instead of determining the amount of the benefits that the employee would receive. The Bank's commitment to deposit in
the defined deposit plan, are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss in the periods during which the
employees have provided the relevant services.

Other long-term benefits to active employees: long-service (jubilee) awards

- The liability accrues over the period entitling to the benefit;

- For the purpose of computing the liability, the rates of discount and actuarial assumptions are taken into consideration;

- The whole cost component of the benefit for the period, including actuarial profits and losses, are recognized
immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

Absence from work entitling compensation — vacation and sick leave

- The liability in respect of vacation pay is measured on a current basis, without the use of discount rates and actuarial
assumptions;

- The Bank does not accrue a liability for sick-leave that may materialize during the employee's current service.

In accordance with instructions of the Supervisor of Banks, the discount rates are determined in accordance with the rates of

return to maturity, according to the maturity periods of Israeli government bonds at date of reporting, with the addition of an

average margin of corporate bonds rated "AA" (international) and above at date of reporting. For practical reasons, the spread
has been determined in accordance with the difference between the rates of return to maturity, according to maturity
periods, on U.S. corporate bonds rated "AA" and higher, and the rates of return to maturity, for the same maturity periods, on

U.S. government Bonds, and everything at date of reporting.

The accounting treatment of actuarial profits/losses recognized in other comprehensive income due to changes in the

discount rates:

- The actuarial loss as of January 1, 2013, deriving from the difference between the discount rate used to compute the
CPI-linked provisions for employee rights, determined in accordance with the provisional instruction of the Reporting to
the Public Directives (4%), and the discount rates as of that date for CPI-linked liabilities to employees, as determined
according to the rules, as stated above (hereinafter: "the loss"), was included in accumulated other comprehensive
income;

- Actuarial profits recognized as from January 1, 2013, and thereafter, derived from current changes in the discount rates
during the reported year, are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income, and reduce the above stated
recorded balance of loss until its nullification;

- Actuarial losses derived from current changes in the discount rates during the reported year, and actuarial profits derived
from current changes in the discount rates during the reported year, recognized after nullification of the recorded balance
of loss, as above, are amortized by the "straight line" method over the remaining average period of service of the
employees expected to enjoy benefits under the plan;

- Other actuarial profits and losses (which are not the result of changes in the rate of discount) as at January 1, 2013, and
for periods thereafter, are included in accumulated other comprehensive income and amortized by the "straight line"
method over the remaining average period of service of the employees expected to enjoy benefits under the plan, except
in certain exceptional cases.

The computation on an actuarial basis of the provisions with respect to the Bank's liability for severance pay involves the use

of statistical tools and evaluations regarding the future, and is based on past experience and on the limitations determined in

this respect by the Bank's Management (see hereunder).

The limitations determined by the Management, which were implemented in the financial statements, are as follows:

- The minimum age for retirement under preferred terms is 50;

- The creation of a special fund for exceptional retirement cases;
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16.

- In the years 2017-2021, the retirements vector will stand at 0.25%, in the years 2022-2027, it will stand at 2% and from
2028 and thereafter in accordance with research conducted by the actuary.

Contingent liabilities. The accounting treatment of outstanding legal actions is in accordance with the provisions of the U.S.
Accounting Standard ASC 450 "Accounting for Contingencies" and its related guidelines, and in accordance with the guidelines and
clarifications of the Supervisor of Banks, including public reporting directives in the matter of the "Accounting for Contingencies".
In assessing the outstanding legal actions, Managements of the Bank and of its subsidiaries base themselves on opinions of their
legal Counsels, which determine the probability of the exposure to the risk involved in these claims materializing.
Claims have been classified according to the probability range for a risk exposure materializing, as follows:
1)  Probable - probability of over 70%.
2) Reasonably possible - probability of over 20% and up to and including 70%.
3) Remote - probability of 20% or less.
The financial statements include appropriate provisions regarding claims the realization of the exposure in respect thereof was
considered "probable".
According to the guidelines, only in rare cases may a banking corporation state in its financial statements that it is not possible to
assess the prospects of a risk exposure materializing in respect of an ordinary legal action and an action approved as a class
action, this in four financial statements (including one annual financial statements) to be published subsequently to the filing of a
lawsuit together with a petition to have it approved as a class action suit, such period is not to include a period in which the Court
has decided to stay the proceedings. Note 26 states separately the outstanding claims, in respect of which a reasonable
assessment of the exposure to risk is not possible.
The Bank has described material legal proceedings being conducted against the Bank and Group companies. In this respect, the
Bank has determined that as a general rule, a legal proceeding shall be disclosed where the amount claimed exceeds 0.5% of the
equity capital of the Bank if it is not possible to assess the prospects of the risk exposure materializing and exceeds 1% of the
equity capital where the reasonability prospects of the risk exposure materializing is possible or remote.
It should further be noted, that in cases where the Bank is one of the defendants in the action, and the claimants have not
allocated the amount claimed to each of the defendants, the amount estimated as relevant to the Bank is computed to the best of
ability, considering the fact that taking the full amount into account might be misleading and is not correct under the
circumstances, and that the estimate made does not necessarily represent the allocation which at the end of the day would be
decided by the Court.
The Bank is exposed to unasserted claims or suits due, inter alia, to doubts with regard to interpretation of agreements and/or
statutory provisions and/or their application. The Bank is made aware of such exposure in several ways, including: appeals or
complaints by third parties to Bank entities. In assessing the risk associated with unasserted claims/lawsuits, the Bank relies on
internal assessment by the handling entities and by Management, which weigh the estimated probability of a claim being made,
the chances of such claim, if made, to prevail and any settlement payments. Such assessment is based on past experience with
regard to similar claims filed, and on an analysis of the actual allegations. By nature, in view of the preliminary stage of inquiring of
the legal allegation, the actual outcome objective difficulties exist, which may result in the impossibility of making an assessment.
Even if an assessment is made may differ from assessment conducted prior to filing of the claim.

. Guarantees. Guarantees are contingent contracts that require the guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed party on the

occurrence of the conditions that require the realization of the guarantee. A liability with respect to a guarantee is recognized in
the books in the amount of its fair value, as assessed based on commission fees received, even if it is not expected that the
payments will be made in the future. In instances where, at the time of the initial recognition, the Bank was required to recognize
a provision for a loss contingency with respect to the guarantee, in accordance with the provisions of Topic 450 of the
Codification, the liability with respect to the guarantee is measured at the time of the initial recognition at the higher of the fair
value and the amount of the provision in accordance with the provisions of Topic 450 of the Codification.

The liability is subtracted from the books at the time when the Bank is released from the risk, in accordance with the nature of the
guarantee, usually at the time of settling the liability. When the guarantee is measured at the time of its initial recognition in
accordance with the provisions of Topic 450 of the Codification, its subsequent measurement is also performed in accordance
with these provisions.

. Income tax expense. The Bank's financial statements include current taxes and deferred taxes. The provision for taxes on

income of the Bank and of its consolidated subsidiaries comprising financial institutions for VAT purposes, include profit tax levied
on income under the Value Added Tax Act. VAT levied on payroll of financial institutions is included in the statement of profit and
loss in the item "Salaries and related expenses".
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

19.

20.

The Bank allocates the tax expense or the tax benefits on income to continuing operations to other comprehensive income and to

items directly recognized in equity.

The Bank recognizes differed tax liabilities in respect of all temporary differences chargeable to tax, except for the following

temporary differences: undistributed profits of a domestic subsidiary which in substance are for an indefinite period of time; an

excess of the amount for purposes of financial reporting above the tax base of an investment in a foreign subsidiary, which in
substance are for an indefinite period of time; differences related to goodwill (or part thereof) for which goodwill amortization is
not deductible for tax purposes; differences stemming from intercompany transactions.

The Bank recognizes deferred tax assets in respect of all temporary differences available for deduction as well as in respect of

carry forward losses, and concurrently recognizes a valuation allowance in respect of that amount included in the asset, which

more likely than not, would not be realized. The Bank reduces the amount of deferred tax assessed by the amount of tax benefits

that are not expected to be realized based on available evidence — both the positive evidence supporting the recognition of a

deferred tax assets and the negative evidence supporting the creation of a valuation allowance in respect of the deferred tax

asset, in order to determine whether a net deferred tax asset should be recognized.

- Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets are measured by the enacted legal tax rates expected to apply to sufficient
taxable income in the periods in which it is expected that the deferred tax liability would be settled or the deferred tax asset
would be realized.

- The Bank classifies interest income or expenses in respect of taxes on income to the item "Taxes on income". Penalties
payable to the tax authorities are also classified by the Bank to the item "Taxes on income".

Uncertain tax positions. The Bank recognizes the effect of tax positions only if it is more likely than not that these positions
would be accepted by the Tax Authorities or by the Courts. Recognized tax positions are measured according to the highest
amount the probability of its realization exceeds 50%. Changes in recognition or in measurement are reflected in the period in
which changes in circumstances leading to a change in considerations have occurred.
Netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. The Bank nets all deferred tax liabilities and tax assets, as well as all related
valuation allowances in respect of a certain taxable component and within the boundaries of a certain tax jurisdiction area.
Additional taxes in respect of the distribution of dividends. The Bank may be liable for additional taxes in the case of a
distribution of dividend by consolidated subsidiaries. This additional tax is not included in the financial statements in cases where
the investee company adopts a policy of non-distribution of dividends involving additional taxes. In cases where an investee
company is expected to distribute dividends out of profits involving additional taxes, the provision for taxes is increased in respect
of the additional tax that might apply in respect of such distribution of dividend.
Earnings per share. The Bank presents basic earnings per share with respect to its ordinary share capital. The basic earnings per
share is computed by dividing the earnings or loss attributed to the holders of the Bank's ordinary shares by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
The diluted earnings per share are determined by the adjustment of the profit or loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders of
the Bank and the adjustment of the weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares, after adjustment in respect of the
effect of all potentially diluting shares, including share option warrants.
Operating segments reporting
Regulatory operating segments. A regulatory operating segment is a component of a banking corporation which is engaged in
specific operations or which serves particular classes of customers, as defined by the Supervisor of Banks. The reporting format
for the Bank's regulatory operating segments has been determined in the Reporting to the Public Directives of the Supervisor of
Banks.
A regulatory operating segment is mainly defined on the basis of the classification of customers. Private customers are classified
to the household segment and to the private banking segment based on the scope of their financial assets. Customers other than
private individuals are classified to business segments, mainly on the basis of their business turnover (distinguishing between
minute and small businesses, medium businesses and large businesses), to institutional bodies segment and to the financial
management segment. In addition, the Bank is required to apply the operating segments reporting requirements in accordance
with Management's approach, when these are materially different from the regulatory operating segments.

Operating Segments according to Management's approach. In addition to the uniform reporting according to regulatory

operating segments, the Reporting to the Public Directives require disclosure of operating segments in accordance with

Management's approach, and according to accounting principles accepted by U.S. banks in the matter of operating segments

(included in ASC 280, see Note 30 below).
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21.

22.

23.

(a)

(b)

An operating segment defined in accordance with Management's approach is a component of a banking corporation that is
engaged in operations which are expected to produce income and bear expenses; the results thereof are being regularly reviewed
by Management and the Board of Directors for the purpose of making decisions regarding the allocation of resources and
evaluation of its performance; and that separate financial information exists in respect thereof.

The classification of segments at the Bank is based upon the characterization of customer segments. These segments include
also banking products. The results of the product segment that cannot be attributed to the relevant customer segments, are
included in the item "Non-allocated amounts and adjustments".

Amortization of deferred expenses. Bond and subordinated debt notes issue costs are amortized proportionally to the
outstanding principal amount of the bonds.

Debtors and creditors regarding credit card activity. At date of the transaction, the credit card company clearing the transaction
acquires an asset in respect of the debt of the issuer of the card or the card holder and concurrently assumes a liability towards
the trading house. Furthermore, a credit card Company as an issuer, acquires an asset in respect of a debt of a card holder or of
the issuing bank, and concurrently, a liability towards the clearing credit card company.

Debtor and creditor balances in respect of credit card transactions represent entries processed until the business day preceding
the day of the report.

Issuance agreements with customer clubs. The issuance agreements of ICC with different customer clubs regularize, inter alia,
the manner of distribution of income between the parties, as well as aspects relating to expenses, including marketing and
advertising budgets provided by the parties and the distribution of costs.

With respect to engagements of ICC with customer clubs, the income of ICC in respect of the cross-commission on transactions
made by use of the club charge cards and interest income on transactions made with these cards, are included in the income in
the consolidated financial statements (in the item "income from credit card commission" and in the item "net interest income"
respectively). Amounts to which the customer clubs are entitled as well as the share of ICC in expenses are included in the item
"other expenses". Furthermore, certain of the agreements of ICC with customer clubs include an award component depending on
reaching certain milestones, in respect of which, ICC assesses in each period the entitlement to such award, and accordingly
recognizes an expense in the financial statements (which is spread over the relevant period).

Allowances for current expected credit losses (CECL). On July 4, 2019, the Supervisor of Banks published a draft regarding
"application of U.S. GAAP with respect to expected credit losses", which includes the integration of the new rules in the public
reporting instructions, deferring the initial date of application of the new rules to January 1, 2022, and the parallel operation as
from January 1, 2021. Furthermore, the Supervisor of Banks published a draft "FAQ file in the matter of application of the new
rules regarding expected credit losses", which is intended to assist banking corporations in the process of preparation for the
implementation of the new rules.

The said drafts were published in continuation of the letter of the Supervisor of Banks dated March 28, 2018, in which it was
required, inter alia, to apply the accounting principles accepted by U.S. banks in the matter of allowances for credit losses (ASU
2016-13).

The Bank has begun preparations for the implementation of the instructions. At this stage, the Bank is unable to assess their
impact.

Leasing. A circular was published on July 1, 2018, in the matter of the reporting of leases by banking corporations and credit card
companies in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The circular adopts the U.S. GAAP on this subject, and inter alia, the relating
presentation, measurement and disclosure rules determined in Topic 842 of the Codification regarding leases.

The provisions of the circular apply as from January 1, 2020, and thereafter. The Bank decided to adopt the alternative transitional
method for the adoption of the leasing Standard, determined in Amendment No. 2018-11 to the Codification, according to which,
the initial implementation would be on the date of adoption and not as from the beginning of the earliest period presented, with
the adjustment of the cumulative effect on the opening balance of retained earnings during the adoption period.

The Bank estimates that implementation of the standard is not expected to have a material effect on the business results and on
the risk assets (the growth in risk assets is estimated at approx. NIS 800 million).

It is noted that the effective date for the United States has been deferred to January 1, 2021 (for non-public companies, the initial
date of application has been deferred to the annual report for 2021 and to the interim reports during 2022). Accordingly, the
implementation of the Standard by IDB New York is also deferred. The effect of the implementation of the Standard is not
expected to be material (the growth in risk assets is estimated at approx. US$128 million).
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(c) Employee benefits and measurement of fair value. The U.S. Financial accounting Standards Board ("FASB") published on
August 28, 2018, Standards ASU 2018-13 and ASU 2018-14, regarding disclosure framework — changes in disclosure
requirements for fair value measurements, comprising an update of Topic 820 of the Codification regarding fair value
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measurement and defined benefit plans, being an update of subtopic 715-20 of the Codification regarding Compensation—

Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit Plans, respectively. These updates were published as part of the framework project for the

review of disclosures of the FASB, which mainly focuses on the improvement of effectiveness of disclosure in notes to financial
statements, including the reduction in costs involved in the preparation of the required notes. The provisions of the amendments
shall be implemented as from January 1, 2021. The Bank estimates that the implementation of the said provisions is not expected

to have a material impact, except for changes in disclosure.

2. Interest Income and Expenses

Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions

A. Interest Income®?
Credit to the public 6,752 6,324 5,565 3,729 3,578 3,175
Credit to the Governments 92 63 28 92 63 28
Deposits with the Bank of Israel and cash 42 24 28 25 13 16
Deposits with Banks 49 28 30 64 39 31
Bonds!" 615 594 542 347 303 271
Other assets 17 20 20 - - -
Total interest income 7,567 7,053 6,213 4,257 3,996 3,521
B. Interest Expenses®?
Deposits from the public (1,186) (941) (643) (769) (666) (538)
Deposits from the Government (3) (3) (3) = = =
Deposits from banks (71) (52) (33) 9) (5) (5)
Securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements (21) (96) (127) - - -
Bonds and subordinated debt notes (389) (433) (428) (205) (234) (217)
Other liabilities (4) (2) (4) (2) (2) (4)
Total interest expenses (1,674) (1,527) (1,238) (985) (907) (764)
Interest Income, Net 5,893 5,526 4,975 3,272 3,089 2,757
C. Details of the net effect of hedge derivative instruments on interest
income and expenses:
Interest Income® (2) (6) (11) (3) (6) (11)
Interest expenses® 1 - - - - -
D. Accrual basis, interest income from bonds:
Held-to-maturity 128 173 178 82 107 103
Available-for-sale 463 386 340 243 163 146
Trading 24 85) 24 22 33 22
Total included in interest income 615 594 542 347 303 271
Footnotes:
(1) Interest Income generated by mortgage backed securities (MBS) -in US $

millions 44 47 44 - - -

Interest Income generated by mortgage backed securities (MBS) - in NIS

millions 157 170 157 - - -

(2) Including the impact of hedge relations.
(3) Details of the effect of hedge derivative instruments on subsection A+B.
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3. Non-Interest Financing Income

Consolidated The Bank

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

in NIS millions

A. Non-interest financing income (expenses) from operations not for
trading purposes

From operations in derivative instruments

Net income (expenses) in respect of derivative instruments (1,103) (10981 10(1,016) (1,017) 10928 (10(965)
Total from operations in derivative instruments (1,103) 981 (1,016) (1,017) 928 (965)
From investments in bonds:

Gains on sale of available-for-sale bonds® 165 59 180 98 48 165
Losses on sale of available-for-sale bonds® = (13) (20) = (2) (4)
Provision for impairment of available-for-sale bonds = (8) = = (7) =
Total from investments in bonds 165 38 160 98 39 161

Net exchange rate differences 1,300 (900) 1,107 1,238 (907) 1,079
Net profit (losses) from investments in shares:

Gains on sale from non trading shares® 85 109 211 - 18 1

Losses on sale from non trading shares'® = (1) (2) = = -
Provision for impairment of non trading shares'® (31) (6) (11) = (1) 2
Dividends from non trading shares © 12 11 24 1 1 1

Unrealized profits and losses®® 39 = = 38 =

Profit on sale of shares and activities of affiliated companies 13 1 8 13 1 3
Total from investment in shares 118 114 230 52 19

Net profit in respect of loans sold? 7 6 20 7 6 19
Total non-interest financing income from operations not for

trading purposes 487 239 501 378 85 297

B. Non-interest financing income (expenses) from operations for trading purposes®:

Net income (expenses) in respect of non trading derivative

instruments 257 10284 10112 198 1002564 1091
Net realized and non-realized profit (losses) on adjustment of trading
bonds to fair value™ (7) 70 (21) (11) 70 (21)
Net realized and non-realized profit (losses) on adjustment of trading
shares to fair value? B (7) 3 1 (6) 4
Total from trading operations'® 255 347 94 188 318 74
Details of non-interest financing income (expenses) from operations for trading purposes, according to risk exposure:
Interest rate exposure (5) 60 15 (58) 44 6
Foreign currency exposure 255 (10294 1060 245 (10281 1050
Share exposure B (7) 19 1 (7) 18
Total according to risk exposure 255 347 94 188 318 74
Total non-interest financing income 742 586 595 566 403 371
Footnotes:
(1) Of which, a part of the profit (loss) relating to trading bonds that are still on

hand at balance sheet date 8 (7) 1 7 (2) 2
(2)  Of which, a part of the profit (loss) relating to trading shares that are still on

hand at balance sheet date 1 (6) (2) 1 (5) (2)
(3) Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income, see Note 10:

Of which, profit, from investments in bonds, net 161 38 160 95 39 161

Of which, from investment in shares 9 (1) 1 19 (1) 1
4) Excluding the impact of hedge relations.

(4)
(5) Including exchange rate differences from trading operations.

(6) For interest income on investments in trading bonds, see Note 2, above.

(7) For details , see Note 31.

(8) Including profits and losses on measurement at fair value of shares with readily determinable fair value, as well as upward or downward adjustments of shares
without readily determinable fair value.

(9) In 2017 and 2018 - available-for-sale shares .

(10) Reclassified — classification of exchange differences in respect of derivatives.
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4. Commissions
A. Composition

157

Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions

Account Management fees 470 480 483 285 295 301
Credit cards 1,406 1,267 1,119 157 157 149
Operations in securities and in certain derivative instruments 326 336 336 206 226 203
Commissions from the distribution of financial products 153 149 142 136 136 130
Handling credit 182 177 154 138 135 113
Conversion differences 133 136 137 102 105 107
Foreign trade services 56 58 52 45 48 41
Net income from credit portfolio services B 6 7 B 6 7
Commissions on financing activities 163 157 157 118 105 101
Other commissions 78 85 89 32 38) 41

Total fees

2,972 2,851 2,676 1,224 1,246 1,193
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4. Commissions

B. Income from contracts with customers

Following is the distribution of income from commissions according to regulatory segments of operation

consolidated

Domestic operations

Total International operations

Private
Households Banking

Small and
minute

Medium

Large Institutional

businesses businesses businesses

Financial

Total
Domestic

bodies management operations

Private

Total

Business International
Individuals operations

operations

Total

In NIS millions

2019

Account
Management
fees 207 2

188

18

22

437

11

22

33

470

Credit cards 1,108 -

150

34

114

1,406

1,406

Operations in

securities and

in certain

derivative

instruments 103 38

55

46

36

292

34

34

326

Commissions

from the

distribution of

financial

products 111 21

20

153

153

Handling
credit 9 1

32

16

84

157

23

25

182

Conversion
differences 38 6

76

10

133

133

Foreign trade
services 1 -

24

12

56

56

Net income

from credit

portfolio

services 5 -

Commissions
on financing
activities 5 -

35

80

149

14

163

Other
commissions 15 -

12

38

40

40

78

Total fees 1,602 68

590

127

370

2,826

47

99

146

2,972

Account
Management
fees 209 4

195

18

21

448

1

21

32

480

Credit cards 1,027 -

130

28

82

1,267

1,267

Operations in

securities and

in certain

derivative

instruments 106 36

55

58

29

304

32

32

336

Commissions

from the

distribution of

financial

products 102 18

21

149

149

Handling
credit 10 5

29

16

155

21

22

177

Conversion
differences 39 7

76

10

136

136

Foreign trade
services - -

23

11

58

58

Net income

from credit

portfolio

services 5 -

Commissions
on financing
activities 6 -

31

25

76

143

14

14

157

Other
commissions

12

44

41

41

85

Total fees 1,529 70

567

119

355

12

2,710

44

97

141

2,851
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5. Other Income
Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
In NIS millions
Management fees from consolidated subsidiaries - - - 4 4 B
Capital gain on sale of buildings and equipment 42 46 72 34 46 68
Other income 15 11 15 70 65 58
Total other income 57 57 87 108 115 131
6. Salaries and Related Expenses
Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions
Salaries 2,361 2,382 2,259 1,370 1,377 1,372
Other related expenses including further education fund, vacation and
sick leave 122 128 123 48 54 52
Long-term benefits 16 16 17 16 16 17
National Insurance and payroll taxes 514 525 500 378 377 371
Pension expenses (including severance pay and provident fund
contributions)™:
Defined Benefits - Cost of service 78 92 81 42 52 51
Defined deposits 201 189 181 134 130 126
Other post-retirement benefits and non-pension post retirement
benefits - Cost of service 4 6 6 3 B 5
Special benefits in respect of dismissal 6 6 - - - -
Expenses regarding other employee benefits 41 41 37 4 4 4
Total salaries and related expenses 3,343 3,385 3,204 1,995 2,015 1,998
Of which: overseas salaries and related expenses 405 386 340 - - -
Footnote:
(1) See Note 23.
7. Other Expenses
Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
In NIS millions
Expenses in respect of pension (including contributions for severance
pay and provident funds), defined benefit (excluding cost of service) 88 81 77 65 61 58
Other post employment benefits and post retirement benefits that do
not comprise pension (excluding cost of service) 17 28 30 15 25 28
Long-term benefits (excluding cost of service) 46 (14) 23 46 (14) 23
Reductions, settlements - defined benefit 58 88 32 46 88 32
Reductions, settlements - other post employment benefits and post
retirement benefits that do not comprise pension = (1) = - - -
Marketing and advertising 256 260 191 70 55 56
Communications 116 119 117 48 58 58
Computer services 184 180 131 91 89 50
Office expenses 28 28 28 15 14 17
Insurance 21 28 31 7 6 6
Professional services 186 186 160 91 89 82
Directors’ fees 15 14 14 7 ) 6
Instruction and training 11 14 12 7 9 9
Fees 417 349 283 30 30 28
Other 415 364 317 187 152 133
Total other expenses 1,858 1,724 1,446 725 662 586
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8. Provisions for Taxes on Profit
A. Composition

Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions
Taxes for current year 1,073 844 852 602 467 468
Taxes for previous years (65) (42) (14) (56) (47) (19)
Total current taxes 1,008 802 838 546 420 449
Addition (deduction):
Deferred taxes for current year (139) (75) (114) (118) (67) (159)
Deferred taxes for previous years 63 62 23 64 62 20
Total deferred taxes! (76) (13) (91) (54) (5) (139)
Total provision for taxes on profit 932 789 747 492 415 310
Of which: tax provision abroad 153 138 141 - - -
Footnote:
(1) Composition of deferred tax expense (income):
Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions

Deferred tax income, before the effect of the following items: (76) (13) (149) (54) (5) (142)

Effect of changes in tax laws - - 58 - - 3

Total deferred taxes (76) (13) (91) (54) (5) (139)

The above table does not include the tax effect of certain items that are

recognized directly in capital in each period:

The total tax expense (income) in respect of items recognized in other

comprehensive income 196 (58) 29 116 (54) 45

B. Reconciliation between the theoretical tax which would apply had the profit been taxed at
the statutory tax rate applying to the Banking corporations in Israel, to the provision of taxes
on profit as charged in the statement of profit and loss:

Consolidated The Bank
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions

Profit before taxes 2,675 2,332 2,065 1,398 1,178 884
Statutory tax rate on banks in Israel 34.19% 34.19% 35.04% 34.19% 34.19% 35.04%
Income tax at the statutory tax rate 914 797 724 478 403 310
Income tax (tax savings) on:
Income of foreign subsidiaries 11 (22) (22) - - -
Income exempt from tax or taxed at preferred rates (5) (6) (8) (1) (2) (3)
Adjustment differences on depreciation and capital gains (2) (9) (9) (1) (8) (7)
Other non-deductible expenses 13 11 9 10 8 6
Additional amounts payable with respect to problematic debts 15 27 14 10 23 10
Taxes for prior years (10) 3 (10) 4 - (16)
Income of Israeli subsidiaries 3 (3) (1) (2) (1) (1)
Change in the balance of deferred taxes resulting from the change in
tax rates = = 58 = = 8
Change in the balance of the provision for deferred tax asset - 1 (13) - -
Net interest expense (income) for income tax (7) (10) B (6) (8) 7

Total provision for taxes on profit 932 789 747 492 415 310
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8. Provisions for Taxes on Profit (continued)

C.

(1) Agreed final income tax assessments have been received by the Bank for the tax years up to and including 2015.

(2) During the first quarter of 2018, the Bank was issued with agreed withholding tax assessments for years up to and including
2015. Accordingly, excess provisions in the amount of NIS 31 million, before the tax effect, had been reversed, which
reduced the payroll expenses for 2018.

(3) The major consolidated subsidiaries in Israel have received final tax assessments, or assessments deemed final until 2014.
Final income tax assessments have been received by IDB New York for the years up to and including 2015.

On December 14, 2016, the Director of Value Added Tax ("the Director') issued to ICC assessments for periods from January 2012

to August 2016. The amount charged in these assessments, including interest and linkage, totaled NIS 48 million. ICC disputed

the position of the Director, and is of the opinion that it has good arguments in support of its position. Accordingly, ICC filed on

March 9, 2017, an appeal. On March 8, 2018, ICC received the decision of the VAT Director rejecting the appeal submitted, as

stated, as well as increasing the charge of the tax assessment to NIS 75 million (including interest and linkage increments). To the

extent that the position of ICC would not be admitted by the Court, it might be liable with respect to the issues contained in the
assessment, also for periods following the date of the assessment. On January 31, 2019, ICC filed an appeal against the said
decision with the Central Region District Court. On November 3, 2019, the Supreme Court approved an agreed plea for the
consolidation of the hearing of the appeal with the hearing of the appeals filed by competitors of ICC. A preliminary hearing was

held on March 5, 2020.

On February 9, 2000, the Bank's shares in IDB New York were transferred to Discount Bancorp. Inc. (hereinafter - "Bancorp"), a

wholly-owned holding subsidiary of the Bank, registered in the State of Delaware, U.S. The transfer of the shares to Bancorp was

made at their value in the Bank's books, in consideration for shares issued by Bancorp. The transfer of the shares was made in
accordance with the provisions of Section 104A of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance. The Bank is obligated to pay taxes in Israel

with respect to the said transfer of shares, if and when such shares will be sold. The Bank has provided the Tax Authority with a

guarantee as to the payment of such taxes.

ICC estimates the amount of exposure, in respect of which no provision has been recorded in its financial statements, at approx.

NIS 140 million.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognized. As of December 31, 2019, deferred tax liabilities in the amount of approx. NIS 415

million, in respect of temporary differences in the amount of approx. NIS 2,044 million, relating to investments in subsidiaries,

were not included, since the Bank does not intend to realize these investments in the foreseeable future.
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8. Provisions for Taxes on Profit (continued)
G. Movement in deferred taxes

1. Consolidated

An
addition
Changes Changes stemming
recognized recognized in from the
in the other merger of The
Opening statement comprehensive Municipal Closing average
balance of income income Bank balance tax
in NIS millions in %
For the year of 2019
Deferred tax asset
On provision for credit losses 872 57 (5) 8 932 3815
On provision for vacation pay, jubilee awards and provision of retirees 478 9 38 526 33.8
From excess liabilities in respect of employee benefits over the assets
of the plan 443 42 49 6 540 34.0
On securities 47 - (46) - 1 34.2
On income tax carry- forward deductions 6 - - - 6 23.0
Other 41 4 (3) 23 65 30.7
Balance of deferred tax assets, gross 1,887 112 33 38 2,070 33.6
Provision for deferred tax asset (5) = = = (5) 23.0
Balance of deferred tax assets deduction deferred tax liabilities 1,882 112 33 38 2,065 33.6
Deferred tax liability
On securities - 17 11 - 28 31.4
Fixed assets and leasing 95 2 - 6 103 27.7
In respect of investment in investee companies 119 9 - - 128 14.6
Other 5 6 - 17 28 30.0
Balance of deferred tax liabilities, gross 219 34 11 23 287 20.0
Balance of deferred tax assets, net 1,663 78 22 15 1,778 31.0
Of which: in respect of foreign operations 139 80 28.2
For the year of 2018
Deferred tax asset
On provision for credit losses 802 65 B - 872 33.6
On provision for vacation pay, jubilee awards and provision of retirees 538 (5) (55) = 478 33.9
From excess liabilities in respect of employee benefits over the assets
of the plan 469 14 (40) - 443 34.1
On securities 25 (17) 39 - 47 28.6
On income tax carry- forward deductions 4 2 - - 6 23.0
Other 59 (20) 2 - 41 28.4
Balance of deferred tax assets, gross 1,897 39 (49) - 1,887 334
Provision for deferred tax asset (4) (1) - - (5) 23
Balance of deferred tax assets deduction deferred tax liabilities 1,893 38 (49) - 1,882 33.5
Deferred tax liability
On securities 2 - (2) - - -
Fixed assets and leasing 88 6 1 - 95 26.5
In respect of investment in investee companies 100 17 2 = 119 14.6
Other 6 (2) 1 - B 28.5
Balance of deferred tax liabilities, gross 196 21 2 - 219 18.3
Balance of deferred tax assets, net 1,697 17 (51) - 1,663 30.8
Of which: in respect of foreign operations 114 139 28.5
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8. Provisions for Taxes on Profit (continued)
G. Movement in deferred taxes (continued)
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2. The Bank
Changes Changes
recognized recognized in
in the other The
Opening statement comprehensive Closing average
balance ofincome income balance tax
in NIS millions in %
For the year of 2019
Deferred tax asset
On provision for credit losses 541 23 - 564 34.2
On provision for vacation pay, jubilee awards and provision of retirees 438 3 32 473 34.2
From excess liabilities in respect of employee benefits over the assets of the plan 818 &b 14 362 34.2
On income tax carry- forward deductions 3 - - 3 23.0
Other 9 6 - 15 34.2
Balance of deferred tax assets, gross 1,304 67 46 1,417 34.2
Provision for deferred tax asset (3) - - (3) 23.0
Balance of deferred tax assets deduction deferred tax liabilities 1,301 67 46 1,414 34.2
Deferred tax liability
On securities - 17 - 17 34.2
Fixed assets and leasing 71 (4) - 67 27.0
In respect of investment in investee companies 118 9 = 127 14.5
Balance of deferred tax liabilities, gross 189 22 - 211 18.0
Balance of deferred tax assets, net 1,112 45 46 1,203 30.6
For the year of 2018
On provision for credit losses 510 31 - 541 34.2
On provision for vacation pay, jubilee awards and provision of retirees 496 (10) (48) 438 34.2
From excess liabilities in respect of employee benefits over the assets of the plan 825 3 (15) 313 34.2
On income tax carry- forward deductions 2 1 - 3 23.0
Other 24 (15) = 9 34.2
Balance of deferred tax assets, gross 1,357 10 (63) 1,304 34.2
Provision for deferred tax asset (3) = = (3) 23.0
Balance of deferred tax assets deduction deferred tax liabilities 1,354 10 (63) 1,301 34.2
Deferred tax liability
On securities 1 - (1) - 34.2
Fixed assets and leasing 66 B - 71 25.9
In respect of investment in investee companies 98 18 2 118 14.5
Balance of deferred tax liabilities, gross 165 23 1 189 17.4
Balance of deferred tax assets, net 1,189 (13) (64) 1,112 30.4




144

8. Provisions for Taxes on Profit (continued)
H. Brought forward losses and credits for tax purposes

Provision Deferred

Deferred for tax
tax deferred assets, Balance
assets tax asset net of loss

in NIS millions

For the year ended December 31 2019

Losses for tax purposes:

The bank 3 3 - 13
Subsidiaries in Israel 2 2 - 10

For the year ended December 31 2018

Losses for tax purposes:

The bank 3 3 - 12
Subsidiaries in Israel 2 2 -
Footnote:

(1) The first year of expiry cannot be estimated

|.  Tax legislation changes
2017 - The U.S. tax reform. On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed a comprehensive tax reform (Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act). Among other things within the framework of this Reform, the corporation tax rate will be reduced to 21% in
respect of tax years which began from 2018 and thereafter. The lowering of the tax rate has reduced the deferred taxes balance
of IDB New York by an amount of US$15.5 million (reduction in profit).

J. Taxation of the foreign banking subsidiaries. In accordance with an agreement reached with the Tax Authority, the earnings of
the foreign banking subsidiaries are added to the Bank's chargeable income, so that the Bank complements the tax recorded
abroad on the pre-tax accounting profits of the foreign subsidiaries to the amount of tax that would have been paid in Israel on
such profit based on the tax rate applicable to the Bank in Israel.

9. Earnings Per Share

For the year ended December 31
2019 2018 2017
in NIS millions

Basic and diluted earnings Per share

Total net income, attributed to bank's shareholders 1,702 1,505 1,259

In Thousand

Basic earnings Per share:

Weighted average of shares of NIS 0.1 par value:

Balance to January 1 1,164,017 1,164,017 1,132,125
In addition - option warrants exercised into shares - - 25,102
Weighted average of shares of NIS 0.1 par value, used for the Basic earnings 1,164,017 1,164,017 1,157,227
Basic earnings Per share of NIS 0.1 (in NIS) 1.46 1.29 1.09

Diluted earnings Per share:

Weighted average of shares of NIS 0.1 par value:

Weighted average of shares of NIS 0.1 par value, used for the Diluted earnings 1,164,017 1,164,017 1,157,227
In addition - The effect of option warrants - - 1,041
Weighted average of shares of NIS 0.1 par value, used for the Diluted earnings 1,164,017 1,164,017 1,158,268

Diluted earnings Per share of NIS 0.1 (in NIS) 1.46 1.29 1.09
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Other comprehensive income (loss), before attribution to non-
controlling rights holders

Other Other
comprehensive comprehensive
(loss) income (loss)
attributed to attributed to
non-controlling  the Bank's
rights holders shareholders

Adjustments,
net, for
presentation Net income
of available- Financial (loss) in Adjustments
for- sale  statements respect of in respect of
bonds at fair translation  cash flows employee
value® adjustments" hedge benefits Total
in NIS millions
Balance at December 31, 2016 86 22 1 (511) (402) (5) (397)
Net change during the year 25 (335) (1) (11) (322) (2) (320)
Balance at December 31, 2017 111 (313) - (522) (724) (7) (717)
Net change during the year 2(268) 252 (1) 2173 156 - 156
Balance at December 31, 2018 (157) (61) (1) (349) (568) (7) (561)
Net change during the year 531 (283) 3 (175) 76 (4) 80
Balance at December 31, 2019 374 (344) 2 (524) (492) (11) (481)

Footnotes:

(1) Including financial statements translation adjustments of a consolidated subsidiary - Discount Bancorp Inc., the functional currency of which is different from

that of the Bank.

(2)  Including the effect of adoption of new standards — see the Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity.

(3)  In 2017 and 2018 - available-for- sale securities.
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10. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (continued)

B. Changes in other comprehensive income (loss) component before tax effect and after tax
effect

2019 2018 2017

Before Tax After Before Tax After Before Tax After
taxes effect taxes taxes effect taxes taxes effect taxes

in NIS millions

Changes in components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), before attribution to non-controlling rights holders:

Adjustments for presentation of available-for- sale bonds at fair value'®

Net unrealized income (loss) from adjustments to fair value 951 (312) 639 (3400 “96 (244) 194 (64) 130
Income on available-for-sale bonds reclassified to the statement of

income®? (161) 53 (108)  (37) 13 (24)  (161) 56  (105)
Net change during the year 790 (259) 531 (377) 109 (268) 33 (8) 25
Translation adjustments

Financial statements translation adjustments" (283) - (283) 252 - 252  (33b) - (33H)
Net change during the year (283) - (283) 252 - 252 (335) - (335)
Cash flow hedging

Net income (loss) in respect of cash flow hedging 4 (1) 3 (2) = (2) = = =
Net loss (income) in respect of cash flow hedging reclassified to the

statement of income - - - 1 - 1 (1) - (1)
Net change during the year 4 (1) 3 (1) - (1) (1) - (1)
Employee benefits

Net actuarial profit (loss) (362) 117 (245) 117 “(38) 79 (102 35 (67)
loss reclassified to the statement of income® 103 (33) 70 142 (48) 94 85 (29) 56
Net change during the year (259) 84 (175) 259 (86) 173 (17) 6 (11)
Total net change during the year 252 (176) 76 133 23 156 (320) (2) (322)
Changes in components of accumulated other comprehensive loss attributed to non-controlling rights holders:

Total net change during the year (6) 2 (4) - - - (2) - (2)
Changes in components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) profit attributed to the Bank's shareholders:

Total net change during the year 258 (178) 80 133 23 156 (318) (2) (320)
Footnotes:

(1) Including financial statements translation adjustments of a consolidated subsidiary - Discount Bancorp Inc., the functional currency of which is different from that
of the Bank.

(2) The pre-tax amount is reported in the of statement of profit and loss in the item "non-interest financing income". For further details see the note on non-interest
financing income.

(3) The pre-tax amount has been classified to other expenses.

(4) Including the effect of adoption of new standards — see the Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity.

(5) In 2017 and 2018 - available-for- sale securities.

11. Cash and Deposits with Banks

Consolidated The Bank
December 31 December 31
2019 2018 2019 2018
in NIS millions
Cash and deposits with central banks 23,336 19,355 17,463 15,795
Deposits with commercial banks 2,708 2,503 2,533 2,704
Total cash and deposits with banks 26,044 21,858 19,996 18,499
Includes cash, deposits with banks and deposits with central banks for an initial period of
up to three months 25,777 21,549 19,586 18,218
Footnote:

(1) See Note 27 C, D, E, G, H, J, K for pledges.
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12. Securities
A. Composition of this item - consolidated
December 31,2019
Unrecognized Unrecognized
gains from losses from
adjustmentto  adjustment to
Book value Amortized cost fair value fair value Fair value?
In NIS millions
(1) Held-to-maturity bonds
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 4,253 4,253 242 - 4,495
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 322 322 3 4 321
Of others abroad?” 178 178 6 2 182
Total held-to-maturity bonds 4,753 4,753 251 4,998
December 31,2019
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Book value Amortized cost Profits Losses Fair value®?
In NIS millions
(2) Available- for- sale bonds
Of the Israeli Government 17,232 16,856 377 1 17,232
Of foreign governments 1,667 1,655 19 7 1,667
Of Israeli financial institutions 145 144 1 - 145
Of foreign financial institutions 927 911 17 1 927
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 7,062 7,060 30 28 7,062
Of others in Israel 322 308 14 - 322
Of others abroad?” 2,207 2,157 52 2 2,207
Total Available- for- sale bonds 29,562 (329,091 4510 4139 (329,562
December 31,2019
Unrealized Unrealized
gains from losses from
adjustment to  adjustment to
Book value Cost fair value fair value Fair valuel2®
In NIS millions
(3) Investment in not for trading shares 967 935 6133 ®1 967
Of which: shares, the fair value of which is not
readily available 839 839 - = 839
Total not for trading securities 35,282 34,779 35,527

For footnotes see next page.
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12. Securities (continued)
A. Composition of this item - consolidated!” (continued)

December 31,2019

Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized cost gains from losses from
(in shares - adjustmentto adjustment to
Book value cost) fair value fair value Fair value?

In NIS millions

(4) Trading Securities
Bonds and loans:

Of the Israeli Government 2,299 2,292 8 1 2,299
Of foreign governments 16 16 = = 16
Of Israeli financial institutions 17 16 1 - 17
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -

backed-securities (ABS) 60 59 1 - 60
Of others in Israel 58 59 2 3 58
Total bonds 2,450 2,442 12 4 2,450
Shares 13 12 2 1 13
Total trading securities 2,463 2,454 ©14 elg 2,463
Total securities 37,745 37,233 37,990
Footnotes:

(1) See Note 27 for pledges.

(2) Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes.

(3) Including securities sold by overseas consolidated subsidiary under repurchase terms from the available for sale portfolio with a market value of NIS 380
million (approx. US$ 110 million).

(4) Included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income".

(5) Regarding shares in this column without readily determinable fair value, are presented cost minus impairment adjusted upwards or downwards to observable
prices in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer.

(6) Recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

(7)  Municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S.A.

December 31, 2018

Unrecognized Unrecognized

gains from losses from
adjustment to  adjustment to
Book value Amortized cost fair value fair value Fair value®?

In NIS millions

(1) Held-to-maturity bonds
Bonds and loans:

Of the Israeli Government 5118 5118 89 20 5,187
Of foreign governments 19 19 = = 19
Of Israeli financial institutions 27 27 - - 27
Of foreign financial institutions 34 34 = = 34
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -

backed-securities (ABS) 451 451 1 13 439
Of others abroad?” 1,073 1,073 15 3 1,085

Total held-to-maturity bonds 6,722 316,722 105 36 6,791
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12. Securities (continued)
A. Composition of this item - consolidated!” (continued)
December 31, 2018
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Amortized cost
(in shares -
Book value cost) Profits Losses Fair value®?
In NIS millions
(2) Available- for- sale securities
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 16,858 16,861 52 B5 16,858
Of foreign governments 749 758 = 9 749
Of Israeli financial institutions 61 61 - - 61
Of foreign financial institutions 1,314 1,336 8 25 1,314
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 6,855 7,010 4 159 6,855
Of others in Israel 148 150 1 3 148
Of others abroad?” 1,965 1,991 8 29 1,965
Total bonds 27,950 28,167 63 280 827,950
Shares 980 980 3 8 51980
Total available-for-sale securities 28,930 29,147 4166 4283 28,930
For footnotes see next page.
December 31, 2018
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized cost gains from losses from
(in shares - adjustmentto adjustment to
Book value cost) fair value fair value Fair value?
In NIS millions
(3) Trading Securities
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 2,013 2,013 3 3 2,013
Of Israeli financial institutions 19 20 - 1 19
Of foreign financial institutions 8 8 - - 8
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 77 79 - 2 77
Of others in Israel 62 66 - 4 62
Of others abroad 8 8 - - 8
Total bonds 2,187 2,194 & 10 2,187
Shares 59 65 - 6 59
Total trading securities 2,246 2,259 613 616 2,246
Total securities 37,898 38,128 174 335 37,967

Footnotes:
(1) See Note 27 for pledges.

(2) Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes.

(3) Including securities sold by overseas consolidated subsidiary under repurchase terms from held-to-maturity portfolio at an amortized cost of NIS 124 million
(approx. US$ 33 million) and from the available-for-sale portfolio with a market value of NIS 1,168 million (approx. US$ 312 million).

(4) Included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income".
(5)

(6) Recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

(7)  Municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S.A.

Including shares, the fair value of which is not readily available, stated at cost of NIS 923 million.

For details as to the results of investment activity in bonds and shares, see Notes 2 and 3.
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12. Securities (continued)

B. Composition of this item - the Bank!"

December 31,2019

Unrecognized

Unrecognized

gains from losses from
adjustmentto  adjustment to
Book value Amortized cost fair value fair value Fair value?
In NIS millions
(1) Held-to-maturity bonds:
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 3,731 3,731 190 - 3,921
Total held-to-maturity bonds 3,731 3,731 190 - 3,921
December 31,2019
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Book value Amortized cost Profits Losses Fair value?
In NIS millions
(2) Available- for- sale bonds
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 12,842 12,546 297 1 12,842
Of foreign governments 1,513 1,503 17 7 1,513
Of lIsraeli financial institutions 106 105 1 - 106
Of foreign financial institutions 858 841 17 - 858
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 587 588 1 2 587
Of others in Israel 313 299 14 - 313
Of others abroad 1,321 1,306 18 3 1,321
Total Available- for- sale bonds 17,540 17,188 31365 3113 17,540
December 31,2019
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized cost gains from losses from
(in shares - adjustmentto adjustment to
Book value cost) fair value fair value Fair value@4
In NIS millions
(3) Investment in not for trading shares 91 63 529 )1 91
Of which: shares, the fair value of which is not
readily available 2 2 - - 2
Total not for trading securities 21,362 20,982 - - 21,552
December 31,2019
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized cost gains from losses from
(for shares - adjustmentto adjustment to
Book value cost) fair value fair value Fair value?
In NIS millions
(3) Trading Securities:
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 2,223 2,216 8 1 2,223
Of Israeli financial institutions 17 16 1 - 17
Of others in Israel 28 29 2 8 28
Total bonds 2,268 2,261 11 4 2,268
Shares 10 9 1 - 10
Total trading securities 2,278 2,270 5112 514 2,278
Total securities 23,640 23,252 23,830

*Loss amount lower then NIS 1 million.
Footnotes:
(1) See Note 27 for pledges.

(2) Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes.
(3) Included in "accumulated other comprehensive income".
(4)

Regarding shares in this column without readily determinable fair value, are presented cost minus impairment adjusted upwards or downwards to observable
prices in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer.

(5) Recorded in the statement of profit and loss.
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12. Securities (continued)
B. Composition of this item - the Bank!" (continued)
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December 31,2018

Unrecognized Unrecognized

gains from losses from
adjustmentto  adjustment to
Book value Amortized cost fair value fair value Fair value®?
In NIS millions
(1) Held-to-maturity bonds:
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 4,705 4,705 74 11 4,768
Total held-to-maturity bonds 4,705 4,705 74 11 4,768
December 31,2018
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Amortized cost
(for shares -
Book value cost) Profits Losses Fair value?
In NIS millions
(2) Available for sale securities:
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 11,513 11,480 45 12 11,513
Of foreign governments 237 239 - 237
Of Israeli financial institutions 61 61 - - 61
Of foreign financial institutions 1,289 1,310 8 24 1,289
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 186 190 - 4 186
Of others in Israel 119 121 1 8 119
Of others abroad 1,522 1,541 3 22 1,522
Total bonds 14,927 14,942 52 67 14,927
Shares 39 40 1 2 4139
Total available-for-sale securities 14,966 14,982 353 3169 14,966
December 31,2018
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized cost gains from losses from
(for shares - adjustmentto adjustmentto
Book value cost) fair value fair value Fair value?
In NIS millions
(3) Trading Securities:
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 1,630 1,628 8 1 1,630
Of Israeli financial institutions 19 20 - 1 19
Of foreign financial institutions 7 7 = = 7
Of others in Israel 51 54 = 8 51
Of others abroad 8 8 - - 8
Total bonds and bills 1,715 1,717 3 5) 1,715
Shares 56 61 - B 56
Total trading securities 1,771 1,778 (513 5110 1,771
Total securities 21,442 21,465 130 90 21,505
Footnotes:

1) See Note 27 for pledges.

Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes.
Included in "accumulated other comprehensive income”.

Including shares and bonds, the fair value of which is not readily available, stated at cost of NIS 2 million.

Recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

For details as to the results of investment activity in bonds and shares, see Notes 2 and 3.
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12. Securities (continued)

C. Amortized cost and unrealized losses, according to the length of the period and rate of
impairment of held-to-maturity bonds which are in an unrealized loss position - consolidated

December 31, 2019

Less than 12 months

More than 12 months

Unrecognized losses from
adjustment to fair value

Unrecognized losses from

adjustment to fair value

Amortized Amortized
cost 0-20%  20-40% Total cost 0-20%  20-40% Total
In NIS millions
Held-to-maturity bonds
Bonds and loans:
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 67 (- - - 145 4 -
Of others abroad - - - - 85) 2 -
Total held-to-maturity bonds 67 - - - 180 6 -

December 31, 2018

Less than 12 months

More than 12 months

Unrecognized losses from
adjustment to fair value

Unrecognized losses from
adjustment to fair value

Amortized Amortized
cost 0-20% 20-40% Total cost 0-20% 20-40% Total
In NIS millions
Held-to-maturity bonds
Bonds and loans:
Of the Israeli Government 1,570 20 - 20 - - - -
Of foreign governments - - - - 19 - - -
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 25 - - - 377 13 - 13
Of others abroad 246 2 - 2 38 1 - 1
Total held-to-maturity bonds 1,841 22 - 22 434 14 - 14

Footnote:
(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million.

D. As part of the earlier adoption of the updated U.S. Standard in the matter derivatives and hedge transactions (see Note 1 E 2
above), the subsidiary IDB Bank has reclassified securities from the "held to maturity" portfolio to the "available-for-sale" portfolio,
in an amount of US$252 million. Up to and including the financial statements as of December 31, 2018, the Bank continued to
present the said securities in the consolidated financial statements as Held-to-maturity securities. As from January 1, 2019, these
securities are classified to the available-for-sale portfolio.
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E. Fair value and unrealized losses, according to the length of the period and rate of
impairment of available-for-sale securities which are in an unrealized loss position-

consolidated

December 31, 2019

Less than 12 months More than 12 months

Unrealized losses Unrealized losses

Fair value 0-20%  20-40% Total Fair value 0-20%  20-40% Total

In NIS millions

Available- for-sale bonds

Of the Israeli Government 956 1 - 1 - - - -
Of foreign governments 1,062 7 - 7 34 (- - -
Of Israeli financial institutions 24 - - - - - - -
Of foreign financial institutions 52 - - - b4 1 - 1
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -

backed-securities (ABS) 2,095 14 - 14 1,271 14 - 14
Of others in Israel 45 (- - - - - - -
Of others abroad 73 (- - - 118 2 - 2
Total bonds 4,307 22 - 22 1,477 17 - 17

December 31, 2018

Less than 12 months More than 12 months

Unrealized losses Unrealized losses

Fair value 0-20%  20-40% Total Fair value 0-20%  20-40% Total

In NIS millions

Available-for-sale securities

Bonds and loans:

Of the Israeli Government 6,844 49 - 49 667 6 - 6
Of foreign governments 230 4 - 4 319 B - B
Of Israeli financial institutions 47 (- - - - - - -
Of foreign financial institutions 1,119 25 = 25 = = = =
Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -

backed-securities (ABS) 1,853 20 - 20 4,436 139 - 139
Of others in Israel 84 3 - 3 - - - -
Of others abroad 1,378 27 - 27 71 2 - 2
Total bonds 11,655 128 - 128 5,493 152 - 152
Shares 31 2 - 2 16 1 - 1
Total available-for-sale securities 11,586 130 - 130 5,509 153 - 153

Footnote:
(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million.
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12. Securities (continued)

F.

Further details regarding mortgage and asset backed securities, on a consolidated basis. The Bank’s securities portfolio as of
December 31, 2019, includes investments in asset backed securities, primarily investment in mortgage backed securities (MBS)
which are held for the most part by IDB New York.

Mortgage-backed Securities - MBS. A type of asset-backed security (ABS) that is secured by a mortgage or a pool of mortgages,
in respect of which periodic payments of principal and interest are paid. These securities are also referred to as mortgage related
or mortgage pass-through securities.

The Board of Directors of IDB New York has determined restrictions on the volume of investment in mortgage backed bonds
(MBS) except for Ginni Mae.

The market risk of these securities is evaluated prior to purchase to determine their suitability for inclusion in the portfolio.
Moreover, certain high risk tranches, are not allowable.

A real estate mortgage investment conduit (REMIC) is a complex pool of mortgage securities created to acquire investment
income for its creators and investors. REMICs consist of a fixed pool of mortgages broken apart into tranches, repackaged, and
marketed to investors as individual securities.

A stripped MBS, or stripped mortgage-backed security (MBS), is a type of mortgage-backed security that is split into principal-only
strips and interest-only strips. Stripped MBS derive their cash flows either from principal payments or interest payments on the
underlying mortgages, unlike conventional MBS where cash flows are based on both principal and interest payments.

Mortgage Pass - Through. A security issued by a financial institution which constitutes holdings of a proportionate share of the
mortgage loan portfolio of private borrowers. Where the issue is executed by Ginnie Mae Government Sponsored Enterprises
(hereinafter: "GNMA"), a U.S. Government guarantee is in effect. When the issue is performed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac,
Government Sponsored Enterprises (hereinafter: "GSE"), the issuer provides guarantee for any loss on the loan portfolio backing
the bond. Where the issue is performed by other financial institutions, the security is backed by the mortgages alone. The large
issuers of securitized assets are the GSE's who have a high credit rating. The GSE's are sponsored by the U.S. Government and
are supervised by it. There is, however, no explicit guarantee on the part of the U.S. Government to the GSE's.

Mortgage loans, grant the private borrower the right of early repayment at any given time. As a result, the investors have interest
exposure (early repayment), as well as exposure to the condition in the real estate market and the economy in general.
Collateralized Mortgage Obligation - CMO. A type of structured bond, backed by a portfolio of mortgage loans of private
borrowers in the United States. The CMO is divided into tranches. Each tranche represents a bond security entitled to receive
interest and repayment of principal before or after other bonds in the CMO, so that each bond reflects a different maturity period
and interest risk.

Where the CMO is issued by GNMA or GSE's, the issuer provides guarantee for any loss on the loan portfolio backing the bond.
Where the CMO is issued by other financial institutions, the bond is backed by the mortgages alone and preference is given to
bonds high rated in respect of payments of principal and interest over the other tranches given a lower rating.

CLO (Collateralized Loan Obligation): A bond backed up by a loan portfolio.

FNMA (Fannie Mae): a public corporation under the sponsorship of the U.S. Government that purchases mortgages, securitizes
them and sells them on the open market (the corporation does not carry a U.S. Government guarantee).

FHLMC (Freddie Mac): an agency branched to the U.S. Government that purchases mortgages, securitizes them and sells them
to the public (the agency does not carry a U.S. Government guarantee).

GNMA (Ginnie Mae): a federal mortgage corporation. Bonds issued by it are secured by guarantees of the Government National
Mortgage Association.
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12. Securities (continued)

G. Additional details (consolidated) regarding mortgage and asset backed securities
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December 31, 2019

Unrealized
Unrealized losses
gains from from
adjustment adjustment
Amortized to fair to fair
cost value' value'” Fair value
In NIS millions
1.Mortgage-backed bonds (MBS):
Available-for-sale bonds
Mortgage pass-through bonds: 945 6 1 950
of which:
Bonds guaranteed by GNMA 655 3 1 657
Bonds issued by FHLMC and FNMA 290 3 - 293
Other mortgage-backed bonds (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 5,030 23 18 5,035
Of which Bonds issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 5,030 23 18 5,035
Total available-for-sale MBS bonds 5,975 29 19 5,985
Held-to-maturity bonds
Mortgage pass-through bonds: 24 2 - 26
of which:
Bonds guaranteed by GNMA 17 2 19
Bonds issued by FHLMC and FNMA 7 - - 7
Other mortgage-backed bonds (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 298 1 4 295
Of which Bonds issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 298 1 4 295
Total held-to-maturity MBS 322 3 4 321
Trading bonds
Other mortgage-backed bonds (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 59 1 - 60
Of which Bonds issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 59 1 60
Total mortgage-backed trading bonds (MBS) 59 1 - 60
Total mortgage-backed bonds (MBS) 6,356 33 23 6,366
2.Total Asset-backed available-for-sale bonds (ABS) 1,085 1 9 1,077
Of which collaterized bonds CLO 1,070 1 9 1,062
Of which Asset-backed bond (ABS) 15 - - 15
Total mortgage and asset-backed bonds 7,441 34 32 7,443

Footnote:
(1) For available for sale securities-accumulated other comprehensive income.
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12. Securities (continued)

G. Additional details (consolidated) regarding mortgage and asset backed securities

(continued)

December 31, 2018

Unrealized
Unrealized losses
gains from from
adjustment adjustment
Amortized to fair to fair
cost value™ value Fair value
In NIS millions
1.Mortgage-backed securities (MBS):
Available-for-sale securities
Mortgage pass-through securities: 1,288 - 22 1,266
of which:
Securities guaranteed by GNMA 901 14 887
Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA 387 - 8 379
Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 5,353 4 132 5,225
Of which Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 5,353 4 132 5,225
Total available-for-sale MBS 6,641 4 154 6,491
Held-to-maturity securities
Mortgage pass-through securities: 32 1 - 33
of which:
Securities guaranteed by GNMA 21 1 - 22
Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA 11 - - 11
Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 419 - 13 406
Of which Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 419 - 13 406
Total held-to-maturity MBS 451 1 13 439
Trading securities
Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 79 - 2 77
Of which Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 79 - 2 77
Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 79 - 2 77
Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 7,171 5 169 7,007
2.Total Asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 369 - 5 364
Of which collaterized bonds CLO 351 - 4 347
Of which Asset-backed bond (ABS) 18 - 1 17
Total mortgage and asset-backed securities 7,540 5 174 7,371

Footnote:
(1) For available for sale securities-accumulated other comprehensive income.
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12. Securities (continued)

G. Additional details (consolidated) regarding mortgage and asset backed securities
(continued)

Additional details regarding mortgage and asset backed securities in unrealized loss position

December 31,2019
Less than 12 months 12 months and over

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
value losses value losses

In NIS millions

1.Mortgage-backed securities (MBS):
Available-for-sale bonds
A. Mortgage pass-through bonds

Bonds guaranteed by GNMA - - 307 1
Bonds issued by FHLMC and FNMA - - 99 -
Total mortgage-backed pass-through bonds - - 406 1
B. Other mortgage-backed bonds (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS):

Bonds issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 1,502 8 656 10
Total other mortgage-backed bonds 1,502 8 656 10
Total available-for-sale MBS 1,502 8 1,062 1

Held-to-maturity bonds
Other mortgage-backed bonds (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS):

Bonds issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 67 (- 141 4
Total other mortgage-backed bonds 67 - 141
Total held-to-maturity MBS 67 - 141 4

Trading securities
Other mortgage-backed bonds (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS):

Bonds issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA - - 13 -
Total mortgage-backed trading bonds (MBS) - - 13 -
Total mortgage-backed bonds (MBS) 1,569 8 1,216 15
2. Asset-backed available-for-sale bonds (ABS)

Collaterized bonds CLO 593 6 209 3
Total asset-backed available-for-sale bonds (ABS) 593 6 209

Total mortgage and asset-backed bonds 2,162 14 1,425 18
Footnote:

(1) Amount lower than NIS 1 million
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12. Securities (continued)

G. Additional details (consolidated) regarding mortgage and asset backed securities
(continued)

Additional details regarding mortgage and asset backed securities in unrealized loss position (continued)

December 31,2018

Less than 12 months 12 months and over

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
value losses value losses

In NIS millions

1.Mortgage-Backed Securities (MBS):

Available-for-sale securities

A. Mortgage pass-through securities:

Securities guaranteed by GNMA 363 3 437 11
Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA 145 1 234 7
Total mortgage-backed pass through securities 508 4 671 18
B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS):

Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 1,009 11 3,765 121
Total other mortgage-backed securities 1,009 11 3,765 121
Total available-for-sale MBS 1,517 15 4,436 139

Held-to-maturity securities
A.Mortgage pass-through securities:

Securities guaranteed by GNMA 2 (- - -
Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 2 - - -
B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS):

Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 23 (- 364 13
Total other mortgage-backed securities 23 - 364 13
Total held-to-maturity MBS 25 - 364 13

Trading securities
Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS):

Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA 21 (- 38 2
Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 21 - 38 2
Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 1,563 15 4,838 154
2.Asset-backed available-for-sale Securities (ABS)

Collaterized bonds CLO 318 4 - -
Of which Asset-backed bond (ABS) 18 1 - -
Total asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 336 5 - -
Total mortgage and asset backed securities 1,899 20 4,838 154
Footnote:

(1) Amount lower than NIS 1 million

H. The available-for-sale securities portfolio includes corporate bonds, including bonds of banks, in a total amount of approx. NIS
3,601 million (December 31, 2018: NIS 3,488 million). The balance of the said bonds included as of December 31, 2019, unrealized
profits in the amount of approx. NIS 81 million (December 31, 2018: approx. NIS 57 million).

. Most of the unrealized losses as at December 31, 2019 relate to securities rated as "investment grade" and they are attributed to
certain factors, including changes in market interest rate subsequent to date of acquisition, an increase in margins occurring in the
credit market concerning similar types of securities, the impact of inactive markets and changes in the rating of securities. For
debt securities, there are no securities past due or securities for which the Bank and/or it relevant consolidated companies
estimates that it is not probable that they will be able to collect all the amounts owed to them pursuant to the investment
contracts.

Whereas the Bank and the relevant subsidiaries do not intend to sell securities having an unrealized loss, the Bank and the
relevant subsidiaries do not view the impairment in value of these investments to be other than temporarily impaired at December
31, 2019.

In 2019, an other than temporary in nature write down was recorded on several securities, in the amount of NIS 31 million (2018:
NIS 28 million; 2017: NIS 33 million).

J. Fair value presentation. The balances of securities as of December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, include securities
amounting to NIS 32,153 million and NIS 30,253 million, respectively, that are presented at fair value.
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12. Securities (continued)
K. Data regarding impaired bonds - consolidated

December December
31,2019 31,2018

In NIS millions

Recorded amount of non accruing interest income impaired bonds 47 79

13. Credit Risk, Credit to the Public and Allowance for Credit Losses

General. Debts — in this Note: credit to the public, credit to Governments, deposits with banks and other debts, excluding bonds,
securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements and assets in respect of the "MAOF" market activity.
It is noted, that Note 31 presents the details included in this Note, as well as an extended discussion thereof.

1. Debts, credit to the public and the balance of allowance for credit losses - consolidated

December 31, 2019
Credit to the public

Private Private
Individuals Individuals
- Housing - Other Banks and
Commercial Loans Loans Total Governments Total

In NIS millions

Recorded amount of debts:
Examined on a specific basis" 85,059 - 761 85,820 5,980 91,800

Examined on a group basis:
The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of

arrears 2233 36,974 - 37,207 - 37,207
Group - other 26,759 185 33,020 59,964 243 60,207
Total debts* 112,051 37,159 33,781 182,991 6,223 189,214
* Of which:

Restructured troubled debts 885 - 158 1,043 - 1,043
Other Impaired debts 740 - 31 771 - 771
Total balance of impaired debts 1,625 - 189 1,814 - 1,814
Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 62 359 57 478 - 478
Other problematic debts 2,067 19 314 2,400 - 2,400
Total Problematic debts 3,754 378 560 4,692 - 4,692

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts:
Examined on a specific basis" 1,285 - 82 1,367 - 1,367

Examined on a group basis:
The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of

arrears (31 206 - 207 - 207
Group - other 367 1 582 950 1 951
Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,653 207 664 2,524 1 2,525
Of which: in respect of impaired debts 241 - 66 307 - 307
Footnotes:

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 89,986 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of
NIS 1,060 million computed on a group basis.

(2) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 233 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction.

(3) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis, in amount of NIS 4 million,
computed on a group basis, in amount of NIS 130 million.
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13. Credit Risk, Credit to the Public and Allowance for Credit Losses

(continued)

1. Debts, credit to the public and the balance of allowance for credit losses - consolidated

(continued)

December 31, 2018

Credit to the public

Private Private

Individuals Individuals

- Housing - Other

Commercial Loans Loans

Banks and

Total Governments Total

In NIS millions

Recorded amount of debts:

Examined on a specific basis"" 75,208 - 539 75,747 5,389 81,136
Examined on a group basis:

The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of arrears 2231 32,779 - 33,010 - 33,010
Group - other (228,054 145 30,122 58,321 450 58,771
Total debts* 103,493 32,924 30,661 167,078 5,839 172,917
* Of which:

Restructured troubled debts 1,094 - 131 1,225 - 1,225
Other Impaired debts 384 - 24 408 - 408
Total balance of impaired debts 1,478 - 155 1,633 - 1,633
Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 58 316 61 435 - 435
Other problematic debts 1,294 24 345 1,663 - 1,663
Total Problematic debts 2,830 340 561 3,731 - 3,731
Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts:

Examined on a specific basis" 1,096 - 64 1,160 - 1,160
Examined on a group basis:

The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of arrears (31 3185 - 186 - 186
Group - other 384 2 542 928 1 929
Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,481 187 606 2,274 1 2,275
Of which: in respect of impaired debts 169 - b4 223 - 223

Footnotes:

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 79,503 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of

NIS 937 million computed on a group basis.

(2) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 235 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction.
(3) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis, in amount of NIS 4 million,

computed on a group basis, in amount of NIS 116 million.
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13. Credit Risk, Credit to the Public and Allowance for Credit Losses
(continued)
1. Debts, credit to the public and the balance of allowance for credit losses - the Bank

Credit to the public

Private Private
Individuals Individuals
- Housing - Other Banks and
Commercial Loans Loans Total Governments Total

In NIS millions
December 31, 2019

Recorded amount of debts:

Examined on a specific basis™ 64,004 - 441 64,445 6,049 70,494
Examined on a group basis:

The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of arrears 214 31,451 - 31,665 - 31,665
Group - other 7,312 - 14,594 21,906 - 21,906
Total debts* 71,530 31,451 15,035 118,016 6,049 124,065
* Of which:

Restructured troubled debts 639 - 88 727 - 727
Other Impaired debts 4388 - 2 490 - 490
Total balance of impaired debts 1,127 - 90 1,217 - 1,217
Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 31 281 34 346 - 346
Other problematic debts 819 - 41 860 - 860
Total Problematic debts 1,977 281 165 2,423 - 2423

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts:

Examined on a specific basis'" 892 - 62 954 - 954
Examined on a group basis:

The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of arrears 21 2180 - 181 - 181
Group - other 102 - 240 342 1 343
Total allowance for Credit Losses 995 180 302 1,477 1 1,478
Of which: in respect of impaired debts 158 = 50 208 = 208
Footnotes:

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 69,277 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of
NIS 746 million computed on a group basis.

(2) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis, in amount of NIS 3 million,
computed on a group basis, in amount of NIS 110 million.
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13. Credit Risk, Credit to the Public and Allowance for Credit Losses

(continued)

1. Debts, credit to the public and the balance of allowance for credit losses - the Bank

(continued)

Credit to the public

Private Private

Individuals Individuals

- Housing - Other

Commercial Loans Loans

Banks and

Total Governments Total

In NIS millions

December 31, 2018

Recorded amount of debts:

Examined on a specific basis"" 60,027 - 275 60,302 6,039 66,341
Examined on a group basis:

The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of arrears 209 27,989 - 28,198 - 28,198
Group - other 7,203 - 14,122 21,325 - 21,325
Total debts* 67,439 27,989 14,397 109,825 6,039 115,864
* Of which:

Restructured troubled debts 845 = 80 925 = 925
Other Impaired debts 269 - 1 270 - 270
Total balance of impaired debts 1,114 - 81 1,195 - 1,195
Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 34 267 42 343 - 343
Other problematic debts 523 - 56 579 - 579
Total Problematic debts 1,671 267 179 2,117 - 2,117
Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts:

Examined on a specific basis™ 821 - 51 872 - 872
Examined on a group basis:

The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of arrears (21 2164 - 165 - 165
Group - other 100 - 240 340 1 341
Total allowance for Credit Losses 922 164 291 1,377 1 1,378
Of which: in respect of impaired debts 126 - 43 169 - 169
Footnotes:

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 65,146 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of

NIS 703 million computed on a group basis.

(2) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis, in amount of NIS 3 million,

computed on a group basis, in amount of NIS 98 million.



Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 Financial Statements

13. Credit Risk, Credit to the Public and Allowance for Credit Losses

(continued)

2. Movement in the balance of allowance for credit losses - consolidated
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Credit to the public

Private Private
Individuals Individuals
- Housing - Other Banks and
Commercial Loans Loans Total Governments Total
In NIS millions

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31, 2016 1,702 168 469 2,339 - 2,339
Credit loss expenses 243 15 Bill5 B7/S 1 574
Accounting write-offs (761) (5) (410) (1,176) - (1,176)
Collection of debts written-off in previous years 401 - 193 594 - 594
Net accounting write-offs (360) (5) (217) (582) = (582)
Financial statements translation adjustments (25) = (1) (26) = (26)
Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31,
2017 1,560 178 566 2,304 1 2,305
Credit loss expenses 178 23 339 540 - 540
Accounting write-offs (476) (14) (446) (936) = (936)
Collection of debts written-off in previous years 324 - 197 521 - 521
Net accounting write-offs (152) (14) (249) (415) = (415)
Financial statements translation adjustments 20 - 1 21 - 21
Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31,
2018 1,606 187 657 2,450 1 2,451
An addition stemming from the merger of Municipal Bank 25 = = 25 = 25
Credit loss expenses 351 27 312 690 - 690
Accounting write-offs (386) (7) (484) (877) = (877)
Collection of debts written-off in previous years 248 - 233 431 - 431
Net accounting write-offs (138) (7) (251) (396) = (396)
Financial statements translation adjustments (21) - (1) (22) - (22)
Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31,
2019 1,823 207 717 2,747 1 2,748
Of which: in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments
as at December 31, 2017 155 - 38 193 - 193
as at December 31, 2018 125 - 51 176 - 176
as at December 31, 2019 170 - 53 223 - 223
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13. Credit Risk, Credit to the Public and Allowance for Credit Losses

(continued)

2. Movement in the balance of allowance for credit losses - the Bank

Credit to the public

Private Private
Individuals Individuals
- Housing - Other Banks and
Commercial Loans Loans Total Governments Total
In NIS millions

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31, 2016 1,143 151 231 1,525 - 1,525
Credit loss expenses 65 11 181 257 1 258
Accounting write-offs (537) (5) (231) (773) = (773)
Collection of debts written-off in previous years 339 - 101 440 - 440
Net accounting write-offs (198) (5) (130) (333) = (333)
Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31,
2017 1,010 157 282 1,449 1 1,450
Credit loss expenses 115 20 165 300 - 300
Accounting write-offs (348) (13) (243) (604) = (604)
Collection of debts written-off in previous years 253 - 105 358 - 358
Net accounting write-offs (95) (13) (138) (246) - (246)
Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31,
2018 1,030 164 309 1,503 1 1,504
Credit loss expenses 176 23 124 323 - 323
Accounting write-offs (240) (7) (242) (489) = (489)
Collection of debts written-off in previous years 182 - 129 311 - 311
Net accounting write-offs (58) (7) (113) (178) = (178)
Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31,
2019 1,148 180 320 1,648 1 1,649
Of which: in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments
as at December 31, 2017 132 - 15 147 - 147
as at December 31, 2018 108 - 18 126 - 126
as at December 31, 2019 153 - 18 171 - 171
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14. Credit granted to Governments
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Consolidated The Bank
December 31 December 31
2019 2018 2019 2018
in NIS millions
Credit to Israel government 2,063 2,167 2,063 2,167
Credit to foreign governments 1,452 1,169 1,452 1,169
Total credit granted to Governments 3,515 3,336 3,515 3,336

15. Investment in Investee Companies and Details Regarding These Companies

A. Consolidated

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Affiliated Consolidated
companies subsidiaries

Affiliated Consolidated
Total companies subsidiaries Total

In NIS millions

Total Shares stated on equity basis!" 170 - 170 135 - 135
Other investments:

Shareholders’ loans 1 - 1 - - -
Total other investments 1 - 1 - - -
Total investments 171 - 171 135 - 135
Includes:

Earnings accumulated since January 1, 1992 42 - 42 69 - 69
Iltems accumulated in shareholders’ equity since January 1,

1992:

Adjustment for Employee benefits - - = (1) = (1)
Details Regarding Goodwvill:

Original amount - 305 305 - 301 301

Book value®? - 164 164 - 160 160

Footnotes:

(1) Includes earnings and translation adjustments in units having a functional currency that differs from the reporting currency (formerly defined as "autonomous

units") accumulated from the acquisition date up to December 31, 1991.

(2) Ba